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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
/X! ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(@F THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2012
OR

/ | TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 (i) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 001-13323

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 36-2495346
(State or other jurisdiction (I.LR.S. Employer
of incorporation or organization) Identifican Number)

251 O'Connor Ridge Blvd., Suite 300
Irving, Texas 75038
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zpde)

Registrant's telephone number, including area cd@.2) 717-0300

Securities registered pursuant to Section 1X(HeoAct:

Title of Each Class Name of Exchange on Which Reqistered
Common Stock $0.01 par value per share New ‘Btokk Exchange (“NYSE”)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢hef\ct: None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vkelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 40Be0Eecurities Act.
Yes _X No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuieeg to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. Yes_ No_ X
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant gb)filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti or 15(d) of the Securities Exchal

Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordiach shorter period that the Registrant was reduirdile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastiags. Yes X No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant hagnitted electronically and posted on its corpokdeb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted untsio Rule 405 of Regulation5¢8232.405 of this chapter) during the precediBgribnths (c
for such shorter period that the Registrant waaired to submit and post such files). YeX No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquélers pursuant to Iltem 405 of RegulatiorkKSs not contained herein, and will not
contained, to the best of the Registrakhowledge, in definitive proxy or information &ments incorporated by reference in Part Il &f &orr
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K, X
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Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantle&sge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maxcelerated filer, or a smaller repor
company. See the definitions of “large accelerfited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer X Accelerated filer Non-accelerated file Smaller reporting company
(Do not check if a smaller reporting
company)
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantskedl company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Brgje Act). Yes__  No_X_

As of the last day of the Registrant's most regettimpleted second fiscal quarter, the aggregatkanaalue of the shares of comn
stock held by nonaffiliates of the Registrant wppraximately $ 1,897,808,00fased upon the closing price of the common stodlepsrted o
the NYSE on that day. (In determining the markdueaof the Registrant’'s common stock held by affiliates, shares of common st
beneficially owned by directors, officers and hotdef more than 10% of the Registrantommon stock have been excluded. This deterion
of affiliate status is not necessarily a concluglegermination for other purposes.)

There were 117,788,355 shares of common stockl§@&0value, outstanding at February 20, 2013 .

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Selected designated portions of the Registranfigitiee Proxy Statement in connection with the Bégnt's 2013 Annual Meeting
stockholders are incorporated by reference into IRaf this Annual Report.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

Founded by the Swift meat packing interests andDiguding family in 1882, Darling International Inc. ("Darling”, and togethwith its
subsidiaries, the "Company") was incorporated itaf@are in 1962 under the name "Darling-Delaware gamy, Inc." On December 28, 1993
Darling changed its name from "Darlim@elaware Company, Inc.” to "Darling InternationatI' The address of Darling's principal exect
office is 251 O'Connor Ridge Boulevard, Suite 3®dng, Texas, 75038, and its telephone numbehiataddress is (972) 717-0300.

The Company is a leading provider of renderingdusmoking oil and bakery residual recycling ancbkexy solutions to the nation's fc
industry. The Company collects and recycles anibmwaproducts, bakery residual and used cooking oil frooultry and meat processc
commercial bakeries, grocery stores, butcher stamsfood service establishments and provides giteas cleaning services to many of the <
establishments. On December 17, 201Darling completed its acquisition of Griffin Insimies, Inc. (which was subsequently converted
limited liability company) and its subsidiaries (iffin") pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Mmrgdated as of November 9, 20(tfe
"Merger Agreement"), by and among Darling, DG Agition Corp., a whollyewned subsidiary of Darling ("Merger Sub"), Griffamd Robert #
Griffin, as the Griffin shareholders' represent@tierger Sub was merged with and into Griffire(tMerger"), and Griffin survived the Mer
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Darling (the "GnffTransaction”). The Company operates over @r2@essing and transfer facilities loce
throughout the United States to process raw mdddrito finished products such as protein (prinyanieat and bone meal ("MBM") and pou
meal ("PM")), hides, fats (primarily bleachable d¢grtallow ("BFT"), poultry grease ("PG") and yellogrease ("YG")) and bakery hproduct:
("BBP") as well as a range of branded and valdded products. The Company sells these prodoatestically and internationally, primarily
producers of animal feed, pet food, fertilizer,-hiels and other consumer and industrial ingredientluding oleazhemicals, soaps and leat
goods for use as ingredients in their product®ofurther processing.

Effective January 2, 2011as a result of the acquisition of Griffin, the@@any's business operations were reorganized wdontw
segments, Rendering and Bakery, in order to batign its business with the underlying markets andtomers that the Company serves
historical periods have been restated for the absubg the segment reporting structure. The Comgpdisgal 2012 and fiscal 20Husiness ar
operations include 52 weeks of contribution frora #ssets acquired in the Griffin Transaction aspayed to Aveeks of contribution from the
assets in fiscal 2010 . For the financial resuithe Company's business segments, see Note 26te§tb Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company’s net external sales from continuingrations by operating segment were as followsh@usands):

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2012 2011 2010
Continuing operations:
Rendering $ 1,406,06 82.€% $ 1,501,28 83.5% $ 714,68! 98.t%
Bakery 295, 36¢ 17.4 295,96 16.5 10,22¢ 1.4
Total $ 1,701,42 100.% $ 1,797,24 100.(% $ 724,90 100.(%
OPERATIONS
Rendering

The Company's largest business activity is renderirhe Company's rendering operations processaitiyproducts and used cook
oil into fats (primarily BFT, PG and YG), proteiprimarily MBM and PM (feed grade and pet food))damdes. The Company's rendel
operations also provide grease trap servicing tal feervice establishments in exchange for a calledee. The Company provides rende
services under its Dar Pro Solutions™ brand.

Raw materials

The Company's rendering operations collect two anntypes of protein by-products, (i) beef and poykproducts and (ii) poultry by-
products, which are collected primarily from mesad @oultry processors, grocery stores, butchershaogd food
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service establishments. These rendering maternialsalected in one of two manners. Certain laggpliers, such as large meat processor
poultry processors, are furnished with bulk trailer which the raw material is loaded. The Comparovides the remaining suppliers, prime
grocery stores and butcher shops, with containenghiich to deposit the raw material. The contanare picked up by or emptied into
Companys trucks on a periodic basis. The type and frequef service is determined by individual supplieguirements, the volume of r
material generated by the supplier, supplier locatind weather, among other factors. The raw nadderollected by the Company are transpc
either directly to a processing plant or to a tfanstation where materials from several collectiontes are loaded into trailers and transportes
processing plant. Collections of animal procesdigegproducts generally are made during the day, ancenaég are delivered to plants
processing within 24 hours of collection to defguikage.

The Company also collects used cooking oil and gra&ase from restaurants, food service establistsnagn grocery stores. Many of
Company's customers operate stores that are padtioinal chains. Used cooking oil from food seevéstablishments is placed in various ¢
and types of containers which are supplied by the@any. In some instances, these containers anaded directly onto the trucks, while in of
instances used cooking oil is pumped through a wachose into the truck. The Company sells two dypkcontainers for used cooking
collection to food service establishments calleda@btar® and BOSS, both of which are proprietalfycgmtained collection systems that
housed either inside or outside the establishmeitty, the used cooking oil pumped directly into eglion vehicles via an outside valve.
frequency of all forms of used cooking oil and tgapase raw material collection is determined lgywblume of oil generated by the food ser
establishment. The Company either transports treasg to waste treatment centers or recyclest# ftcilities into a host of environmentally s
product streams, including fuel and feed ingredieiihe Company provides its customers with a cohgrgive set of solutions to their trap gre
disposal needs, including manifests for regulatamypliance, computerized routing for consistenaicleg and comprehensive trap cleaning.

Certain of the Company's rendering facilities aghly dependent on one or a few suppliers. Dutirgg201ZXiscal year, the Compan
10 largest raw materials suppliers accounted fprapmately 25%of the total raw material processed by the Compaitly no single supplit
accounting for more than 5% . See "Risk factofssignificant percentage of the Company's reveruatiributable to a limited number
suppliers and customers." Should any of these mippthoose alternate methods of disposal, ceas®tarially decrease their operations, t
their operations interrupted by casualty or otheentease using or reduce the use of the Compaajlection services, the operating facili
serving those customers could be materially ancimaly affected. (See "Risk factaertain of the Company's operating facilities aighly
dependent upon a single or a few suppliers.") Ftiseussion of the Company’s competition for rawtenials, see "Competition."

Processing operations

The Company produces finished products primarikoulgh the grinding, cooking, separating, dryingd dlending of various ra
materials. The process starts with the collectbanimal by-products (including fat, bones, featheffal and other animal byroducts). Th
animal byproducts are ground and heated to extract watersapdrate oils and grease from animal tissue dsawedb sterilize and make 1
material suitable as an ingredient for animal fe€tle separated oils, tallows, and greases are dbetiifuged and/or refined for purity. 1
remaining solid product is pressed to remove auldhiti oils to create meals. The meal is then sifteaugh screens and ground further if nece:
to produce an appropriately sized protein meal.

The primary finished products derived from the gssing of animal bproducts are tallow, PG, MBM, PM, feather meal, &habc
meal. In addition, at certain of its facilitietiet Company is able to operate multiple processs Isimultaneously, which provides it with
flexibility and capacity to manufacture a line sEmium and valuedded products in addition to its principal finidi@roducts. Because of th
processing controls, the Company is able to blergroducts together in order to produce premiuadypets with specific mixes that typice
have higher protein and energy content and lowestome than standard finished products and comrpagghium prices.

The Companys hides and skins operations process hides and $fladm hog and beef processors into outputs usecbinmercie
applications such as the leather industry. The fizom sells treated hides and skins to externabmests, the majority of which are tanneries.

The Companys fertilizer operations utilize finished productsrh the rendering division to manufacture fertite&om USDA approve
ingredients that contain no waste by-products, (sleidge or sewage waste). The Company’s primentjlifer product line is Nature Safe@r
organic, protein-based fertilizer, which is proddi@ its blending plant in Henderson, KY. The Comps fertilizer products are predominat
sold to golf courses, sports facilities, organicrfa and landscaping companies.
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Used cooking oil, which is recovered from restatsais heated, settled, and purified for use asr@mal feed additive or is furtt
processed into biodiesel. Products derived frond us®king oil include YG, biodiesel, and Fat forel®, which uses grease as a fuel sourc
industrial boilers and dryers.

Bakery feed

The Company is a leading processor of bakery rafdin the U.S. The bakery feed division collelotkery residual materials &
processes the raw materials into BBP, includingkBoMeal®, an animal feed ingredient primarily usegoultry rations.

Raw materials

Bakery products are collected from large commerbédteries that produce a variety of products, iicly cookies, crackers, cere
bread, dough, potato chips, pretzels, sweet good$sscuits, among others. The Company colle@setmaterials by bulk loading onsite at
bakeries utilizing proprietary equipment, the miyoof which is designed, engineered, manufactueetd] installed by the Company. All of
bakery residual that the Company collects is bodided, which represents a significant advantage avapetitors that receive a large percer
of raw materials from less efficient, manual methodhe receipt of bulleaded bakery residual allows the Company to sicamitly streamline it
bakery recycling process, reduce personnel, eli@inasignificant source of wastewater and maxirfigight savings by hauling more tons
load.

Processing operations

The highly automated bakery feed production proaeasives sorting and separating raw material, ngxit to produce the appropri
nutritional content, drying it to reduce excess stwie, and grinding it to the consistency of anifiesld. During the bakery residual proc
packaging materials are removed. The packagingnmahis fed into a combustion chamber, along wilvdust and heat is produced. This he
used in the dryers to remove moisture from the maaterials that have been partially ground. Finale dried meal is ground to the speci
granularity. The finished product, which is contily tested to ensure that the caloric and nutri@mtents meet specifications, is a nutrit
additive used in animal feed.

Renewable fuels / Biodiesel

In addition to the rendering and bakery segmemtslamuary 21, 2011 , a whollwned subsidiary of the Company entered into atdic
liability company agreement (the "JV Agreement"thwa wholly-owned subsidiary of Valero Energy Corporation (‘&fal’) to form Diamon
Green Diesel Holdings LLC (the "Joint Venture")heT Joint Venture is owned 50% / 50#ith Valero and was formed to design, engir
construct and operate a renewable diesel plant'fheility”) capable of producing approximately @03barrels per day of renewable diesel
certain other co-products, to be located adjaceMalero’s refinery in Norco, Louisiana. The Joint Ventigén the process of constructing
Facility, which is substantially complete with thikeased commissioning of the Facility currently eipated to be complete in second quarter 2
The Facility is expected to convert grease, prilparsed cooking oil and animal fats supplied by @@mpany, and potentially other feed stc
that become economically and commercially viablechsas inedible corn oil, into renewable diesdbe TFacility will use an advanc
hydroprocessingsomerization process licensed from UOP LLC, knagrthe Ecofining™ Process, and a pretreatment gsadeveloped by t
Desmet Ballestra Group designed to convert apprataly 1.1 billionpounds per year of recycled animal fats, recycleoking oils and othi
feedstocks into renewable diesel product and cedtiier co-products.

In addition, the Company utilizes a portion of ieshdered animal fats and recycled greases to peoBicc G3000TM Premium Dies
Fuel. The Company's biodiesel operations utilee material inputs sourced from its rendering ofi@na as well as several third party addit
in order to produce Bio G-3000TM. The Company ttesannual capacity to produce two million gall@isBio G-3000TM. The Company
biodiesel product is sold to its internal divisicass well as domestic commercial biodiesel produteetse used as biodiesel fuel, a clean bui
additive for diesel fuel or as a biodegradable eaf\or cleaning agent. Bio G-3000TM is currentiggessed at the Compasyfacility in Butler
Kentucky.

Raw materials pricing and supply contracts

The Company has two primary pricing arrangementssfite and non-formula arrangements4th its suppliers of poultry, beef, po
bakery residuals and used cooking oil. Under aritda" arrangement, the charge or credit for raviemias is tied to published finished proc
commodity prices after deducting a fixed procesdegy The Company also acquires raw material uhenformula" arrangements where
suppliers are either paid a fixed price, are nod,par are charged a collection fee, depending anous economic and competit
factors. Approximately 80% of the Company's anmadlime of raw materials is acquired on a "formasis.
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The credit received or amount charged for raw nmedtender both formula and ndofmula arrangements is based on various fai
including the type of raw materials, demand forridne materials, the expected value of the finishexiuct to be produced, the anticipated yi
the volume of material generated by the suppligr@ocessing and transportation costs.

Formula prices are generally adjusted on a weakbnthly or quarterly basis while ndarmula prices or charges are adjusted as n¢
to respond to changes in finished product priceglated operating costs.

Finished products

The Company's finished products are predominantgems (primarily MBM and PM), fats (primarily BETPG and YG), BBP ai
hides. MBM, PM and BBP are used primarily as hpgbtein additives in animal feed and pet food.sFat used as ingredients in the produ
of animal feed, pet food, soaps and as a subsfiutieaditional fuels. Ole@hemical producers use these fats as feed stogk®@diice special
ingredients used in paint, rubber, paper, concrgsestics and a variety of other consumer and im@dlgproducts. Hides are sold to lea
distributors and manufacturers for the productibfeather goods. The Company's principal finispeaducts are commaodities that compete
other commodities such as corn, soybean oil, inedibrn oil, palm oils, soybean meal and heatingoinutritional and functional values ¢
therefore actual pricing for the Company's finisipedducts, as well as competing products, can lite golatile. While the Company's finisk
products are generally sold at prices prevailinghattime of sale, the Company's ability to delilamge quantities of finished products fr
multiple locations and to coordinate sales froneati@l location enables the Company to occasiomatigive a premium over the thprevailing
market price.

Finished products
The Company's finished products include the foltayvi
Protein Meals

The Company's meal products include MBM, PM, featheal and blood meal. All of the Company's meabpcts are proteirich anc
contain essential minerals and amino acids, whielctatically important components of animal fe@édBM, blood meal, PM and feather meal
sold to feed manufacturers while higher grade ppulteal is also sold to pet food manufacturersm&of the Companyg’ meals are also usec
ingredients in its fertilizer operations.
Animal Fats

The Company produces a range of animal fats fremeibdering operations. Animal fats are an adalitivlivestock and pet foods tl
contains essential fatty acids and energy and eeisathe taste of the foods. Animal fats are alsquiently sold to soap and beauty proc
manufacturers as well as industrial manufacturépamt, rubber, paper, concrete, plastics andratbesumer products. The vast majority of
animal fat that the Company produces is used ascddditive.
Grease

The Company produces several different types adiggéncluding YG and brown grease. Grease, sirdlanimal fats, is an essen
ingredient in livestock and pet foods due to itsyfacid composition and high energy content. Bués nutritional content, the majority of 1
Company's YG is sold to meat and poultry produeens use the grease as a feed additive. In addifome of the grease produced by
Company's rendering operations is burned as F&ifel® or used to manufacture biodiesel.
Hides and skins

The Company processes cattle hides and hog skinsifs own operations and other animal processnijities. The hides and skins
trimmed and cured in a brine solution that prepérem for tanneries. Tanneries sell the tanneedshéahd skins primarily to leather companies
use the products in a variety of consumer goodsdimg apparel and vehicle interiors.
Premium, value-added and branded products

The Company's premium, valaelded and branded products command significanglydnipricing relative to its principal finished piect

lines due to their enhanced nutritional contenticivlis a function of the Company's proprietary gssing techniques.
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MARKETING, SALES AND DISTRIBUTION OF FINISHED PRODU CTS

The Company sells its finished products worldwiinished product sales are primarily managed tjtioiine Company's commaoc
trading departments, which are located at Darliegiporate headquarters in Irving, Texas and irdCGpring, Kentucky. The Company &
maintains sales offices in Des Moines, lowa, Newe@nrs, Louisiana, and Memphis, Tennessee for the aad distribution of select
products. This sales force is in contact with codrs daily and coordinates the sale and assidiseiristribution of most finished produ
produced at the Company's processing plants. Tdmep@ny sells its finished products internationaliyough commodities brokers, Comp
agents and directly to customers in various coesitiThe Company markets certain of its finishedipeo under its Dar Pro Solutions™ brand.

The Company sells its finished products primardyptoducers of livestock feed, oleo-chemicals, forls, soaps, pet foods and lea
goods for use as ingredients in their productoofurther processing. The Company's finished petslare commaodities that compete with ¢
commodities such as corn, soybean oil, inedible cdr palm oils, soybean meal and heating oil atritional and functional values and there
the actual pricing for the Company's finished priduas well a competing products, can be quitatiel Customers for the Company's prem
value-added and branded products include feed millsfquet manufacturers, integrated poultry producers, dairy industry and golf cours
among others. Feed mills purchase meals, gretdlesys, and Cookie Meal® for use as feed ingrediei®leoehemical producers use fats
feed stocks to produce specialty ingredients usgqmhint, rubber, paper, concrete, plastics andiatyaof other consumer and industrial prodt
Pet food manufacturers require stringent feed pafettifications and consistently demand premiunditaces that are high in protein &
nutritional content. As a result, pet food mantdeers typically purchase only premium or vahgded products. The Company typically er
into long-term supply contracts with pet food matfirers.

The Company has no material foreign operationsekports a portion of its products to customergarious foreign countries or regic
including Asia, the European Union, Latin Ameritize Pacific Rim, North Africa, Mexico and South Amoea. Total direct export sales wer
216.2 million , $ 270.9 million and $ 71.0 milliofor the years ended December 29, 2012 , Decembhe2@ll and January 1, 2011
respectively. The Company also sells to thirdiparthat export to various foreign countries. Téneel of export sales varies from year to
depending on the relative strength of domesticugefereign markets. The Company obtains paymesteption for most of its foreign sales
requiring payment before shipment or by requiriagloletters of credit or guarantees of payment fth®. government agencies. The Comj
ordinarily is paid for its products in U.S. dollaaed has not experienced any material currencyglation losses or any material foreign exch:i
control difficulties. See Note 20 of Notes to Colidated Financial Statements for a breakdown ef@ompanys sales by domestic and fore
customers.

Following diagnosis of the first U.S. case of bavspongiform encephalopathy ("BSE") on December2@83, many countries bant
imports of U.S produced beef and beef products, including MBM miteally BFT, though this initial ban on tallow waelaxed to permit impol
of U.S.produced tallow with less than 0.15% impuritiesos¥iforeign markets that were closed to U.S. bekdwing the discovery of the fir
U.S. case of BSE have been reopened to U.S b#iebugh some countries only accept boneless bebéefl from cattle less than 30 month
age. Even though the export markets for U.S. E@funded to exceed pBSE levels and set records for volume in 2011 addevin 2012, mo
export markets remain closed to MBM derived frons Lbeef.

The Company's management monitors market conditimasprices for its finished products on a dailgiba If market conditions
prices were to significantly change, the Compamny&agement would evaluate and implement any meashbat it may deem necessan
respond to the change in market conditions. Fgelaformulabased pricing suppliers, the indexing of finishedduoict price to raw material c
effectively fixes the gross margin on finished prodsales at a stable level, providing some prmte¢d the Company from price declines.

Finished products produced by the Company are sHippimarily FOB plant by truck or rail from the @pany's plants shortly followit
production. While there are some temporary inwgné@cumulations at various port locations for exgbipments, inventories rarely exceed t
weeks’ production and, therefore, the Company uses limitedking capital to carry inventories and reducissexposure to fluctuations
commodity prices. Other factors that influence petition, markets and the prices that the Compangives for its finished products include
quality of the Company's finished products, consuhsalth consciousness, worldwide credit conditiand government aid. From time to til
the Company enters into arrangements with its seqspbf raw materials pursuant to which these sapplbuy back the Comparsyfinishec
products.

The Company operates a fleet of trucks, trailetsraiicars to transport raw materials from suppliend finished product to customers

also utilizes third party freight to cost-effectiy@ransfer materials and augment its in-housestig fleet. Within the Compars/’bakery fee
division, substantially all inbound and outboureidht is handled by third party logistics companies
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COMPETITION

Management of the Company believes that the ma@dtectying aspect of the business is the procurewfersw materials rather than
sale of finished products. Pronounced consolidatiithin the meat processing industry has resuitedigger and more efficient slaughter
operations, the majority of which utilize "captivefenderers (rendering operations integrated witle tmeat or poultry packil
operation). Simultaneously, the number of smalhtrrocessors, which have historically been a ddgdde source of supply for naaptive
renderers, such as the Company, has decreaseficsigtty. The slaughter rates in the meat procgssidustry are subject to decline du
economic conditions, and, as a result, during gectods of decline, the availability, quantity agdality of raw materials available to
independent renderers decreases. These factasbkan offset, in part, however, by increasing mmental consciousness. The need for
service establishments to comply with environmergglulations concerning the proper disposal of ussthurant cooking oil should continut
provide a growth area for this raw material sour€he rendering industry is highly fragmented aedyvcompetitive. The Company compt
with other rendering, restaurant services and lyate=idual businesses, and alternative methodspbsial of animal processing lpyeducts an
used restaurant cooking oil provided by trash haulgaste management companies anddi@sel companies, as well as the alternative egé
disposal. In addition, food service establishméatge increasingly experienced theft of used capkih A number of the Company's competi
for the procurement of raw material are experieneegll-capitalized companies that have significant opegatixperience and historic supp
relationships. Competition for raw materials isd@h primarily on price and proximity to the supplie

In marketing its finished products domestically anternationally, the Company faces competitionnfrother processors and fr
producers of other suitable commodities. Tallows greases are, in certain instances, substitatesf/bean oil, inedible corn oil and palm «
while MBM and PM are a substitute for soybean m&akery feed is a substitute for corn in animaldie Consequently, the prices of BFT,
YG, MBM, PM and BBP correlate with these substitatenmodities. The markets for finished products iarpacted mainly by the worldwi
supply of and demand for fats, oils, proteins araing.

SEASONALITY

Although the amount of raw materials made availébldhe Company by its suppliers is relatively Bain a weekly basis, it is impac
by seasonal factors, including holidays, duringalihthe availability of raw materials declines bessamajor meat and poultry processors ar
operating, and cold weather, which can hinder tilection of raw materials. The amount of bakergiduals the Company will process gene
increases on a seasonal basis during the sumnmarJuoe to September. Warm weather can also adivexffect the quality of raw materi
processed and the Compasyyields on production because raw material detges more rapidly in warm weather than in cc
weather. Weather can vary significantly from oearyto the next and may impact the comparabilitgprating results of the Company betw
periods.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The Company maintains valuable trademarks, semiaeks, copyrights, trade names, trade secretsriptafy technologies and simi
intellectual property, and considers its intellettproperty to be of material value. The Compang hegistered or applied for registratiot
certain of its intellectual property, including ticolor triangle used in the Compasysignage and logos and the names "Darling," "@
Industries," "Dar Pro Solutions," "Dar Pro," "NauiSafe," "CleanStar" and "Cookie Meal" and certpatents, both domestically &
internationally, relating to the process for prépgunutritional supplements and the drying and essing of raw materials. The Companpblicy
generally is to pursue intellectual property pratecconsidered necessary or advisable.

EMPLOYEES AND LABOR RELATIONS

As of December 29, 2012 , the Company employedoequipately 3,400 persons full-time. While the Compdas no national or multi-
plant union contracts, approximately 25$fothe Company's employees are covered by multipliective bargaining agreements. Managel
believes that the Company's relations with its ey@bs and their representatives are good. Therebeano assurance, however, that
agreements will be reached without union actiowitirbe on terms satisfactory to the Company.
REGULATIONS

The Company is subject to the rules and regulatwhsarious federal, state and local governmenggnaies. Material rules a

regulations and the applicable agencies include:
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» The Food and Drug AdministratigfiFDA"), which regulates food and feed safety. deffve August 1997, the FDA promulgated a
prohibiting the use of mammalian proteins, with sagceptions, in feeds for cattle, sheep and othminant animals (21 CFR 589.20
referred to herein as the "BSE Feed Rule") to preftether spread of BSE, commonly referred toraad cow disease." With respec
BSE in the U.S., on October 26, 2009, the FDA begafiorcing new regulations intended to further eedthe risk of spreading B!
("Enhanced BSE Rule"). These new regulations ireludmending the BSE Feed Rule to prohibit the digallow having more the
0.15% insoluble impurities in feed for cattle ohet ruminant animals. In addition, the FDA implertgehrules that prohibit the use
brain and spinal cord material from cattle agech®fhths and older or the carcasses of such cdttliee ibrain and spinal cord are
removed, in the feed or food for all animals. Campmanagement believes the Company is in com@iarith the provisions of the
rules.

See Item 1A "Risk Factors — The Companpusiness may be affected by the impact of BSEadinelr food safety issues,” for m
information regarding certain FDA rules that afféet Company's business, including changes to 8te Beed Rule.

 TheUnited States Department of Agricultuf8JSDA™), which regulates collection and productiorethods. Within the USDA, tv
agencies exercise direct regulatory oversight @f@bmpany's activities:

— Animal and Plant Health Inspection Serv{t&PHIS"), as the competent authority on animalltheim the U.S., certifie
facilities and claims made for exported materiald astablishes and enforces import requirementéivieranimals an
animal products, and

— Food Safety Inspection Servi¢ESIS") regulates sanitation and food safety progs.

On December 30, 2003, the Secretary of Agricultumeounced new beef slaughter/meat processing temddo assure consumers of
safety of the meat supply. These regulations pibhonambulatory animals from entering the food chaiguiee removal of specifie
risk materials at slaughter and prohibit carcadsma cattle tested for BSE from entering the fodwhin until the animals are sho
negative for BSE.

On November 19, 2007, APHIS implemented revisedimpegulations that allowed Canadian cattle owem®nths of age and born a
March 1, 1999 and bovine products derived from stattle to be imported into the U.S. for any usepdrts of Canadian cattle youn
than 30 months of age have been allowed since M2065. Imports of SRM from Canadian born cattleigldered in Canada are
permitted. On March 16, 2012, APHIS proposed anmenathport regulations for all countries to estabkssystem for classifying regic
as to BSE risk that is consistent with internatlastandards set by the World Organization for Aditdaalth and to base importat
requirements for cattle and beef products on:H&)inherent risk of BSE infectivity in the commadio be imported and (2) the BSE |
status of the region from which the commodity ar@des. This proposed rule had not been finalizeaf #s date of this report.

« TheU.S. Environmental Protection Agent¥EPA"), which regulates air and water dischargguneements, as well as local and <
agencies governing air and water discharge.

» State Departments of Agriculturevhich regulate animal bgroduct collection and transportation proceduresamimal feed qualit

» TheUnited States Department of Transportatiph)lSDOT"), as well as local and state agenciesctvhiegulate the operation of
Company's commercial vehicles.

* Occupational Safety and Health Administration, riregn federal agency charged with the enforcemesafsty and health legislatic

* The Securities and Exchange Commiss{t8EC"), which regulates securities and informatiequired in annual and quarterly rep
filed by publicly traded companies.

These material rules and regulations and othersraled regulations promulgated by other agencies imfyence the Company’
operating results at one or more facilities.
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Gomps required to file annual, quarterly and sple@ports, proxy statements i
other information with the SEC, which can be read/ar copies made at the SEC's Public ReferencenRatd. 00 F Street N.E., Washington [
20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SB30 for further information about the Public Refezte Room. The SEC maintains a web si
http://www.sec.govthat contains reports, proxy and information statets, and other information regarding issuersfiteaelectronically with th
SEC. The Company files electronically with the SEC

The Company makes available, free of charge, thratgyinvestor relations web site, its reports anis 10-K, 10-Q and &; anc
amendments to those reports, as soon as reas@rabticable after they are filexdth, or furnished to, the SEC pursuant to Sectida) or 15(c
of the Exchange Act.

The Company's website is http://www.darlingii.coeind the address for the Company's investor rekatioveb site i
http://www.darlingii.com/investors.aspx

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Any investment in the Company will be subjectsksrinherent to the Company's business. Beforénak investment decision in
Company, you should carefully consider the spedsics described below together with all of theestimformation included in or incorporated
reference into this report. Each of the risks dibsd below could adversely and materially afféet Company's business, financial condition
operating results. The risks and uncertainties the Company has daesdriare not the only ones facing the Company. tisdail risks an
uncertainties not presently known to the Companthose the Company currently deems immaterial nigxy affect business or operations of
Company. If any of the events described in tHeviahg risk factors actually occurs, the Companysiness, financial condition, prospect:
results of operations could be materially and adedy affected. If any of these events occurstréiting price of the Company's securities ct
decline and you may lose all or part of your inwesht. The risks discussed below also include formaaking statements and the Compa
actual results may differ substantially from tholigcussed in these forward-looking statements. "Sa@vard-Looking Statements” in this filing.

The prices of the Company's products are subject tsignificant volatility associated with commoditiesnarkets.

The Company's finished products are, with certaiceptions, commodities, the prices of which aretgdiamn, or derived from pric
quoted on, established commodity markets. Accgidirthe Company's results of operations will bfeetbd by fluctuations in the prevaili
market prices of these finished products or of otbe@mmodities that may be substituted for the Camgsaproducts by the Compar
customers. Historically, market prices for comntpdirains and food stocks have fluctuated in respdn a number of factors, including char
in U.S. government farm support programs or enealicies, changes in international agriculturatling policies, impact of disease outbreak
protein sources and the potential effect on supply demand as well as weather conditions duringtbeing and harvesting seasons. While
Company seeks to mitigate the risk associated prite declines, including through the use of foranpticing tied to commodity prices fo
substantial portion of the Company's raw mate@ad hedging, a significant decrease in the mankeé pf the Company's products or of o
commodities that may be substituted for the Comisaproducts would have a material adverse effeecherCompany's results of operations
cash flow.

In addition, increases in the market prices of naaterials would require the Company to seek ineeaglling prices for the Compar
premium, valueadded and branded products to avoid margin de#eioor. There can be no assurance as to wheth€radimpany could impleme
future selling price increases in response to as®e in the market prices of raw materials or hoyvsaich price increases would affect future ¢
volumes to the Company's customers. The Compesstits of operations would be adversely affeatetthé future by this volatility.

The Company's business is dependent on the procuremt of raw materials, which is the most competitiveaspect of the Company busines

Management believes that the most competitive asgebe Company's business is the procuremerawfmaterials rather than the ¢
of finished products. Pronounced consolidatiorhinithe meat packing industry has resulted in higgel more efficient slaughtering operatit
the majority of which utilize "captive" rendererSimultaneously, the number of small meat procassahnich have historically been a depend
source of supply for nopaptive renderers, such as the Company, has dedrsamificantly. The slaughter rates in the ngratessing indust
are subject to decline due to economic conditiamg] as a result, during such periods of decline,atmailability, quantity and quality of r
materials available to the independent
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renderers decreases. In addition, the Companyséas an increase in the use of restaurant greage iproduction of biodiesel, which |
increased competition for the collection of usedkiog oil and contributed to an increase in the@iency and magnitude of theft of used coo
oil. Furthermore, the general performance of th®.léconomy, declining U.S. consumer confidencethadnability of consumers and compal
to obtain credit due to the current lack of liqtydin the financial markets has had a negative chpa the Company's raw material volume,
as through the forced closure of certain of the Gamy’s raw material suppliers. A significant decreasavailable raw materials or a closure
raw material supplier could materially and adversdfect the Company's business and results ofabipers, including the carrying value of
Company's assets.

The rendering industry is highly fragmented anchhibe rendering and bakery residual industriesvarg competitive. The Compa
competes with other rendering businesses and atieermethods of disposal of animal pseducts, bakery residual processing and used g
oil provided by trash haulers, waste managementpenies and biodiesel companies, as well as thenatiee of illegal disposal. See lIterr
"Competition." In addition, restaurants experiettoeft of used cooking oil, the frequency and magitet of which has increased with the ris
value of used cooking oil. Depending on marketditions, the Company either charges a collectienteoffset a portion of the cost incurre:
collecting raw material or will pay for the raw redgtl. To the extent suppliers of raw materiatsklto alternate methods of disposal, whether
result of the Company's collection fees being debto® expensive or otherwise, the Company's rawerahtsupply will decrease and
Company’s collection fee revenues will decreaseciwbould materially and adversely affect the Conmysmbusiness and results of operations.

A majority of Darling's volume of rendering raw regaals, including all of its significant poultry @aunts, and substantially all of
bakery feed raw materials are acquired on a "foanbalsis," which in most cases is set forth in @mtérwith the Company's suppliers, gene
with multi-year terms. These "formulas” allow the Companyntmage the risk associated with decreases in coityrites by adjusting tt
Company's costs of materials based on changesiprtbe of the Company's finished products, whit® germitting the Company, in cert
cases, to benefit from increases in commaodity pricehe formulas provided in these contracts arewed and modified both during the term
and in connection with the renewal of, the congdotmaintain an acceptable level of sharing betvtbe Company and the Company's supf
of the costs and benefits from movements in comtpqatices. Changes to these formulas or the iitghid renew such contracts could hay
material adverse effect on the Company's busimesslts of operations and financial condition.

The Company is highly dependent on natural gas andiesel fuel.

The Company's operations are highly dependent@nisk of natural gas and diesel fuel. The Compangumes significant volumes
natural gas to operate boilers in the Companystglavhich generate steam to heat raw materiaturbliagas prices represent a significant co
facility operations included in cost of sales. T@empany also consumes significant volumes of tiiiess to operate the Comparsyfleet o
tractors and trucks used to collect raw mateiiziesel fuel prices represent a significant compowérost of collection expenses included in
of sales. Prices for both natural gas and diasel ¢an be volatile and therefore represent an inggchallenge to the Company's operz
results. Although the Company continually manatifesse costs and hedges the Company's exposureatgeshin fuel prices through
Company's formula pricing and derivatives, a matéricrease in energy prices for natural gas andi&sel fuel over sustained period of tin
could materially adversely affect the Company'srmss, financial condition and results of operation

A significant percentage of the Company's revenuss iattributable to a limited number of suppliers andcustomers.

In fiscal 2012 , Darling's top ten customers foighed products accounted for approximately 28%roduct sales. In addition, its -
ten raw material suppliers accounted for approxahga®5% of its raw material supply in the same period. i8rgption to, termination of,
modifications to the Company's relationships witly af the Company's significant suppliers or custsrcould cause the Company's busint
to suffer significant financial losses and coulddna material adverse impact on the Company's bssjrearnings, financial condition and/or «
flows.

Certain of the Company's operating facilities are fghly dependent upon a single or a few suppliers.
Certain of the Company's rendering facilities aighly dependent on one or a few suppliers. Shaulg of these suppliers cho
alternate methods of disposal, cease their opemtibave their operations interrupted by casualtytberwise cease using the Company’

collection services, these operating facilities rhaymaterially and adversely affected, which coubtterially and adversely affect the Company’
business, earnings, financial condition and/or ¢lsts.
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The renewable diesel joint venture with Valero willsubject the Company to a number of risks.

The Company announced on January 21, 2011 thabdywdwned subsidiary of Darling entered into thé Agreement with a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Valero to form the Joint VeptuiThe Joint Venture is owned 50% / 5@#th Valero and was formed to design, engir
construct and operate the Facility, which will tepable of producing approximately 9,3b68rrels per day of renewable diesel fuel and at
other co-products, to be located adjacent to Vaderefinery in Norco, Louisiana. The Joint Ventigen the process of constructing the Fac
under an engineering, procurement and construationract ("EPC Contract") that is intended to fire tJoint Venture's maximum econo
exposure for the cost of the Facility, without ety project scope changes. Construction of #liy is substantially complete with the pha
commissioning of the Facility currently anticipatedbe complete in second quarter 2013.

On May 31, 2011 , the Joint Venture and Diamonde@miesel LLC, a whollyawned subsidiary of the Joint Venture ("Opco"),eeat
into (i) a facility agreement (the "Facility Agreemt") with Diamond Alternative Energy, LLC, a whglbwned subsidiary of Valero (t
"Lender"), and (ii) a loan agreement (the "Loan égmnent") with the Lender, which will provide thentd/enture with a 14ear multiple advant
term loan facility of approximately $ 221,300,0@0e "JV Loan") to support the design, engineeand construction of the Facility, which is n
in the final stages of construction. The Facilitgréement and the Loan Agreement prohibit the Leffrd@n assigning all or any portion of 1
Facility Agreement or the Loan Agreement to unifdd third parties. Opco has also pledged subalignall of its assets to the Lender, and
Joint Venture has pledged all of Opco's equityraggts to the Lender, until the JV Loan has beed peafull and the JV Loan has terminates
accordance with its terms.

Pursuant to sponsor support agreements executedninection with the Facility Agreement and the Losgreement, each of t
Company and Valero are committed to contributingrepimately $ 93.2 million of the estimated aggitegeosts of approximately407.7 millior
for the completion of the Facility. The Companyaiso required to pay for 50% any cost overruns incurred in connection with tonstructio
of the Facility, including relating to any projestope changes and working capital funding. As efdate of this report, it is anticipated that
project will incur an additional $ 17.3 million tosts related to project scope changes, of whietCibmpany will be responsible for 5Q%As of
December 29, 2012 under the equity method of adowyrthe Company has an investment in the Joimtie of approximately $2.5 millior
included on the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company is aware that a third party patentdrdiés filed patent infringement claims againstapcer of renewable diesel fuel
its owners. The producer is unrelated to the Compidne Joint Venture or, to our knowledge, Valérbhe Company has not, and to its knowle
neither the Joint Venture or Valero has, receiveg @mmunication from such patent holder regardimgjlar claims against the Joint Ventt
The Joint Venture has licensed a process from UD®, la subsidiary of Honeywell International Indat it will utilize in producing renewak
diesel fuel. The Company believes that the Joinit\e's process differs from the process thatdsstibject of the infringement suit. Accordin
any patent infringement claim that might be asskeirtiethe future against either the Company or thietVenture would be vigorously oppos
However if any patent holder successfully challehtiee patents under which the Joint Venture opgralhe Joint Venture could incur increa
expenses or the need to modify its operation wbahd negatively impact the Joint Venture's resoftsperations.

While construction of the facility is substantiablpmplete, there is no guarantee that unforesegiesswill not arise in connection w
the startup of the Facility, and any unexpectechiB@ant scope changes to the project related theteuld require investment of additio
significant financial resources by the Company Whicay require the Company to obtain additionalrfoiag. Further, while the two princif
technologies to be licensed for the Joint Ventuesestablished technologies, their use togeth#reérmanner currently contemplated for the .
Venture is innovative and has not been previousipleyed. Accordingly, if the Facility is completetiere is no guarantee that the Joint Ver
will be profitable or allow the Company to make eturn on the Company’investment, and the Company may lose the Corrgpamtire
investment.

The Joint Venture is dependent on governmentalggneolicies and programs, such as the National Rebhke Fuel Standard Progr
("RFS2"), which positively impact the demand fodarice of renewable diesel. Any changes to, laraito enforce or a discontinuation of an
these programs could have a material adverse affettie Joint Venture. See "Risk FactoiBhe Company's business may be affected by e
policies of U.S. and foreign governments." Sinylathe Joint Venture is subject to the risk thatwor changing technologies may be devel
that could meet demand for renewable diesel undeergmental mandates in a more efficient or lestlgananner than the technologies tc
used by the Joint Venture, which could negativéigci the price of renewable diesel and have a n@i@dverse affect on the Joint Venture.

In addition, the commencement and operation ofirg jenture such as this involve a number of riflet could harm the Compaiy’
business and result in the Joint Venture not perifog as expected, such as:
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» problems integrating or developing operations, gramgl, technologies or produc

» the breakdown or failure of equipment or proce:

» the failure of the end product to perform as aptited

» unforeseen engineering and environmental is

» the inaccuracy of the Company's assumptions abeutrning and amount of anticipated costs and ress
« the diversion of management time and resou

» obtaining permits and other regulatory issuesnbeerevocation and changes in legal requirerr
* insufficient experience with the technologies arathkets involvec

« difficulties in establishing relationships with gliers and end user custom:

e unanticipated cost overrui

» risks commonly associated with the stgstof "greenfield" project

» performance below expected levels of output ocigfficy

» reliance on Valero and its adjacent refinery facifior many services and proces:

» subsequent impairment of the acquired assets dimglintangible asse

» possible third party claims of intellectual progertfringement; an
* being bought out and not realizing the benefitdefJoint Ventur:

If any of these risks described above were to risdime and the operations of the Joint Venture wagaificantly disrupted, this cot
have a material adverse effect on the Companyladsss financial condition and results of operaion

The Company's business may be affected by energydatrade policies of U.S. and foreign governments.

Pursuant to the requirements established by thegrnedependence and Security Act of 2007 on Felr8a2010, the EPA finalize
regulations for RFS2. The regulation mandatedditvaestic use of biomass-based diesel (biodiessrmwable diesel) of 1.0 billiogallons ir
2012 . Beyond 2012 the regulation requires a minmnof 1.0 billion gallons of biomass-based dieseldach year through 2022vhich amount |
subject to increase by the EPA Administrator. @pt8mber 14, 2012 , the EPA issued a final rulabdishing the biomadsased diesel volun
for calendar year 2013 to be 1.28 billion gallosféective on November 26, 2012This requirement is unchanged from the voluma propose
rule issued by the EPA on June 20, 2011 . Biomase diesel also qualifies to fulfill the non-sfiedi portion of the advanced bfael
requirement. In order to qualify as a "renewable'feach type of fuel from each type of feed stisclequired to lower greenhouse gas emis:
("GHG") by levels specified in the regulation. TEPA has determined that bioels (either biodiesel or renewable diesel) predufrom wast
oils, fats and greases result in an 86% reductioBHG emissions, exceeding the 508¢uirement established by the regulation. Prioeshe
Company's finished products may be impacted bydwide government policies relating to renewabldsfaend GHG. Programs like RFS2
tax credits for biduels both in the U.S. and abroad may positivelpast the demand for the Company's finished produstsordingly, change
to, a failure to enforce or discontinuing any afdh programs could have a negative impact on th&p@oy's business and results of operations.

The Company's exports are subject to the imposiibtariffs, quotas, trade barriers and other tradgtection measures imposed
foreign countries regarding the import of the CompstMBM, BFT and YG. General economic and politicanditions as well as the closing
borders by foreign countries to the import of them@any's products due to animal disease or othreeped health or safety issues impact
Company. As a result trade policies of both U.S fordign countries could have a negative impactten Company's business and resul
operations.

The Company may incur material costs and liabilities in complying with government regulations.

The Company is subject to the rules and regulatiéwarious federal, state and local governmergehaies. Material rules and
regulations and the applicable agencies include:
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e The FDA, which regulates food and feed sa
* The USDA, including its agencies APHIS and FSISicivltegulates collection and production meth

* The EPA, which regulates air and water dischargpiirements, as well as local and state agencieghwmonitor air and wat
discharges;

» State Departments of Agriculture, which regukatémal byproduct collection and transportation proceduresamnmal feed qualit
« The USDOT, as well as local and state transfiortagencies, which regulate the operation of@Gbmpanys commercial vehicle

* The Occupational Safety and Health Administratiehich is the main federal agency charged with thfereement of safety and he:
legislation; and

» The SEC, which regulates securities and informatguired in annual and quarterly reports filedolylicly traded companie

The applicable rules and regulations promulgatedh®se agencies may influence the Company's opgragisults at one or mc
facilities. Furthermore, the loss of or failuredbtain necessary federal, state or local permmitsragistrations at one or more of the Compi
facilities could halt or curtail operations at ingped facilities, which could result in impairmertiacges related to the affected facility
otherwise adversely affect the Company's operatasglts. The Company's failure to comply with &gile rules and regulations, includ
obtaining or maintaining required operating cestifes or permits, could subject the Company tadiinistrative penalties and injunctive re
(i) civil remedies, including fines, injunctionsi@ product recalls; and (iii) adverse publicityhefe can be no assurance that the Company w
incur material costs and liabilities in connectigith these rules and regulations.

Seasonal factors and weather can impact the qualignd volume of raw materials that the Company procsses.

The quantity of raw materials available to the Campis impacted by seasonal factors, includingdagis, when raw material volui
declines, and cold weather, which can impact tHeaton of raw material. In addition, warm weatloan adversely affect the quality of 1
material processed and the Company's yield on ptmatudue to more rapidly degrading raw materidlhe quality and volume of finish
product that the Company is able to produce coslddgatively impacted by unseasonable weather expacted declines in the volume of
material available during holidays, which in turoutd have a material adverse impact on the Compdnysiness, results of operations
financial condition. In addition, severe weatheem¢ may also impact the Company's ability to cbllaw material or to transport finisk
product.

Downturns and volatility in global economies and cmmmodity and credit markets could materially adversdy affect the Company's busines
and results of operations.

The Company's results of operations are matergfbcted by the state of the global economies andiitions in the credit, commodit
and stock markets. Among other things, the Compaay be adversely impacted if the Company's domestd international customers
suppliers are not able to access sufficient captaontinue to operate their businesses or toat@ahem at prior levels. A decline in consu
confidence or changing patterns in the availabditgl use of disposable income by consumers canivelgaaffect both the Company's suppl
and customers. Declining discretionary consumendimg or the loss or impairment of a meaningfuinbar of the Company's suppliers
customers could lead to a dislocation in either naaterial availability or customer demand. Tigktrcredit supply could negatively affect
Company's customers' ability to pay for the Compsupyoducts on a timely basis or at all and coutdiltén a requirement for additional bad ¢
reserves. Although many of the Company's custametracts are formulbased, continued volatility in the commodities nedskcould negative
impact the Company's revenues and overall proftsunterparty risk on finished product sales cap ahpact revenue and operating profits v
customers either are unable to obtain credit arsefo take delivery of finished product due toketiprice declines.

The Company's business may be affected by the impaaf BSE and other food safety issues.
Effective August 1997, the FDA promulgated a rulehibiting the use of mammalian proteins, with sameeptions, in feeds for cat
sheep and other ruminant animals (referred to hereithe "BSE Feed Rule") to prevent further spodd®ISE, commonly referred to as "mad ¢

disease." Detection of the first case of BSE emited States in December 2003 resulted
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in additional U.S. government regulations, finisipedduct export restrictions by foreign governmentarket price fluctuations for the Compau
finished products and reduced demand for beef a®d products by consumers. Even though the exparkets for U.S. beef reboundec
exceed prdBSE levels and set records for volume in 2011 addevin 2012, most export markets remain closddBd derived from U.S. bee
On April 24, 2012, the USDA confirmed the occurrer a new, single case of BSE in a dairy cow imtreg California. Even though the USI
confirmed that material derived from the cow did eater the food or feed supply and that this apgpéa be a single, isolated incident
"atypical" BSE which is not spread through feed dods not affect humans, Indonesia closed its nmitkeMBM derived from U.S. beef, a
those markets remain closed as of the filing dathis Report. The Company does not expect thiderdisruption to have material impact or
Company's business, financial condition or resaft®perations. Continued concern about BSE in tinited States may result in additio
regulatory and market related challenges that rffagtthe Company's operations or increase the @owylp operating costs.

With respect to BSE in the United States, on Oat@te 2009, the FDA began enforcing new regulatiotesnded to further reduce -
risk of spreading BSE ("Enhanced BSE Rule"). These regulations amended the BSE Feed Rule topatdubit the use of tallow having mc
than 0.15% insoluble impurities in feed for catiteother ruminant animals. In addition, the EnteghBSE Rule prohibits brain and spinal ¢
material from cattle aged 30 months and older erdhrcasses of such cattle, if the brain and sgio are not removed, ("Prohibited Ce
Materials") and tallow derived from Prohibited GatMaterials that also contains more than 0.15%lidde impurities in the feed or food for
animals. The Company has followed the Enhanced B8 since it was first published in 2008 and hamde capital expenditures :
implemented new processes and procedures to belieaampith the Enhanced BSE Rule at all of the Camps operations. Notwithstanding
foregoing, the Company can provide no assurandeuttenticipated costs and/or reductions in raw nmatgolumes related to the Compat
compliance with the Enhanced BSE Rule will not nizgéy impact the Company’s operations and finahgeformance.

With respect to human food, pet food and animat feafety, the Food and Drug Administration Amendtmefict of 2007 (th
"FDAAA") directs the Secretary of Health and Hum@ervices and the FDA to promulgate significant meguirements for the pet food ¢
animal feed industries. As a prerequisite to nequirements specified by the FDAAA, the FDA wasdied to establish a Reportable F
Registry, which was implemented on September 892@h June 11, 2009, the FDA issued "Guidance ridugtry: Questions and Answ
Regarding the Reportable Food Registry as Estaudisby the Food and Drug Administration Amendmentst Af 2007: Dral
Guidance." Stakeholder comments and questionst dbeurReportable Food Registry were incorporatéal éhsecond draft guidance ("RFR D
Guidance"), which was published on September 8920the RFR Draft Guidance, the FDA defined aorggble food, which the manufacture
distributor would be required to report in the Reable Food Registry, to include materials usethgeedients in animal feeds and pet food
there is reasonable probability that the use oh suaterials will cause serious adverse health cpresees or death to humans or animals.
FDA issued a second version of its RFR Draft Guigaim May 2010 without finalizing it. On July 22010, the FDA released "Complial
Policy guide Sec. 690.808almonellan Animal Feed, Draft Guidance" ("Draft CPG"), whidescribes differing criteria to determine whethe
food and farmed animal feeds that are contaminatddsalmonella will be considered to be adultestaiader section 402(a)(1) of the Food L
and Cosmetic Act. According to the Draft CPG, aimshed pet food contaminated with any speciesabhenella will be considered adultere
because such feeds have direct human contacshEthianimal feeds intended for pigs, poultry arterofarmed animals, however, will
considered to be adulterated only if the feed r#aminated with a species of salmonella that isicamed to be pathogenic for the animal spi
that the feed is intended for. The impact of tBARA and implementation of the Reportable Food Ragion the Company, if any, will not
clear until the FDA finalizes its RFR Draft Guidanand the Draft CPG, neither of which were finalizas of the date of this report. The Comy
believes that it has adequate procedures in ptaesdure that its finished products are safe tarusaimal feed and pet food and the Comj
does not currently anticipate that the FDAAA widlie a significant impact on the Compangperations or financial performance. Any pattn
such as salmonella, that is correctly or incoryeatisociated with the Compasyfinished products could have a negative impadghendemanc
for the Company’s finished products.

In addition, the Food Safety Modernization Act (\ES") was enacted on January 4, 2011. The FSMA gheeFDA new authoritie
which became effective immediately. Included amdimgse is mandatory recall authority for adulterdatls that are likely to cause seri
adverse health consequences or death to humansnaals, if the responsible party fails to ceaseritbistion and recall such adulterated fo
voluntarily. The FSMA further instructed the FDA amend existing regulations that define its adstiative detention authority. Prior to
FSMA becoming law, FDA had authority to order thatarticle of food be detained only if there wasddble evidence or information indicat
that the article of food presented a threat ofoseriadverse health consequences or death to humangmals. On May 5, 2011, FDA issuec
interim final rule amending its administrative dgten authority and lowering both the level of pfemd the degree of risk required for detail
an article of food. This interim final rule, whitkecame effective on July 3, 2011, gives the FDAeritly to detain an article of food if there
reason to believe the food is adulterated or migted. The FMSA also requires the FDA to develop reyulations that, among other provisic
places additional registration requirements on faod feed producing firms. Section 102 of the FSaMw#ends facility registration requirement
the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act for doroemtid foreign manufacturers, processors, packermlders of food for human or anir
consumption. Such facility registrations were poergly required to
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be updated when changes in a facility occurredthmre were no provisions for renewing facility istgations. The FSMA, however, requires
facility registrations be renewed during the fougtharter of each evemimbered year, beginning October 1, 2012. FDA delakie start of facilil
registration renewals until October 22, 2012, witileompleted revisions to its dme registration site and subsequently extendeditradline fc
completing such registration renewals from Decenier2012 to January 31, 2013. Other new FDA remula mandated by the FSMA v
require registered facilities to perform hazardlgses and to implement preventive plans to cortlrase hazards identified to be reasonably li
to occur; increase the length of time that recamsrequired to be retained; and regulate theagrtitansportation of food. The FDA publishec
intent to meet the preventive control provisionquieed by the FSMA on January 16, 2013 in two pesgbrules for manufactured food .
produce intended for human consumption: (1) Cur&edd Manufacturing Practice and Hazard Analysi Risk-Based Preventive Controls
Human Food and (2) Standards for the Growing, Haing, Packing, and Holding of Produce for Humam&onption. Neither of these propo
rules is for animal feed and, as of the date &f fiting, the FDA has not published a proposed fatamplementing preventive controls for ani
feed. The Company has followed the FSMA througlitsuegislative history and has renewed registretifor all of its facilities and implement
hazard prevention controls and other procedurdsttigaCompany believes will be needed to comphhwlite FSMA. Such rulesaking coulc
among other things, require the Company to amenrtdineof the Compang’ other operational policies and procedures. Winili@reseen issu
and requirements may arise as the FDA promulgheeseéw regulations provided for by the FSMA, therPany does not anticipate that the ¢
of compliance with the FSMA will materially impattte Company’s business or operations.

The Company’s business may be negatively impacteq the occurrence of any disease correctly or incoectly linked to animals.

The emergence of diseases such as 2009 H1N1 ftial{inknown as "Swine Flu") and highly pathogerstrains of avian influenz
including H5N1 and H7N3 avian influenza (both sigaare collectively known as "Bird Flu"), that @meor associated with animals and have
potential to also threaten humans has created ootitat such diseases could spread and causeal georidemic. Wild migratory birds are usu
responsible for spreading the Bird Flu to domegstialtry. The H5N1 strain has not been reportedantiNAmerica. Outbreaks of the H7N3 str
however, were reported on chicken farms in Mexiaardy 2012, in July and again in December. A newbmak of the H7N3 virus on se\
commercial chicken farms in Mexico was confirmedifeary 16, 2013, by Mexican animal health authesitiAs of the date of this report, thot
neither Bird Flu nor Swine Flu has been linked tglebal disease pandemic among humans. Even thsugjh a pandemic has not occur
governments may be pressured to address thesergsrazel prohibit imports of animals, meat and ahimygproducts from countries or regic
where the disease is detected. The occurrence ioeSvu, Bird Flu or any other disease in the WhiBtates that is correctly or incorrectly lin
to animals and has a negative impact on meat dtrpamonsumption or animal production could havaaterial negative impact on the volumi
raw materials available to the Company or the dehianthe Company's finished products.

If the Company or the Company's customers are theubject of product liability claims or product recalls, the Company may incu
significant and unexpected costs and the Companysisiness reputation could be adversely affected.

The Company and its customers for whom the Compaawyufactures products may be exposed to produstityaclaims and adver:
public relations if consumption or use of the Compa products is alleged to cause injury or illnessumans or animals. In addition,
Company and its customers may be subject to praduatls resulting from developments relating ® discovery of unauthorized adulteration
food additives. The Company's insurance may noadeguate to cover all liabilities the Company mscin connection with product liabili
claims, whether or not legitimate, or product rlscalThe Company may not be able to maintain iistiy insurance or obtain compare
insurance at a reasonable cost, if at all. A pcodability judgment against the Company or aghose of its customers for whom the Comg
manufactures products, or the Company's or itsoousts agreement to settle a product liabilityrolair a product recall, could also resul
substantial and unexpected expenditures, whichdvaduce operating income and cash flow. In aolditeven if product liability claims agai
the Company or its customers for whom the Compaagufactures products are not successful or aréuliptpursued, defending these cla
would likely be costly and timeensuming and may require management to spendd@fending the claims rather than operating the Gy
business and may result in adverse publicity.

Product liability claims, product recalls or anhet events that cause consumers to no longer agsdlse Company's brands or thos
the Company's customers for whom the Company matwrés products with high quality and safety, mast khe value of the Company's and
Company's customers' brands and lead to decreasednd for the Company's products. In additiona assult of any such claims against
Company or product recalls, the Company may be seghdo claims by the Company's customers for damagtheir reputations al
brands. Product liability claims and product récatay also lead to increased scrutiny by fedamdl state regulatory agencies of the Compi
operations and could have a material adverse aifettie Company's brands, business, results oatpes and financial condition.
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The Company's operations are subject to various lasy rules and regulations relating to the protectiorof the environment and to healtl
and safety, and the Company could incur significantosts to comply with these requirements or be suéft to sanctions or held liable fc
environmental damages.

The Company's operations subject the Company tousaand increasingly stringent federal, state, lanédl environmental, health a
safety requirements, including those governing emrissions, wastewater discharges, the managemenigs and disposal of materials
connection with the Company’s facilities and then(panys handling of hazardous materials and wastes, asigfasoline and diesel fuel usec
the Company's trucking fleet and operations. Faito comply with these requirements could haveiig@nt consequences, including penal
claims for personal injury and property and natuesburce damages, and negative publicity. Thep2oyis operations require the control o
emissions and odor and the treatment and discldingastewater to municipal sewer systems and thie@mment. The Company operates bo
at many of the Company's facilities and stores ewaater in lagoons or discharges it to publicly owwneastewater treatment systems, sul
waters or through land application. The Compargraies and maintains a vehicle fleet to transpodyzcts to and from customer locations.
Company has incurred significant capital and ojregaéxpenditures to comply with environmental regoients, including for the upgrade
wastewater treatment facilities, and will continaencur such costs in the future.

The Company could be responsible for the remediatioenvironmental contamination and may be suljgetssociated liabilities a
claims for personal injury and property and natuesburce damages. The Company owns or operatesraus properties, has been in busi
for many years and has acquired and disposed pepies and businesses. During that time, the @ompr other owners or operators may |
generated or disposed of wastes that are or mapisdered hazardous or may have polluted the sgilace water or groundwater at or arc
the Company's facilities. Under some environmelatal, such as the Comprehensive Environmental ddasp Compensation, and Liability ,
of 1980, also known as CERCLA or Superfund, andlainstate statutes, responsibility for the costlfanup of a contaminated site car
imposed upon any current or former site owners @etators, or upon any party that sent waste taitiee regardless of the lawfulness of
activities that led to the contamination. Thera ba no assurance that the Company will not fatensie costs or penalties that would ha
material adverse effect on the Company's finarmmalition and results of operations. For examile,Company has been named as a théndy
defendant in a lawsuit pending in the Tierra/Makitgyation (as defined herein) and has receivedceofrom the EPA with respect to alleg
contamination in the Lower Passaic River areaufeutievelopments, such as more aggressive enfontgrokcies, new laws or discoveries
unknown conditions, may also require expenditunes may have a material adverse effect on the Coypausiness and financial condition.

In addition, increasing efforts to control emissianf greenhouse gases, or GHG, are likely to impgastCompany's operations. ~
EPA’s recent rule establishing mandatory GHG reportorgcertain activities may apply to some of the @amy's facilities if the Compa
exceeds the applicable thresholds. The EPA hasaalsounced a finding relating to GHG emissions mhay result in promulgation of GHG
quality standards. Legislation to regulate GHGsmmins has been proposed in the U.S. Congress gmodvang number of states are taking ac
to require reductions in GHG emissions. Future Gef@issions limits may require the Company to inadditional capital and operatio
expenditures. EPA regulations limiting exhaustssions also became more restrictive in 2010, an@anber 25, 2010, the National Highv
Traffic Safety Administration and the EPA proposeew regulations that would govern fuel efficienaydaGHG emissions beginning
2014. Compliance with such regulations could iasesthe cost of new fleet vehicles and increas€timepany's operating expenses. Compli
with future GHG regulations may require expendisuteat could affect the Company’s results of openat

If the Company experiences difficulties or a signi€ant disruption in the Company's information systams or if the Company fails tc
implement new systems and software successfully gl€ompany's business could be materially adversehffected.

The Company depends on information systems thrautgtiee Company's business to collect and procets tHat is critical to tF
Company's operations and accurate SEC reportingngrother things, these information systems proicessning customer orders and outgc
supplier orders, manage inventory, collect raw nigteand distribute products, process and bilbstants to and collect cash from the Comp:
customers, respond to customer and supplier irgicontribute to the Company's overall internaitied processes, maintain records of
Company's property, plant and equipment, and reaoddpay amounts due vendors and other creditors.

If the Company were to experience a disruptiortgriiformation systems that involve interactionghvduppliers and customers, it cc
result in a loss of raw material supplies, sales @rstomers and/or increased costs, which could hawaterial adverse effect on the Compi
business, financial condition and results of openst In addition, any such disruption could adebrsaffect the Company's ability to meet
financial reporting obligations. The Company mégosencounter difficulties in developing new syssean maintaining and upgrading exist
systems. Such difficulties may lead to significexpenses or losses due to unexpected additioatd mxuired to implement or maintain syste
disruption in business operations, loss of
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sales or profits, or cause the Company to incunifidgnt costs to reimburse third parties for dapga@nd, as a result, may have a material ac
effect on the Company's results of operations.

In order to enhance its technology, customer sepaad business processes, the Company has beguhi-gear project to replace
existing work management, financial, and supplyirctsaftware applications with a new suite of systancluding a companwide enterpris
resource planning ("ERP") system. The implementaficocess involves a number of risks that may aerhinder the Company's busir
operations and/or affect its financial conditiord aasults of operations, if not implemented sudcélgs The new ERP system will replace multi
legacy systems, and successful implementationgect®d to enhance and provide additional bene&fits\tariety of important business functic
including customer care and billing, procuremerd ancounts payable, operational plant logisticspagament reporting, and external finar
reporting. The ERP implementation is a complex mé-consuming project that involves substantial expemes for implementation consultal
system hardware, software, and implementationitiesy as well as the transformation of businessfarancial processes.

As with any large software project, there are mfatyors that may materially affect the schedulest,cand execution/implementatior
this project. Those factors include, among oth@mblems during the design, implementation, andingsphases; system delays an
malfunctions; the risk that suppliers and contrectaill not perform as required under their contisathe diversion of management's attention-
daily operations to the project; vearks due to changes in business processes orcfalaeporting standards; and other events, sonvehath art
beyond the Company's control. These types of issagkl disrupt the Company's business operatiodfoaiits ability to timely and accuratt
process and report key components of its finameslilts and and/or complete important businessegeas such as the evaluation of its int
controls and attestation activities pursuant tdiSee04 of the Sarbané&xley Act of 2002. Accordingly, material deviatiofiem the project ple
or unsuccessful execution of the plan may adves#gt the Company's financial position and resaftoperations.

The Company's success is dependent on its key pearnsel.

The Company's success depends to a significanttexpen a number of key employees, including membésenior management. 1
loss of the services of one or more of these kepleyges could have a material adverse effect onCivapany's results of operations
prospects. The Company believes that its futurxess will depend in part on its ability to attractotivate and retain skilled technic
managerial, marketing and sales personnel. Congefior these types of skilled personnel is intease there can be no assurance the
Company will be successful in attracting, motivgtend retaining key personnel. The failure to lainel retain these personnel could matel
adversely affect the Company's business and resfutiserations.

In certain markets the Company is highly dependentipon a single operating facility and various eventbeyond the Company's control ca
cause interruption in the operation of the Companys facilities, which could adversely affect its busess in those markets.

The Company's facilities are subject to variousefel] state and local environmental and other péngirequirements, depending
their locations. Periodically, these permits mayéviewed and subject to amendment or withdrawablications for an extension or renewa
various permits may be subject to challenge by canity and environmental groups and others. Inetent of a casualty, condemnation, w
stoppage, permitting withdrawal or delay, severativer event, or other unscheduled shutdown invghane of the Company's facilities, il
majority of the Company's markets it would utilaenearby operating facility to continue to sergecitistomers. In certain markets, howevet
Company does not have alternate operating fasilitle the event of a casualty, condemnation, veboppage, permitting withdrawal or del
severe weather event, or other unscheduled shutdowrese markets, the Company may experience tarruption in its ability to service
customers and to procure raw materials. This majerally and adversely affect the Company's bssirend results of operations in tt
markets. In addition, after an operating facilitffected by a casualty, condemnation, work stopppgemitting withdrawal or delay or ott
unscheduled shutdown is restored, there could bessorance that customers who in the interim chtwbase alternative disposal services w
return to use the Company's services.

The Company's level of indebtedness could adversehffect the Company's ability to operate its busings, react to changes in the econol
or its industry and make payments on its indebtednss.

As of December 29, 2012 , the Company had tetibtedness of approximately $ 250.2 millionnsisting of $ 250.0 million 08.5%
Senior Notes due 201&he "Senior Unsecured Notes") and other insigaiftadebt and undrawn commitments available fortamtdil borrowing
under the Company's senior secured credit faallitiee "Senior Secured Credit Facilities"), entared on December 17, 2010The Company
level of indebtedness could have important conseeps including the following:
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» a portion of the Company's cash flows from operatiiill be dedicated to the payment of principatl anterest on the Compan
indebtedness and will not be available for otheppses, including investment in the Company's djmers, future business opportunis
or strategic acquisitions, capital expenditures @heér general corporate purposes;

« it may limit the Company's flexibility in plannirfgr, or reacting to, changes in its business aadrttustry in which it operate
« the Company may be more highly leveraged than sufrite competitors, which may place the Compang edmpetitive disadvantay
» it could make the Company more vulnerable to dowrstin general economic or industry conditionsnothie Company's business;

» it may limit, along with the financial and otherstective covenants in the agreements governingGbenpany's indebtedness,
Company's ability in the future to obtain financitige Company's ability to refinance any of itsehtédness, or the Company's abilit
dispose of assets or borrow money for its workiagital requirements, capital expenditures, acqaist debt service requirements
general corporate or other purposes on commercigdigonable terms or at all.

Despite the Company's existing indebtedness, the @pany may still incur more debt, which could exacdrate the risks described above.

The Company may be able to incur substantial amfditiindebtedness in the future. Although the exmients governing the Compat
indebtedness, including, without limitation, theregments governing the Company's Senior SecureditCracilities, will limit the Company
ability to incur certain additional indebtednedsgde restrictions are subject to a number of doatibns and exceptions, and the additi
indebtedness that could be incurred in complianite these restrictions could be substantial. Te eéktent that the Company incurs additi
indebtedness, the risks associated with the Con'pdeyerage described above, including the Compamyssible inability to service its de
would increase.

The Company could incur a material weakness in th€ompany's internal control over financial reporting that would require remediation.

The Company's disclosure controls and procedures deemed to be effective in fiscal 201Bowever, any future failures to maint
the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure otntand procedures, including the Company's intezoatrol over financial reporting, cot
subject the Company to a loss of public confideimcés internal control over financial reportingdaim the integrity of its public filings ai
financial statements and could harm the Compmanoperating results or cause the Company to fail¢et its regulatory reporting obligations
timely manner. The ongoing integration of the agiens of Griffin following the Merger could creaeditional risks to the Company's disclo:
controls, including the Company’s internal control®r financial reporting.

An impairment in the carrying value of the Companys goodwill or other intangible assets may have a rexial adverse effect on th
Company's results of operations.

As of December 29, 2012 , the Company has apprdelgn& 381.4 millionof goodwill. The Company is required to annuakbg
goodwill to determine if impairment has occurrekdditionally, impairment of goodwill must be testadhenever events or changes
circumstances indicate that impairment may haveuroed. If the testing performed indicates that amment has occurred, the Compan
required to record a narash impairment charge for the difference betwéencarrying value of the goodwill and the impliedr fvalue of th
goodwill in the period the determination is madéwe testing of goodwill for impairment requires thempany to make significant estimates a
its future performance and cash flows, as well theroassumptions. These estimates can be affegtedimerous factors, including change
economic, industry or market conditions, changesuisiness operations or changes in competitioran@és in these factors, or changes in a
performance compared with estimates of the Compaiwure performance, may affect the fair valuegobdwill, which may result in ¢
impairment charge. For example, a deterioratiodeémand for, or increases in costs for producisgmplier's principal products could lead
reduction in the supplier's output of raw materisfgis impacting the fair value of a plant procegdhat raw material. The Company cat
accurately predict the amount and timing of anyaimpent of assets. Should the value of goodwitldmee impaired, there may be a mater
adverse effect on the Company's results of opestio
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The Company may be subject to work stoppages at igperating facilities which could cause interruptios in the manufacturing of the
Company's products.

While the Company has no national or multi-plantoancontracts, approximately 25% the Company's employees are covere
multiple collective bargaining agreements. Labogamizing activities could result in additional doyees becoming unionized and higc
ongoing labor costs. Darling's collective bargainagreements expire at varying times over the fiextyears. There can be no assurance th
Company will be able to negotiate the terms of arpiring or expired agreement in a manner acceptbthe Company. If the Compar
unionized workers were to engage in a strike, watdppage or other slowdown in the future, the Campeould experience a significi
disruption of its operations, which could have aerial adverse effect on the Company's businesa|tseof operations and financial condition.

Litigation may materially adversely affect the Compmany's businesses, financial condition and results operations.

The Company is a party to several lawsuits, claimd loss contingencies arising in the ordinary seusf our business, includi
assertions by certain regulatory and governmegaheies related to permitting requirements andasstewater and storm water discharges
the Company's processing facilities. The outcornktigation, particularly class action lawsuitsdaregulatory actions, is difficult to asses!
qguantify. Plaintiffs in these types of lawsuitsyrseek recovery of very large or indeterminate amsuand the magnitude of the potential
relating to such lawsuits may remain unknown fdrssantial periods of time. The cost to defendriitigation may be significant and any fut
litigation may divert the attention of managemewag from the Company's strategic objectives. Theay also be adverse publicity associ
with litigation that may decrease customer confadeim the Compang’ business, regardless of whether the allegatiensadid or whether we a
ultimately found liable. As a result, litigationay have a material adverse effect on the Compdmgsess, financial condition and result
operations.

Certain multiemployer defined benefit pension plango which the Company contributes are under-funded.

The Company participates in various multiemployengion plans which provide defined benefits toaieremployees covered by la
contracts. These plans are not administered byCtrepany and contributions are determined in a@rare with provisions of negotiated la
contracts to meet their pension benefit obligatiomgheir participants. Based upon the most ctigresvailable information, certain of the
multiemployer plans are und&rnded due partially to a decline in the value e fassets supporting these plans, a reductioneimdimber ¢
actively participating members for whom employentcibutions are required and the level of bendfitsvided by the plans. In addition,
Pension Protection Act, which was enacted in Auga8i6 and went into effect in January 2008, reguinederfunded pension plans to imprc
their funding ratios within prescribed intervalsbd on the level of their undrading. As a result, the Company's required dbuations to thes
plans may increase in the future. Furthermore, uaodeent law, a termination of, the Companybluntary withdrawal from or a mass withdra
of all contributing employers from any underfundeditiemployer defined benefit plan to which the Qmany contributes would require
Company to make payments to the plan for the Cogipgmmoportionate share of such multiemployer ppamfunded vested liabilities. Also, i
multiemployer defined benefit plan fails to satigfgrtain minimum funding requirements, the InterRelvenue Service ("IRS") may impos
nondeductible excise tax of 5% on the amount ofait@mulated funding deficiency for those employ®scontributing their allocable share
the minimum funding to the plan. For more inforinaton the multiemployer pension plans in which @@mpany participates see Note 15 tc
Consolidated Financial Statements. Requiremenpayancreased contributions, withdrawal liabilitydaexcise taxes could negatively impact
Company’s liquidity and results of operations.

If the number or severity of claims for which the @mpany is selfinsured increases, if the Company is required to @atue or pay additional
amounts because the claims prove to be more sevdt@n the Company's recorded liabilities, if the Conpany's insurance premium:
increase, or if the Company is unable to obtain ingance at acceptable rates or at all, the Company'8nancial condition and results o
operations may be materially adversely affected.

The Company's workers compensation, auto and deliedgity policies contain significant deductitdeor selfinsured retentions. T
Company develops bi-yearly and records quarterlgstimate of the Company's projected insuraetsted liabilities. The Company estimates
liabilities associated with the risks retained bg Company, in part, by considering historicalrokiexperience, demographic and severity fa
and other actuarial assumptions. Any actuariajeptmn of losses is subject to a degree of vditgbilf the number or severity of claims
which the Company is seifisured increases, or the Company is requireddouacor pay additional amounts because the clammgego be mot
severe than the Compasyoriginal assessments, the Company's financiatliton and results of operations may be materialtversel
affected. In addition, in the future the Compang&irance premiums may increase and the Compagynotebe able to obtain similar levels
insurance on reasonable terms or at all. Any snetlequacy of, or inability to obtain, insurancee@ge could have a material adverse effe
the Company's business, financial condition andltesf operations.
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The Company may not successfully identify and compte acquisitions on favorable terms or achieve amipated synergies relating to an
acquisitions, and such acquisitions could result imnforeseen operating difficulties and expendituresnd require significant managemer
resources.

The Company regularly reviews potential acquisgiohcomplementary businesses, services or pradutis/ever, the Company may
unable to identify suitable acquisition candidateshe future. Even if the Company identifies agpiate acquisition candidates, the Comj
may be unable to complete such acquisitions onrédle terms, if at all. In addition, the proce$sntegrating an acquired business, servic
product into the Company's existing business aretatipns may result in unforeseen operating diffiesi and expenditures. Integration of
acquired company also may require significant mansmnt resources that otherwise would be availabteohgoing development of t
Company's business. Moreover, the Company mayeadize the anticipated benefits of any acquisitiostrategic alliance and such transac
may not generate anticipated financial resultstufeuacquisitions could also require the Companintor debt, assume contingent liabilitie:
amortize expenses related to intangible assetspfamiiich could harm the Company's business.

Terrorist attacks or acts of war may cause damageralisruption to the Company and the Company's emplgees, facilities, informatior
systems, security systems, suppliers and customerwshich could significantly impact the Company's netsales, costs and expenses ¢
financial condition.

Terrorist attacks, such as those that occurredemtegber 11, 2001, have contributed to economiahilgy in the United States, a
further acts of terrorism, bioterrorism, cyberteism, violence or war could affect the markets ihichh the Company operates, the Comp:
business operations, the Company's expectationstaed forwardiooking statements contained in this report. Tiredt of terrorist attacks in t
United States since September 11, 2001 continuee&te many economic and political uncertaintiBise potential for future terrorist attacks,
U.S. and international responses to terrorist l$tand other acts of war or hostility, including ttngoing war in Afghanistan and other conf
in the Middle East, may cause greater uncertainty cuse the Company's business to suffer in watscannot currently be predicted. Ew
such as those referred to above could cause ortoatetto a general decline in investment valuatidn addition, terrorist attacks, particularlys
of bioterrorism, that directly impact the Companfgsilities or those of the Company's supplierscastomers could have an impact on
Company's sales, supply chain, production capglaitil costs and the Company's ability to deliwefiitished products.

The Company's products may infringe the intellectuaproperty rights of others, which may cause the Cmpany to incur unexpected cos!
or prevent the Company from selling its products.

The Company maintains valuable trademarks, semiaeks, copyrights, trade names, trade secretsriptafy technologies and simi
intellectual property, and considers the Compainy&slectual property to be of material value. T®@mpany has in the past and may in the fi
be subject to legal proceedings and claims in tHmary course of its business, including claimsiéged infringement of patents, trademarks
other intellectual property rights of third partieg the Company or its customers. Any such clawtsether or not meritorious, could resul
costly litigation and divert the efforts of the Cpamy's management. Moreover, should the Companfolred liable for infringement, tl
Company may be required to enter into licensinggaigients (if available on acceptable terms or atalto pay damages and cease makir
selling certain products. Any of the foregoing lkcbeause the Company to incur significant costs @edent the Company from manufacturin
selling its products.

The recently enacted legislation on healthcare refm and proposed amendments thereto could impact thbealthcare benefits required t
be provided by the Company and cause the Companyt®mpensation costs to increase, potentially redugrthe Company's net income an
adversely affecting its cash flows.

The recently enacted healthcare legislation angpgeed amendments thereto contain provisions thald conaterially impact tr

Company's future healthcare costs. While the l&tiis's ultimate impact is not yet known, it issgible that these changes could significi
increase the Company's compensation costs, whicfoweduce the Company's net income and adverffelst &s cash flows.

The market value of the Company's common stock haseen and may continue to be volatile.
The market price of the Company's common stockbeesn subject to volatility and, in the future, tharket price of the Compan
common stock could fluctuate widely in responsentimnerous factors, many of which are beyond the Gmyip control. Numerous factc

including many over which the Company has no contnay have a significant impact on the market
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price of the Company’s common stock. In additiorthe risk factors discussed in this report, theepand volume volatility of the Compaiy’
common stock may be affected by:

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in commoditieis¢s

e actual or anticipated variations in the Comparg&lts

» the Company's earnings releases and financialpeaftce

» changes in financial estimates or buy/sell recomtatons by securities analy:

» the Company's access to financial and capital nstkerefinance its debt or its ability to repageébtedness under the Company's Si
Secured Credit Facilities and its Senior Unsecitetds;

» the effect of future sales of substantial amouhts@® Company's common sto

« performance of the Company's joint venture invests:

« the Company dividend policy

* market conditions in the industry and the gendeibsof the securities marke

* investor perceptions of the Company and the ingastd markets in which it operat
« domestic and foreign governmental legislation gutation

« currency and exchange rate fluctuations;

» domestic and global general economic and marketitons, such as recessions or significant infla

Future sales of the Company's common stock or thessuance of other equity may adversely affect the maet price of the Company's
common stock.

The Company is not restricted from issuing addé@laommon stock, including securities that are eotilvle into or exchangeable for,
that represent the right to receive, common stockcommon stock issued as restricted shares oudhrthe exercise of options granted unc
Company equity incentive plan. The issuance ofitexhdl shares of the Company's common stock owedible securities, including t
Company's outstanding options, or otherwise, villitd the ownership interest of the Company's comstockholders.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of the @og'p common stock or other equitlated securities in the public market cc
depress the market price of the Company's comnumk stnd impair the Company's ability to raise apiirough the sale of additional eq
securities. The Company cannot predict the etfest future sales of the Company's common stoaktleer equityrelated securities would he
on the market price of the Company's common stock.

The Company's common stock is an equity security ahis subordinate to the Company's existing and futte indebtedness.

The Company's common stock is an equity interestdaes not constitute indebtedness. As such, slehrommon stock rank junior
all of the Company's indebtedness and to othereguity claims on the Company and the Comparassets available to satisfy claims or
Company, including claims in a bankruptcy, liquidat or similar proceeding. The Compasiyéxisting indebtedness restricts, and fu
indebtedness may restrict, payment of dividendgsocommon stock.

Unlike indebtedness, where principal and interestamarily are payable on specified due dateshéndase of common stock,
dividends are payable only when and if declaredhgyCompany's board of directors or a duly autleorizcommittee of the board and (ii) ¢
corporation, the Company is restricted to only mgkilividend payments and redemption payments olggafly available assets. Further,
common stock places no restrictions on the Companysiness or operations or on the Compmapility to incur indebtedness or engage in
transactions, subject only to the voting rightsilabde to stockholders generally.

In addition, any of the Company's rights (includthg rights of the holders of the Company's comstonk) to participate in the asset
any of the Company's subsidiaries upon any ligiddabr reorganization of any subsidiary will be gdb to the prior claims of that subsidia
creditors (except to the extent the Company ma&yfite a creditor of that subsidiary), including
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that subsidiang trade creditors and the Company's creditors veve lobtained or may obtain guarantees from theidiabies. As a result, tl
Company's common stock is subordinated to the Caynpad the Company's subsidiaries' obligations laddlities, which currently incluc
borrowings under the Company's Senior Secured Tradilities and the Company's Senior Unsecure@édot

The Company's ability to pay any dividends on its ammon stock may be limited.

The Company has not paid any dividends on its comstock since January 3, 1989. The Company's ufirancing arrangemet
permit the Company to pay cash dividends on the gamyis common stock within limitations defined by thents of the Company's existi
indebtedness, including the Company's Senior Sdc@heedit Facilities, Senior Unsecured Notes and amentures or other financi
arrangements that the Company enters into in theefu For example, the agreements governing thapaay's Senior Secured Credit Facili
restrict the Company's ability to make paymentdieidends in cash if certain coverage ratios attermet. Even if such coverage ratios are m
the future, any determination to pay cash dividesnishe Company's common stock will be at the dismn of the Companyg’ board of directo
and will be based upon the Company's financial itimmg operating results, capital requirementshpléor expansion, business opportuni
restrictions imposed by any of the Company's filvemarrangements, provisions of applicable law amg other factors that the Company's b
of directors determines are relevant at that gaititne.

The issuance of shares of preferred stock could a€rsely affect holders of common stock, which may gatively impact an investment it
the Company’s common stock.

The Company's board of directors is authorizedalese the Company to issue classes or series arpefstock without any action
the part of the Company's stockholders. The boérdirectors also has the power, without stockhoklgproval, to set the terms of any <
classes or series of preferred shares that magshbed, including the designation, preferencestdiions and relative rights over the common s
with respect to dividends or upon the liquidatidigsolution or winding up of the Company's businasd other terms. If the Company iss
preferred shares in the future that have a prefer@ver the common stock with respect to the paymérdividends or upon liquidatic
dissolution or winding up, or if the Company isspesferred shares with voting rights that dilute toting power of the common stock, the rif
of holders of the Company's common stock or theketaprice of the common stock could be adversdigcetd. As of the date of this filing,
Company has no outstanding shares of preferred &tocthe Company has available for issuance 10000uthorized but unissued share
preferred stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company's corporate headquarters is locat81a©’Connor Ridge Boulevard, Suite 300, Irvingxdg 75038, in an officicility
where the Company leases approximately 534iitare feet. The Company also maintains regioffiges in Cold Spring, Kentucky and C
Moines, lowa.

As of December 29, 2012 , the Company operates t®@iprocessing and transfer facilities including thegessing locations list
below. All of the processing facilities are ownextept for ten leased facilities and the Companpuwr leases 5ffansfer stations in the U.
some of which also process yellow grease and {féygse transfer stations serve as collection pdamtsouting raw material to the process
facilities set forth below. Some locations senacsingle business segment while others service than one business segment. The followi
a listing of the Company’s operating facilities lnysiness segment:
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LOCATION
Rendering Business Segment
Bastrop, TX
Bellevue, NE
Berlin, WI

Blue Earth, MN
Blue Island (Chicago), IL
Boise, ID

Butler, KY

Butler, KY
Calhoun, GA
Cincinnati, OH
Cleveland, OH
Clinton, 1A
Coldwater, Ml
Collinsville, OK
Columbus, IN
Dallas, TX
Denver, CO
Denver, CO

Des Moines, IA
Detroit, Ml

East Dublin, GA
E. St. Louis, IL
Ellenwood, GA
Fairfax, MO
Fresno, CA
Grand Island, NE (1)
Henderson, KY
Holden, LA
Houston, TX
Indianapolis, IN
Jackson, MS
Kansas City, KS
Kansas City, KS
Kansas City, MO
Lexington, NE
Little Rock, AR
Los Angeles, CA
Lynn Center, IL
Mason City, IL
Newark, NJ
Newberry, IN

No. Las Vegas, NV
Omaha, NE
Quincy, FL
Russellville, KY
San Diego, CA (1)
San Francisco, CA (1)
Santa Ana, CA (1)
Sioux City, IA
Smyrna, GA

DESCRIPTION

Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Biodiesel
Yellow Grease
Hides
Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Edible Meat and Tallow
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Protein Blending
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Pet Food
Fertilizer Blending
Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Protein Blending
Hides
Rendering/Protein Blending
Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Protein Blending
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Yellow Grease/Trap
Protein Blending
Hides
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Trap



Starke, FL
Tacoma, WA (1)
Tampa, FL
Turlock, CA

Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap

Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap
Rendering/Yellow Grease
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Union City, TN
Wahoo, NE
Wichita, KS

Bakery Feed Segment
Albertville, AL (1)
Butler, KY (1)
Doswell, VA
Henderson, KY (1)
Honey Brook, PA
Marshville, NC
Memphis, TN (1)
North Baltimore, OH
Watts, OK (1)

Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease
Rendering/Yellow Grease/Trap

Bakery Feed
Bakery Feed
Bakery Feed/Yellow Grease
Bakery Feed
Bakery Feed
Bakery Feed/Yellow Grease
Bakery Feed
Bakery Feed
Bakery Feed/Yellow Grease

(1) Property is leased. Rent expense forthemsed properties was $ 1.3 million in the agape fiscal 2012 .

Substantially all assets of the Company, includerj property, are either pledged or mortgagedHateral for borrowings under the
Company's Senior Secured Credit Facilities.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is a party to several lawsuits, claimd loss contingencies arising in the ordinary seusf its business, includi
assertions by certain regulatory and governmegiaheies related to permitting requirements andasstewater and storm water discharges
the Company's processing facilities.

The Company’s workers compensation, auto and gehadity policies contain significant deductildeor selfinsured retentions. T
Company estimates and accrues its expected ultioheita costs related to accidents occurring dudagh fiscal year and carries this accrual
reserve until these claims are paid by the Company.

As a result of the matters discussed above, thep@oy has established loss reserves for insuramsésoemental and litigatic
matters. At December 29, 2012 and December 311 2@ie reserves for insurance, environmental aighatiobn contingencies reflected on
balance sheet in accrued expenses and other nmmtliabilities were approximately $ 37.0 milliand $ 38.0 million, respectively. Tt
Company has insurance recovery receivables of appately $ 9.3 million and $ 9.6 million respectively, related to these liabilities, a
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 . The Guigpmanagement believes these reserves for contilegese reasonable and suffic
based upon present governmental regulations aodnation currently available to management; howetrare can be no assurance that
costs related to these matters will not exceedeatirestimates. The Company believes that theiHiked is remote that any additional liabi
from these lawsuits and claims that may not be real/by insurance would have a material effect erfittancial statements.

Lower Passaic River AreaThe Company has been named as a third partydkefié in a lawsuit pending in the Superior CourNefa
Jersey, Essex County, stylétew Jersey Department of Environmental Protectibhe Commissioner of the New Jersey Departme
Environmental Protection Agency and the Administraif the New Jersey Spill Compensation Fund, asniffs, vs. Occidental Chemic
Corporation, Tierra Solutions, Inc., Maxus Energyrf@oration, Repsol YPF, S.A., YPF, S.A., YPF Hgslinnc., and CLH Holdings,
Defendants(Docket No. L-009868-05) (the "Tierra/Maxus Litigat"). In the Tierra/Maxus Litigation, which waietl on December 13, 2005
the plaintiffs seek to recover from the defendarast and future cleanup and removal costs, asasealinspecified economic damages, pur
damages, penalties and a variety of other formel@f, purportedly arising from the alleged dises into the Passaic River of a particular
of dioxin and other unspecified hazardous substant@e damages being sought by the plaintiffs friitie defendants are likely to
substantial. On February 4, 2008vo of the defendants, Tierra Solutions, Inc.i€ffa") and Maxus Energy Corporation ("Maxus")efila thir
party complaint against over 3@tities, including the Company, seeking to recaleor a proportionate share of cleanup and reinowsts
damages or other loss or harm, if any, for whickrfBi or Maxus may be held liable in the Tierra/Makitigation. Tierra and Maxus allege t
Standard Tallow Company, an entity that the Compaeguired in 1996 contributed to the discharge of the hazardoustanbes that are t
subject of this case while operating a former patet located in Newark, New Jersey. The Comparigiestigating these allegations, has en
into a joint defense agreement with many of theeothirdparty defendants and intends to defend itself wgsly. All previously schedul
discovery and trial dates in the case have begrdtpending settlement discussions amongst théepafdditionally, in December 20Q%he
Company, along with numerous other entities, reainotice from the United States Environmental é&utidn Agency (EPA) that the Comp:
(as successor-in-interest to
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Standard Tallow Company) is considered a potepti@sponsible party with respect to alleged comation in the lower Passaic River ¢
which is part of the Diamond Alkali Superfund Sibeated in Newark, New Jersey. In the letter, EBduested that the Company join a grot
other parties in funding a remedial investigatiow deasibility study at the site. As of the dafethis report, the Company has not agree
participate in the funding group. The Companytmate liability for investigatory costs, remediebsts and/or natural resource damagt
connection with the lower Passaic River area cahaatetermined at this time; however, as of the déthis report, there is nothing that leads
Company to believe that these matters will haveatenal effect on the Company's financial posittwmesults of operation.

Fresno Facility Permit Issué.he Company has been named as a defendant anidpantgan interest in a lawsuit filed on April 2012 ir
the Superior Court of the State of California, Reounty, styledConcerned Citizens of West Fresno vs. The Cityresrio and Darlin
International Inc.In the complaint, which was subsequently amendedaoiiary 31, 2013, the plaintiff alleges that tlitg 6f Fresno has failed
enforce its own zoning ordinances and permittirgquirements and engaged in a number of discrimipgicectices against the citizens of W
Fresno. In addition, the complaint alleges that@oenpany's Fresno facility is operating withoutrager use permit and constitutes a contin
private and public nuisance. In the complaint treengiff seeks, among other things, injunctive €éliRendering operations have been condi
on the site since 1955, and the Company beliewesittipossesses all of the required federal, statklocal permits to continue to operate
facility in the manner currently conducted and ttsbperations do not constitute a private or ubliisance. Accordingly, the Company inte
to defend itself vigorously in this matter. Discoy@as begun and this matter is currently schedidettial in February 2014. While managernr
cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this matteanagement does not believe the outcome will bavaterial effect on the Company's finar
condition or results of operations.

The Company is engaged in other legal proceedimys fime to time. The proceedings described abowksach other proceedings
be complex and take many months, or even yearsatth resolution, with the final outcome being dejsant upon a number of variables, sorr
which are not within the control of the Company efiéfore, although the Company will vigorously defetself in each of the described actic
the ultimate resolution and potential financial anpon the Company is uncertain.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Companys common stock is traded on the New York Stock Brgle ("NYSE") under the symbol "DAR". The followitable se!
forth, for the quarters indicated, the high and tesing sales prices per share for the Companysron stock as reported on the NYSE.

Market Price

Fiscal Quarter High Low
2012:

First Quarter $ 17.9C $ 13.21

Second Quarter $ 17.6: $ 13.9¢

Third Quarter $ 18.4: $ 16.0¢

Fourth Quarter $ 18.5( $ 15.22
2011:

First Quarter $ 15.8¢ $ 12.0¢

Second Quarter $ 19.1¢ $ 14.7¢

Third Quarter $ 1851 $ 12.5¢

Fourth Quarter $ 1478 $ 11.6¢

On February 20, 2013 , the closing sales pricehefGompany's common stock on the NYSE was $ 16.8ie Company has be
notified by its stock transfer agent that as ofrbaky 20, 2013 , there were 122 holders of recétiecommon stock.

The Company has not paid any dividends on its comstock since January 3, 1988d does not expect to pay cash dividen:
2013. The agreements underlying the Company's Semmour8d Credit Facilities and Senior Unsecured $permit the Company to pay ¢
dividends on its common stock within limitationsfided in such agreements. Any future determinat@mpay cash dividends on the Company
common stock will be at the discretion of the Comps board of directors and will be based upon@oenpanys financial condition, operatil
results, capital requirements, plans for expansiestrictions imposed by any financing arrangemesutsl any other factors that the boar
directors determines are relevant.

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the cleaimgthe cumulative total stockholder return on @mpany's common stock with
cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Indidwe Dow Jones US Waste and Disposal Service Inalek,the CSAgribusiness Index for tl
period from December 29, 2007 to December 29, 2842)ming the investment of $100 on December 2% 28d the reinvestment of dividends.

The stock price performance shown on the followgnaph only reflects the change in the Company'skspoice relative to the not
indices and is not necessarily indicative of futpiiee performance.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth certain informatias of December 29, 201 2with respect to the Company's equity compensailan
(including individual compensation arrangementsjiarmwhich the Company's equity securities are aisthd for issuance, aggregated by i
compensation plans previously approved by the Cogipasecurity holders, and ii) all compensationnplaiot previously approved by
Company's security holders. The table includes:

» the number of securities to be issued upon xeecese of outstanding options and granted wested stocl
» the weighted-average exercise price of the antihg options and granted neested stock; ar

» the number of securities that remain availablefdture issuance under the ple
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(©)

(@ Number of securities
Number of securities (b) remaining available
to be issued upon Weighted-average for future issuance
exercise of exercise price of under equity
outstanding outstanding compensation plans
options, warrants options, warrants (excluding securities
Plan Category and rights and rights reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 899,284 (1) $7.93 11,016,544
Equity compensation plans not approv
by security holders — — -
Total 899,284 $7.93 11,016,544

(1) Includes shares underlying options that haenlissued and granted non-vested stock pursu#me ompanys 2012 Omnibt
Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) as approved by @wenpanys stockholders. See Note 13 of Notes to Conselii&inancic
Statements for information regarding the mategatdres of the 2012 Plan.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected consolidaistbrical financial data for the periods indicatethe selected historical consolide
financial data set forth below should be read injwoction with “Managemerd’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionl &esults ¢
Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statésnehthe Company for the three years ended Dece®e2012 , December 31, 2014anc
January 1, 2011, and the related notes thereto.

Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2008
Fifty-two Fifty-two Fifty-two Fifty-two Fifty-hree
Weeks Ended Weeks Ended Weeks Ended Weeks Endeeeks Ended
December 29, December 31, January 1, January 2, January 3,
2012 (1) 2011 2011 (k) 2010 (j) 2009 (i)
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data:
Net sales $ 1,701,42' $ 1,797,24! $ 724,90¢ $ 597,80t $ 807,49.
Cost of sales and operating expenses (a) 1,232,60. 1,268,22. 531,69¢ 439,81" 614,56
Selling, general and administrative expenses 151,71¢ 136,13! 68,04: 61,06: 59,76:
Depreciation and amortization 85,37: 78,90¢ 31,90¢ 25,22¢ 24,43:
Acquisition costs — — 10,79¢ 46€ —
Goodwill impairment (b) — — — — 15,91«
Operating income 231,74 313,98« 82,46: 71,23 92,817
Interest expense (c) 24,05¢ 37,16 8,731 3,10¢ 3,01¢
Other (income)/expense, net (a), (d), (e), () (1,760) 2,95¢ 3,382 1,24¢ (1179)
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated subsidiary 2,662 1,572 — — —
Income from continuing operations before incomegax 206,78t 272,29: 70,34: 66,87¢ 89,91¢
Income tax expense 76,01t 102,87¢ 26,10( 25,08¢ 35,35¢
Net Income $ 130,77C $ 169,41¢ $ 44,247 $ 41,79C $ 54,56
Basic earnings per common share $ 111 $ 147 $ 05 $ 051 $ 0.67
Diluted earnings per common share $ 111 $ 147 $ 0.5 $ 051 $ 0.6€
Weighted average shares outstanding 117,59: 114,92: 82,85« 82,14: 81,68t
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 118,08¢ 115,52¢ 83,24 82,47" 82,24¢
Other Financial Data:
Adjusted EBITDA (a), (g) $ 317,11 $ 392,89, $ 114,37C $ 96,45¢ $ 133,16:
Depreciation 57,30t 50,89: 26,32¢ 21,39¢ 19,26¢
Amortization 28,06¢ 28,01¢ 5,58( 3,82¢ 5,167
Capital expenditures (h) 115,41 60,15 24,72( 23,63¢ 31,00¢
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $ 158,57¢ $ 92,42 $ 30,75¢ $ 75,10C $ 67,44¢
Total assets 1,552,411 1,417,033 1,382,25i 426,17 394,37!
Current portion of long-term debt 82 10 3,00¢ 5,00¢ 5,00(
Total long-term debt less current portion 250,14 280,02( 707,03( 27,53¢ 32,50(
Stockholders’ equity 1,062,43 920,37! 464,29t 284,87 236,57¢

(a) Fiscal 2011 through fiscal 2008 includes certaiilorpyear immaterial amounts that have been redladsto conform to fiscal 20:
presentation.

(b) Includes a goodwill impairment charge of $9l&illion in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008

(c) Included in interest expense for fiscal 208 gpproximately $ 3.1 milliofor bank financing fees paid as a result of theugsition of
Griffin and in fiscal 2011 includes the write-off approximately $ 4.9 milliorin deferred loan costs from payments on the tern
portion of the Company's Secured Credit Facilitiddditionally, fiscal 2012 includes the write-off approximately $ 0.7 milliorin
deferred loan costs as a result of the final pagofthe term loan portion of the Company's Secredlit Facilities.

(d) Included in other (income)/expense in fiscall@ is a write-off of deferred loan costs of appmoately $ 0.9 millionfor the earl
termination of a previous senior credit agreement.
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(e)

()

C))

Included in other (income)/expense in fisd@l@ is a write-off of property for fire and casyadlbsses of approximately $ 1.0 millidor
losses incurred in plant fires at two plant locasio

Included in other (income)/expense in fisc@l2 are gain contingencies from insurance procedsfiscal 2012 and fiscal 20Xbe anc
casualty losses of approximately $ 4.7 million .

Adjusted EBITDA is presented here not as &eriahtive to net income, but rather as a measutkeo€ompanys operating performan
and is not intended to be a presentation in acooslavith U.S. generally accepted accounting priesig"GAAP"). Since EBITDA i
not calculated identically by all companies, theegentation in this report may not be comparableghtuse disclosed by otf
companies. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated below aeg@resents, for any relevant period, net incomsgflqplus depreciation a
amortization, goodwill and lontived asset impairment, interest expense, (incdos=)ffrom discontinued operations, net of tax, me
tax provision, other income/(expense) and equitgghloss of unconsolidated subsidiary. The Comfmatieves adjusted EBITDA is
useful measure for investors because it is fredyi@sed by securities analysts, investors and dttierested parties in the evaluatiol
companies in the Company's industry. In additimanagement believes that adjusted EBITDA is usefdvaluating the Compan
operating performance compared to that of otherpaoies in its industry because the calculation djfisted EBITDA general
eliminates the effects of financing, income taxed eertain noreash and other items that may vary for differemhpanies for reaso
unrelated to overall operating performance. Agsult, the Compang’ management uses adjusted EBITDA as a measunaltoag
performance and for other discretionary purpos¢mwever, adjusted EBITDA is not a recognized meament under GAAP, should 1
be considered as an alternative to net incomenasagure of operating results or to cash flow agasore of liquidity, and is not intenc
to be a presentation in accordance with GAAP. Aliace adjusted EBITDA is not calculated identicdly all companies, tt
presentation in this report may not be comparablthdse disclosed by other companies. In additioth¢ foregoing, management ¢
uses or will use adjusted EBITDA to measure comgkawith certain financial covenants under the Camy{s Senior Secured Cre
Facilities and Senior Unsecured Notes. The amoshtsvn below for adjusted EBITDA differ from the ammts calculated unc
similarly titled definitions in the Comparg’Senior Secured Credit Facilities and Senior Wnset Notes, as those definitions pe
further adjustments to reflect certain other noshoegharges.

Reconciliation of Net Income to Adjusted EBITDA

December 29, December 31, January 1, January 2, January 3,
(dollars in thousands) 2012 2011 2011 2010 2009
Net income $ 130,77( $ 169,41¢ $ 44.24: $ 41,79C $ 54,56:

Depreciation and amortization 85,37 78,90¢ 31,90¢ 25,22¢ 24,43
Goodwill impairment — — — — 15,91«
Interest expense 24,05« 37,16 8,731 3,10¢ 3,01¢
Income tax expense 76,01¢ 102,87¢ 26,10( 25,08¢ 35,35¢
Other, net (2,760 2,95¢ 3,38 1,24¢ (117)
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated

subsidiary 2,66: 1,57 — — —
Adjusted EBITDA $ 317,11 $ 392,89 $ 114,37 $ 96,45¢ $ 133,16«

(h) Excludes the capital assets acquired as pateoRVO BioPur, LLC acquisition in fiscal 2012 approximately $ 0.6 million Also,

(i)

0

(k)

o

excludes the capital assets acquired as part dflénger of Griffin and from Nebraska By-Products;.lof approximately 243.7 millior
in fiscal 2010 and excludes the capital assetsigmjin fiscal 2008 from API Recycling’s used caudioil collection business of %4
million . Finally, also excludes the capital assecquired in fiscal 200&%rom Boca Industries, Inc. and Sanimax USA, Inc
approximately $ 8.0 million .

Subsequent to the date of acquisition, fi@08 includes 19veeks of contribution from the API Recycling usexbking oil collectiol
business.

Subsequent to the date of acquisition, fi’@09 includes 4%veeks of contribution from the acquired assets @éaBIndustries, Inc. a
does not include any contribution from assets aedurom Sanimax USA, Inc. as the acquisition ogadion December 31, 2009.

Subsequent to the date of acquisition, fiHO0 includes 2 weeks of contribution from the farifissets and 3Wweeks of contributic
from the assets of Nebraska By-Products, Inc.

Subsequent to the date of acquisition, fi&tH?2 includes 2%eeks of contribution from the RVO BioPur, LLC atss
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’'s Discussion and AnalysfsFinancial Condition and Results of Operationsitams forwardeooking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintidse Tompany's actual results could differ materiflbm those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of certain faciodyuding those set forth below under the headigrivard Looking Statements" and elsewhe
this report, and in Item 1A of this report undes tteading "Risk Factors.”

The following discussion should be read in conjiarcivith the historical consolidated financial staents and notes thereto include
Item 8. During fiscal 2010 the Company was organized into two operatingrass segments, Rendering and Restaurant Senrdffestive
January 2, 2011as a result of the acquisition of Griffin (asthar described below), the Company's business tipesavere reorganized into t
new segments, Rendering and Bakery, in order tebalign its business with the underlying marlkatd customers that the Company serve:
historical periods have been restated for the obmrig the segment reporting structure. Compara@gment revenues amdlated financie
information are discussed herein and are presémtddte 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Overview

The Company is a leading provider of renderingdusmoking oil and bakery residual recycling ancokey solutions to the nation's fc
industry. The Company collects and recycles anilmaproducts, bakery residual and used cooking oil frooultry and meat processo
commercial bakeries, grocery stores, butcher stamsfood service establishments and provides giteag cleaning services to many of the <
establishments. On December 17, 20Darling completed its acquisition of Griffin puent to the Merger Agreement, by and among Da
Griffin and Robert A. Griffin, as the Griffin shdrelders' representative. Griffin survived the Margas a whollyewned subsidiary
Darling. The Company operates over I#@cessing and transfer facilities located throughtbe United States to process raw materials
finished products such as protein (primarily meat bone meal, ("MBM") and poultry meal ("PM")), lefg|, fats (primarily bleachable fancy tall
("BFT"), poultry grease ("PG") and yellow greas¥@")), and bakery by-product ("BBP") as well asaage of branded and valaelded product
The Company sells these products domestically atedriationally, primarily to producers of animaéée pet food, fertilizer, biddels and othe
consumer and industrial ingredients, including atbemicals, soaps and leather goods for use asdiagte in their products or for furtt
processing. All of the Company's finished produats commodities and are priced relative to comgetommaodities, primarily inedible co
soybean oil, inedible corn oil and soybean meatisked product prices will track as to nutritiormald industry value to the ultimate custoreer’
use of the product. The Company's fiscal 2012fmedl 2011 business and operations includev®&ks of contribution from the assets acquire
the Griffin Transaction as compared to 2 weeksasftigbution from these assets in fiscal 2Q1Bor additional information on the Compai
business, see Item 1, "Business," and for additiofarmation on the Company's segments, see Not@f2Notes to Consolidated Finan
Statements.

Fiscal 2012 was once again a strong year for tlpg@oy. Earnings performance was modestly weakerfteeal 2011, but the Compe
still achieved the second best year in its 130 yestory. Lower finished product prices for the Gmany's industry were the primary driy
Historically finished product markets continuedtba high end of the range and the Company sawlthralgfeed grains and oilseed markets tc
record highs; however, the Company's finished prtxibecame discounted versus their traditional faistbrical relationships. Aiding the
discounts were increased slaughter weights, additisolumes of inedible corn oil from the ethanotlustry, a continued slowness of Ml
exports to Indonesia and the reluctance of Eurom@low used cooking oil imports in a meaningfulrmar. Overall, raw material volumes for
and bone for fiscal 2012 was about the same aal %11, and the Company's raw material volumes frestaurants and bakeries were dt
The Company's restaurant service benefited ad theeconomy improved and eating out normalizedyaver the used cooking oil margins w
challenged due to competition for raw material atiter competing fats. Energy costs for naturalagabdiesel fuel were favorable in fiscal 2
as compared to fiscal 2011. Overall operatingscogtre effectively managed and a strong capitafargment program was deployed.

The bakery business segment made a solid contiibdtiring fiscal 2012. Input volumes were sluggishing the first half of the year, t
returned to historical and anticipated levels bgeluCookie Meal@®prices improved and tracked with the rising priéecarn, which ultimatel
drove bakery segment earnings.

Operating income of $ 231.7 million decreased 828 million in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 201The continuing challenges fax

by the Company as discussed below, indicate threrde no assurance that operating results achmyvtte Company in fiscal 20%e indicativ:
of future operating performance of the Company.
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Summary of Critical Issues Faced by the Company dumg Fiscal 2012

» Lower finished product prices for California MBMFB, PG and YG as compared to fiscal 2011 is a sfgitecreased demand due
slowdown in the domestic and international mark&tsese lower prices were partially offset by anreltdncrease in average ME
(lllinois), PM (both feed grade and pet food) armmnc prices which are used to price BBP. Overalijsfied product prices we
unfavorable to the Company's sales revenue, bsitutifiavorable result was partially offset by théuetion in raw material cost, due
the Company's formula pricing arrangements with naaterial suppliers, which index raw material dosthe prices of finished prodt
derived from the raw material. The financial impatfinished goods prices on sales revenue andmaterial cost is summarized bel
in Results of Operations. Comparative sales pnéarination from the Jacobsen Index, an establigreing exchange publisher (
"Jacobsen") used by management to monitor perfarenas provided below in Summary of Key Indicators.

* The Company collected lower raw material volumediscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 due to aleveaker slaughter a
processor rates as a result of economic conditiorte animal processing industry. If the reductiorslaughter and processor r:
continues or accelerates, there could be a negatpact on the Company's ability to obtain raw miate for the Company's operations.

» Energy prices for natural gas and diesel fuel dedliduring fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 20h&. financial impact of energy cost
summarized below in Results of Operations.

Summary of Critical Issues and Known Trends Faced ythe Company in Fiscal 2013 and Thereafter

Critical Issues and Challenges

» The impact of the 2012 summer drought in the Midveesl other parts of the United States resultea significant decline in 2012 cr
production. Prices of grains and grain producisng fiscal 2012 increased to near historical kiglvhile price increases of these gr
and ingredients may be favorable for the sellingeppf the Company's finished products in the skemin, the severity of these pr
increases could be detrimental to the future pribda@conomics of meat and poultry. A decreasgraduction by the meat and pou
processors as a result of these economic conditionisl have a negative impact on the availabitityantity and quality of raw materi
available to the Company in the future.

» During the second quarter of fiscal 2012, Indonekiaed its markets to MBM derived from U.S. beefésponse to a new, single cas
BSE, and those markets remain closed as of tmg fidate of this Report. If the Indonesia markettiomes to remain closed, there cc
be a continuing impact on the Company's West Cialigtl market which could have a negative impact om @ompany's earnings
future periods.

» Finished product prices for MBM in California andFB, PG and YG commodities have decreased duricglf&012 as compared to
same period of fiscal 2011. No assurance canvandhat this decrease in commodity prices forotazifats and certain regional prott
will not continue in the future, as commodity pscare volatile by their nature. A further decreaseommodity prices could have
significant impact on the Company’s earnings fecdil 2013 and into future periods.

» The Company collected lower raw material volumediscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2011 due to aleveaker slaughter a
processor rates as a result of economic conditiottse animal processing industry. If this redust@mntinues or accelerates, there ¢
be a negative impact on the Company's ability taiotraw materials for the Company's operatiorthénfuture.

e The Company consumes significant volumes of natgas to operate boilers in its plants, which geeesteam to heat re
material. Natural gas represents a significantgmmment of factory cost included in cost of sal@ke Company also consumes signifit
volumes of diesel fuel to operate its fleet of toas and trucks used to collect raw material. Bliéisel represents a significant compot
of collection costs included in cost of sales. lkeowatural gas and diesel fuel prices were realizgihg fiscal 2012 as compared to fi
2011. These prices can be volatile and there carmlassurance that these prices will not increaslea near future, thereby represer
an ongoing challenge to the Compangperating results for future periods. A mateirarease in energy prices for natural gas al
diesel fuel over a sustained period of time coubttamally adversely affect the Compasybusiness, financial condition and result
operations.
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Worldwide Government Energy and Trade Policies

» As previously noted, prices for the Companyinished products may be impacted by worldwideregoment policies relating
renewable fuels and greenhouse gas emissions,ragthms such as RFS2 and tax credits forfbéds both in the U.S. and abroad t
positively impact the demand for the Company’ssti@d products. See the risk factor entitled "Then@anys business may be affec
by energy and trade policies of U.S. and foreigmegoments,” on page 14, for more information regaydRFS2 and how changes
these worldwide government policies could havegatiee impact on the Company’s business and resfitiperations.

» The Company exports are subject to the imposition of tariffaptas, trade barriers and other trade protectieasures imposed
foreign countries regarding the import of the Compa MBM, BFT and YG. General economic and politicahditions as well as tl
closing of borders by foreign countries to the impd the Companys products due to animal disease or other percédigatth or safe
issues impact the Company. As a result trade jesliof both U.S and foreign countries could havegative impact on the Company’
business and results of operations.

Other Food Safety and Regulatory Issues

» Effective August 1997, the FDA promulgated the BS#ed Rule prohibiting the use of mammalian proteivith some exceptions,
feeds for cattle, sheep and other ruminant aninfdis.intent of this rule is to prevent the sprea@®E, commonly referred to as "n
cow disease." As previously noted, in October 20@9FDA began enforcing the Enhanced BSE Ruleth@dCompany made cap
expenditures and implemented new processes an@édwas to be compliant with the Enhanced BSE Rulelleof the Company
operations.

Even though the export markets for U.S. beef rededrnio exceed pBSE levels and set records for volume in 2011 aldevin 201z
most export markets remain closed to MBM derivaainfrU.S. beef. Continued concern about BSE in thged States may result
additional regulatory and market related challertgpasmay affect the Company's operations or irsgreée Company's operating costs.

»  With respect to human food, pet food and animatl feafety, the FDAAA was signed into law on Septenig 2007 as a result
Congressional concern for pet and livestock foddtgafollowing the discovery in March 2007 of paid livestock food that contair
adulterated imported ingredients. As previousliedpthe FDAAA establishes the Reportable Food ®BgiThe impact of the FDAA
and implementation of the Reportable Food Registrythe Company, if any, will not be clear until tRBA finalizes its RFR Dra
Guidance and the Draft CPG, neither of which wémalized as of the date of this report. The Comgpbelieves that it has adequ
procedures in place to assure that its finishedliymts are safe to use in animal feed and pet foddilee Company does not curre
anticipate that the FDAAA will have a significampact on the Comparg/’operations or financial performance. Any patmpgeich a
salmonella, that is correctly or incorrectly asateil with the Compang’finished products could have a negative impadherdemanc
for the Company’s finished products.

In addition, on January 4, 2011 the FSMA was emhtt® law. As enacted, the FSMA gave the FDA rauhorities, which becar
effective immediately. Included among these is naémy recall authority for adulterated foods thed bBkely to cause serious adve
health consequences or death to humans or aniihtig, responsible party fails to cease distributand recall such adulterated fo
voluntarily. As previously noted, the Company lelowed the FSMA throughout its legislative histoand implemented haz:
prevention controls and other procedures that th@gany believes will be needed to comply with tisVA. Such rulemaking coulc
among other things, require the Company to amertdineof the Compang’ other operational policies and procedures. Winleresee
issues and requirements may arise as the FDA pgatad the new regulations provided for by the FSk#®, Company does r
anticipate that the costs of compliance with th&RSwill materially impact the Company’s businessaperations.

See the risk factor entitled "The Company's busimeay be affected by the impact of BSE and othed feafety issues," beginning
page 15, for more information about BSE, including Enhanced BSE Rule, and other food safety ismuesheir potential effects on
Company, including the potential effects of addiib government regulations, finished product expa@strictions by foreig
governments, market price fluctuations for finistgabds, reduced demand for beef and beef prodyctohsumers and increase:!
operating costs resulting from BSE-related concerns

» The emergence of diseases such as Swine Flu anly pathogenic strains of avian influenza, inclgdBird Flu, that are in or associa
with animals and have the potential to also thredtemans has created concern that such diseaskk sppead and cause a glc
pandemic. The H5N1 strain has not been reportédioith America. Outbreaks of the H7N3 strain, howewveere reported on chick
farms in Mexico during 2012, in July and again iec@mber. A new
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outbreak of the H7N3 virus on seven commercial l@mncfarms in Mexico was confirmed February 16, 2d#8Mexican animal heal
authorities. As of the date of this report, thoughither Bird Flu nor Swine Flu has been linkedatglobal disease pandemic am
humans. Even though such a pandemic has not odcgoegernments may be pressured to address theseros and prohibit imports
animals, meat and animal fpyeducts from countries or regions where the deséasletected. The occurrence of Swine Flu, Bird di
any other disease in the United States that isecthyr or incorrectly linked to animals and has g@at&ve impact on meat or poul
consumption or animal production could have a nelteegative impact on the volume of raw materalailable to the Company or -
demand for the Company's finished products

These challenges indicate there can be no assuttaatdéscal 2012 operating results are indicatif&uture operating performance of the
Company.

Results of Operations

Fifty-two Week Fiscal Year Ended December 29, 2(Q1Riscal 2012”) Compared to Fiftytwo Week Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2
(“Fiscal 2011")

Summary of Key Factors Impacting Fiscal 2012 Resusgt

Principal factors that contributed to a $ 82.3 imilldecrease in operating income, which are discussedeater detalil in the followil
section, were:

¢ Decrease in finished product prices, net of reduaedmaterial cos

» Decrease in raw material volurr

¢ Increases in payroll and related benefit costs

« A prior year purchase contingency gain nobcetring in the current ye.

These decreases were partially offset by:

« Decrease in energy costs, primarily natural gasdieskl fuel, an
¢ Increase in yiel(

Summary of Key Indicators of Fiscal 2012 Performane:

Principal indicators that management routinely rasiand compares to previous periods as an irichfproblems or improvements
operating results include:

¢ Finished product commaodity pric

* Raw material volum:

¢ Production volume and related yield of finisheddurct

« Energy prices for natural gas quoted on the NYMEd&ex and diesel fut
« Collection fees and collection operating expenane

» Factory operating expens

These indicators and their importance are discuisskxv in greater detail.

Finished Product Commodity PriceRrices for finished product commodities that thenpany produces are reported each busines
on the Jacobsen, an established trading exchaigeublisher. The Jacobsen reports industry $edes the prior day's activity by product. 1
Jacobsen includes reported prices for MBM, PM (fetd grade and pet food), BFT, PG and YG, whigherd products of the Compat
Rendering Segment. During the first quarter of &i012, the Jacobsen stopped reporting BBP, which isetitk product of the Compan
Bakery Segment. As a result, the Company is rempgrices for corn, which is a substitute commotttyBBP. The Company regularly monit
Jacobsen reports on MBM, PM, BFT, PG, YG and carcahse they provide a daily indication of the Comyfsarevenue performance aga
business plan benchmarks. Although the Jacobsemndpsoone useful metric of performance, the Comisafiyished products are commodi
that compete with other commodities such as cargbean oil, inedible corn oil, palm oils, soybearaihand heating oil on nutritional &
functional values and therefore actual pricingtfe Company's finished products, as well as comgetioducts, can be quite volatile. In addit
the Jacobsen does not provide forward or futuréog@esricing. The Jacobsen prices quoted below aredélivery of the finished product a
specified location. Although the Company's priceaagally move in concert with reported Jacobseceprithe Company's actual sales price
its finished products may vary significantly frohretJacobsen because of
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delivery timing differences and because the Comgdinyished products are delivered to multiple tawas in different geographic regions wr
utilize different price indexes. In addition, céntaf the Company's premium branded finished prtglatay also sell at prices that may be hi
than the closest related product quoted by Jacolaing Fiscal 2012 the Company's actual sales prices by producté@mvith the reporte
Jacobsen prices. Average Jacobsen prices (at ¢uifisg delivery point) for Fiscal 2012 , compatedaverage Jacobsen prices fiscal 201
follow:

Avg. Price Avg. Price %
Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011 Increase/(Decreas Increase/(Decreas
Rendering Segment:
MBM (lllinois) $405.58/ton $354.84/ton $ 50.7ait 14.3%
MBM (California) $356.02/ton $360.32/ton $ (4.30/ton) 1.2)%
Feed Grade PM (Carolina) $483.78/ton $400.21/ton  $ 83.57/ton 20.9%
Pet Food PM (Southeast) $713.76/ton $637.30/ton $ 76.46/ton 12.0%
BFT (Chicago) $ 43.83/cwt $ 49.58/cwt $ (5.78)kcw (11.6)%
PG (Southeast) $42.71/cwt $ 45.94/cwt $ (3.23/cwt) (7.0)%
YG (lllinois) $ 37.31/cwt $ 43.19/cwt $ (5.88/w (13.6)%
Bakery Segment:
Corn (lllinois) $7.21/bushel $6.89/bushel $ CGe&hel 4.6%

The overall decrease in average California MBM, BPG, and YG prices of the finished products thenfany sells had an unfavora
impact on revenue that was partially offset by sarall increase in average lllinois MBM, average fth feed grade and pet food) and «
prices and the reduction to the Company's raw natewst resulting from formula pricing arrangensgmhich compute raw material cost bz
upon the price of finished product.

During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2012he Company experienced a significant declinenost of its average commaodity prices
compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2012 . filewing table shows the average Jacobsen fofdheh quarter of Fiscal 201&s compared
the average Jacobsen for the third quarter of FXIE .

Avg. Price Avg. Price %
4th Quarter 2012 3rd Quarter 2012 Increase/(Decreas Increase/(Decreas

Rendering Segment:

MBM (lllinois) $417.76/ton $461.10/ton $ (43.821) (9.4)%
MBM (California) $372.16/ton $369.04/ton $ 3.12/ton 0.8%
Feed Grade PM (Carolina) $510.87/ton $557.35/ton  $ (46.48/ton) (8.3)%
Pet Food PM (Southeast) $777.99/ton $713.75/ton $ 64.24/ton 9.0%
BFT (Chicago) $ 36.78/cwt $ 45.18/cwt $ (8.40)cw (18.6)%
PG (Southeast) $ 37.52/cwt $ 43.76/cwt $ (6.24/cwt) (14.3)%
YG (lllinois) $ 32.87/cwt $ 37.35/cwt $ (4.48/Hw (12.0)%
Bakery Segment:
Corn (lllinois) $7.45/bushel $8.19/bushel $(Gbishel) (9.0)%

Raw Material VolumeRaw material volume represents the quantity (pouafisaw material collected from Rendering Segnsempliers
such as beef, poultry and pork processors, grostengs, butcher shops and food service establisisinenin the case of the Bakery Segmr
commercial bakeries. Raw material volumes fromGoepany's Rendering Segment suppliers provide @indtion of the future production
MBM, PM (feed grade and pet food), BFT, PG and Y@shed products while raw material volumes frore thompany's Bakery Segm
suppliers provide an indication of the future pratittn of BBP finished products.

Production Volume and Related Yield of Finishedd®. Finished product production volumes are the endltres the Company
production processes, and directly impact good#adla for sale, and thus, become an important @mapt of sales revenue. In addition, phy:
inventory turnover is impacted by both the avallgbbf credit to the Company's customers and sieppland reduced market demand which
lower finished product inventory values. Yield amguction is a ratio of
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production volume (pounds), divided by raw matevielume (pounds) and provides an indication of @ffeness of the Company's produc
process. Factors impacting yield on productionudel the quality of raw material and warm weatherindusummer months, which rapi
degrades raw material. The quantities of finishexipcts produced varies depending on the mix ofmaterials used in production. For exarr
raw material from cattle yields more fat and pnotiian raw material from pork or poultry. Accordinghe mix of finished products produced
the Company can vary from quarter to quarter deipgndn the type of raw material being received by Company. The Company car
increase the production of protein or fat basedemand since the type of raw material availablédigtate the yield of each finished product.

Energy Prices for Natural Gas Quoted on the NYMEaek and Diesel FueNatural gas and heating oil commodity prices aretep
each day on the NYMEX exchange for future monthdeadivery of natural gas and delivery of diesel flldne prices are important to the Comp
because natural gas and diesel fuel are major coemp® of factory operating and collection costs aatliral gas and diesel fuel prices ar
indicator of achievement of the Company's busipées.

Collection Fees and Collection Operating Experidee Company charges collection fees which are deaun net sales. Each month
Company monitors both the collection fee chargesuapliers, which is included in net sales, andkectibn expense, which is included in cos
sales. The importance of monitoring collection faes collection expense is that they provide ancatibn of achievement of the Compal
business plan. Furthermore, management monitolectioh fees and collection expense so that the gamy can consider implementing meas
to mitigate against unforeseen increases in thgsenses.

Factory Operating Expense$he Company incurs factory operating expenses whiehincluded in cost of sales. Each montt
Company monitors factory operating expense. Theoitapce of monitoring factory operating expensehiat it provides an indication
achievement of the Company's business plan. Fantrer, when unforeseen expense increases occuGdimpany can consider implement
measures to mitigate such increases.

Net SalesThe Company collects and processes animgbrbgucts (fat, bones and offal), including hideakdry residual and us
cooking oil to principally produce finished prodsicif MBM, PM (feed grade and pet food), BFT, PG,,\BBP and hides as well as a rang
branded and valuadded products. Sales are significantly affectedirighed goods prices, quality and mix of raw miale and volume of ra
material. Net sales include the sales of produgddhied goods, collection fees, fees for greage $exvices, and finished goods purchase
resale.

During Fiscal 2012 , net sales were $ 1,701.4 onilids compared to $ 1,797.2 million during Fisd@l®. The Rendering Segmel
operations processes animal frpducts and used cooking oil into fats (primaBlT, PG and YG), protein (primarily MBM and PM (fegrad
and pet food)) and hides. Fat was approximate 0% Bmillion and $ 950.8 million of net sales ftvetyear ended December 29, 2GR
December 31, 2011 , respectively, and protein veasoximately $ 496.2 million and $ 447.7 million ét sales for the year endedcember 2!
2012 and December 31, 2011 , respectively. Theedserin Rendering Segment sales of $ 95.2 millimhthe decrease in Bakery Segment
of $ 0.6 million accounted for the $ 95.8 milliciecrease in sales. The decrease in net sales waaripyr due to the following (in millions
dollars):

Rendering Bakery Corporate Total
Increase/(decrease) in finished product price $ (69.9 $ 9.7 $ — $ (60.2)
Decrease in raw material volume (27.2) (14.¢) — (41.%)
Decrease in other sales 1.¢ 4.3 — 6.2
$ (95.2) $ (0.6) $ — 3 (95.9)

Further detail regarding the $ 95.2 million deceemssales in the Rendering Segment and the $ lliémdecrease in sales in the Bakery Segi
is as follows:

Rendering

Finished Product PriceslL.ower prices in the overall commodity market gmybean oil, inedible corn oil and palm oil whiate @ompetin
fats to BFT and PG, negatively impacted the Comjsdimjished product prices. In addition, a decreaaggobal demand for use of YG in bio-
fuels negatively impacted the Company's finisheatipct prices. The $ 69.9 milliaslecrease in Rendering sales resulting from decée
finished product prices is due to a markéde decrease in California MBM, BFT, PG and YCcps, but was slightly offset by an increas
MBM (lllinois) and PM (both feed grade and pet fpqulices for Fiscal 2012 as compared to Fiscal 2001e market decreases were di
changes in supply/demand in both the domestic apdremarkets for commodity fats and protein mealsluding MBM, BFT, PG and YG.
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Raw Material Volume Rendering volumes decreased Rendering salespygamately $ 27.2 million which is a result of weaker slaugt
and processor rates as a result of economic condith the animal processing industry in Fiscal284& compared to Fiscal 2011 .

Other Sales The $ 1.9 millionincrease in other Rendering Segment sales was fisindaie to increased purchases of finished prodion
resale and an increase in yield that more tharbffslecrease in collection fees and hide sales.

Bakery

Finished Product PricesHigher prices in the commodity market for corrsitigely impacted the Company's BBP finished prdduices b
approximately $ 9.7 million .

Raw Material Volume Lower Bakery volumes decreased Bakery sales pyoapmately $ 14.6 million which is due to production cutba
by the Company's commercial bakery suppliers.

Other Sales The $ 4.3 million increase in other Bakery Seghsates is due to an increase in yields.

Cost of Sales and Operating Expengésst of sales and operating expenses include #teo€oaw material, the cost of product purchi
for resale and the cost to collect raw materialictviincludes diesel fuel and processing costs dioly natural gas. The Company utilizes |
fixed and formula pricing methods for the purchaderaw materials. Fixed prices are adjusted whearssiple for changes in competiti
Significant changes in finished goods market camatt impact finished product inventory values, whihw materials purchased under forr
prices are correlated with specific finished gopdses. Energy costs, particularly diesel fuel aatlural gas, are significant components o
Company's cost structure. The Company has theyabiliburn alternative fuels at a majority of iteuts to help manage the Company's |
exposure to volatile energy markets.

During Fiscal 2012 , cost of sales and operatimerges were $ 1,232.6 million as compared to $8122@illion during Fiscal 2011The
decrease in Rendering Segment cost of sales ardtiopgeexpenses of $ 38.4 milliend the increase in Bakery Segment cost of sald
operating expenses of $ 1.5 million accounted tdrstantially all of the $ 35.6 milliodecrease in cost of sales and operating expenke
decrease in cost of sales and operating expensegrimzarily due to the following (in millions of tars):

Rendering Bakery Corporate Total
Increase/(decrease) in raw material costs ~ $ (345 % 9.¢ $ — $ (24.6€)
Decrease in raw material volume (9.9) (6.6 — (16.2)
Increase/(decrease) in other cost of sales 12.1 1.2 1.5 12.4
Decrease in energy costs, primarily
natural gas and diesel fuel (6.€) (0.9 (0.2 (7.2)
$ (3849 % 15 $ 12 $ (35.6)

Further detail regarding the $ 38.4 million decee&scost of sales and operating expenses in thdd®img Segment and the $ 1.5 milliocreas
in Bakery Segment is as follows:

Rendering

Raw Material Costs A portion of the Compang’ volume of raw material is acquired on a formuais. Under a formula arrangement,
cost of raw material is tied to the finished pradomarket for MBM, PM (both feed grade and pet fod8lFT, PG and YG. Since finish
product prices overall were lower in Fiscal 2012campared to the same period in Fiscal 2011 , &le material costs decreaseB4.t
million .

Raw Material volume Production cutbacks from packers and processstdted in lower raw material available to be pssesel and formu
pricing resulted in lower cost of sales of approadety $ 9.4 million. A portion of the Company's volume of raw mateisahcquired on
formula basis. Under a formula arrangement, thé a@fow material is tied to finished product maske

Other Cost of SalesThe $ 12.1 milliorincrease in other expense includes increases ghase of finished product for resale and increas
payroll and related benefits.
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Energy Costs Both natural gas and diesel fuel are major coreptof factory and collection operating costsh® Rendering Segme
During Fiscal 2012 , energy costs were lower ardrefiected in the $ 6.6 milliodecrease due primarily to lower natural gas andedliieie
costs as compared to the same period in Fiscal 2011

Bakery

Raw Material Costs The Companys Bakery raw material is acquired on a formulasadsnder these formula arrangements, the costw
material is tied to the market value of corn. Sifinesshed product prices overall for corn were t@gin Fiscal 2012s compared to the sa
period in Fiscal 2011 , the raw material cost iasel approximately $ 9.9 million .

Raw Material Volume: Production cutbacks from the Company's suppliesulted in lower raw material available to be pssed ar
formula pricing resulted in a decrease to costtdssof approximately $ 6.8 million .

Other Costs of SalesThe $ 1.2 milliondecrease in other cost of sales includes decréasepairs and maintenance and other ge
reductions as a result of less raw material prazkss

Energy Costs Natural gas is a component of factory operatingts During Fiscal 2012 natural gas costs wereld@g compared tBisca
2011 and are reflected in the $ 0.4 million deceéa<ost of sales.

Selling, General and Administrative Expensgalling, general and administrative expenses welg1$7 million during Fiscal 2012a
15.6 million increase ( 11.5% ) from $ 136.1 mifliduring Fiscal 2011 Selling, general and administrative expensesasad primarily due
payroll and related expense increases and a FA8&4! purchase accounting contingency gain thahdide-occur in Fiscal 2012The increase
selling, general and administrative expenses mamily due to the following (in millions of dollaxs

Rendering Bakery Corporate Total

Payroll and related benefits expense $ 54% 0c $ 5 % 12.2
Increase from prior year purchase accounting cgatiny 3.1 0.7 — 3.8
Increase/(decrease) in other 0.2 0.3 (0.9 (0.4)
$ 8.7% 12 % 5€ $ 15.€

Depreciation and AmortizatiorDepreciation and amortization charges increased $rfillion ( 8.2% ) to $ 85.4 million durinfisca
2012 as compared to $ 78.9 million during Fiscal20The increase in depreciation and amortizatioprisarily due to a general increast
capital expenditures.

Interest Expensénterest expense was $ 24.1 million during Fis€l2compared to $ 37.2 million during Fiscal 20HL.decrease ol
13.1 million, primarily due to a decrease in debt outstandgg eesult of prior year and current year payoffthe Company's revolver and te
debt facilities, which includes a reduction in #maount of the Company's term loan facility deferieh costs due to writeffs of approximatel
$ 0.7 million in Fiscal 2012 as compared to apprately $ 4.9 million in Fiscal 2011 .

Other Income/Expens©ther income was $ 1.8 million in Fiscal 2012 campared to other expense of $ 3.0 million in Hig€4 1. This
increase of $ 4.8 million is primarily due to inaoce recovery proceeds on prior year and curreant fy@ losses received in Fiscal 204:2d ¢
decrease in other non-operating expenses that timamenffset an increase in casualty loss from ldané Sandy.

Equity in Net Loss in Investment of Unconsolideé@edsidiary. Represents the Company's portion of the experfsée Joint Ventui
with Valero in Fiscal 2012 In Fiscal 2012 the net loss was $2.7 million canep to $1.6 million in Fiscal 2011. The $1.1 roifliincrease in n
loss was due to an increase in non-capitalizedresqgeduring construction.

Income TaxesThe Company recorded income tax expense of $ 78li@mrfor Fiscal 2012 , compared to income tax expe of $102.¢
million recorded in Fiscal 2011 , a decrease 06 2nillion , primarily due to a decrease in pre-¢arnings of the Company in Fiscal 2QIPhe
effective tax rate for Fiscal 2012 and Fiscal 2136.8% and 37.8% , respectively. The differemoenfthe federal statutory rate of 35%Hisca
2012 and Fiscal 2011 is primarily due to statesaad the section 199 qualified domestic produddietuction.
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Results of Operations

Fifty-two Week Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2QiEiscal 2011") Compared to Fiftypwo Week Fiscal Year Ended January 1, 2(
(“Fiscal 2010")

Certain Fiscal 2011 immaterial amounts have beelassified to conform to the Fiscal 2012 preseotatl hese immaterial reclassifications
changed the previously reported cost of sales pedating expense and other income/expense anhbisia.

Summary of Key Factors Impacting Fiscal 2011 Resusgt

Principal factors that contributed to a $ 231.5liomlincrease in operating income, which are discussegidater detail in the followil
section, were:

¢ Inclusion of a full 52 weeks of contribution froimet acquisition of Griffin, ar
« Improvements in finished product prices, offsejoylity downgrade

These factors which contributed to increases imaip® income were partially offset by:

* Increase in raw material cos

¢ Decrease in yiel

« Increases in payroll and incentixgated benefits, al
¢ Increase in energy costs primarily diesel 1

Summary of Key Indicators of Fiscal 2011 Performane:

Principal indicators that management routinely rmsiand compares to previous periods as an irdichfproblems or improvements
operating results include:

» Finished product commaodity pric

¢ Raw material volum:

* Production volume and related yield of finisheddurct

< Energy prices for natural gas quoted on the NYMBE&ex and diesel fut
» Collection fees and collection operating expenape

» Factory operating expens

These indicators and their importance are discuisskxv in greater detail.

Finished Product Commodity PriceRrices for finished product commodities that thenpany produces are reported each busines
on the Jacobsen, an established trading exchaigegblisher. The Jacobsen reports industry $edes the prior day's activity by product. 1
Jacobsen includes reported prices for MBM, PM (fetd grade and pet food), BFT, PG and YG, whigherd products of the Compat
Rendering Segment, as well as BBP, which is the poduct of the Company's Bakery Segment. The Campegularly monitors Jacobs
reports on MBM, PM, BFT, PG, YG and BBP becausg firevide a daily indication of the Company's revemperformance against business
benchmarks. Although the Jacobsen provides oneilusedtric of performance, the Company's finisheddpicts are commodities that comj
with other commodities such as corn, soybean almpils, soybean meal and heating oil on nutréland functional values and therefore ac
pricing for the Company's finished products, aslwsl competing products, can be quite volatileadidition, the Jacobsen does not pro
forward or future period pricing. The Jacobsengwmiquoted below are for delivery of the finisheddurct at a specified location. Although
Company's prices generally move in concert withoreggl Jacobsen prices, the Company's actual sates ffor its finished products may v
significantly from the Jacobsen because of delivéning differences and because the Company'shiégisproducts are delivered to mult
locations in different geographic regions whichizgi different price indexes. In addition, certaifithe Company's premium branded finis
products may also sell at prices that may be hitfrear the closest related product quoted by Jacoliagring Fiscal 2011 the Company's actt
sales prices by product trended with the reportambldsen prices. Average Jacobsen prices (at thufiegedelivery point) for Fiscal 2011
compared to average Jacobsen prices for Fiscal f20tb®:
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%
Avg. Price Avg. Price Increase/ Increase/

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease)

Rendering Segment:

MBM (lllinois) $354.84/ton $297.35/ton $ 57.49t 19.3%

Feed Grade PM (Carolina) $400.21/ton $366.89/ton $ 33.32/ton 9.1%

Pet Food PM (Southeast) $637.30/ton $606.55/ton  $ 30.75/ton 5.1%

BFT (Chicago) $ 49.58/cwt $ 33.43 /cwt $ 16.15/cwt 48.3%

PG (Southeast) $ 45.94/cwt $29.01 /ewt $ 16W6/ 58.4%

YG (lllinois) $ 43.19/cwt $ 26.89 /cwt $ 16.30/cwt 60.6%
Bakery Segment:

BBP (Chicago) $236.89/ton $143.57/ton $ 93.32/ton 65.0%

The overall increase in average prices of the Himisproducts the Company sells had a favorable dtnra revenue that was partic
offset by the negative impact to the Company's maaterial cost resulting from formula pricing arrangents, which compute raw material «
based upon the price of finished product.

During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2011the Company experienced a significant declinalinof its average commodity prices
compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2@l to reduced export of feed stock, and a deciags®tein prices, due to soft protein meal den
domestically as a result of cut-backs by poultrydoarcers. The following table shows the averagehkmofor the fourth quarter of Fiscal 20d<1
compared to the average Jacobsen for the thirdeyuarFiscal 2011 .

Avg. Price Avg. Price %
4th Quarter 2011 3rd Quarter 2011 Decrease Decrease

Rendering Segment:

MBM (lllinois) $309.69/ton $353.79/ton $ (44.164) (12.5)%

Feed Grade PM (Carolina) $364.42/ton $436.86/ton $ (72.44/ton) (16.6)%

Pet Food PM (Southeast) $610.57/ton $658.59/ton  $ (48.02/ton) (7.3)%

BFT (Chicago) $ 46.40/cwt $ 51.06/cwt $ (4.66/cwt) (9.1)%

PG (Southeast) $ 41.98/cwt $ 48.18/cwt $ (6\20)/c (12.9)%

YG (lllinois) $ 38.69/cwt $ 45.03/cwt $ (6.34/cwt) (14.1)%
Bakery Segment:

BBP (Chicago) $239.86/ton $250.34/ton $ (10.48/ton) (4.2)%

Raw Material VolumeRaw material volume represents the quantity (pouoflsaw material collected from Rendering Segnsepliers
such as beef poultry and pork processors, grodengss butcher shops and food service establistementin the case of the Bakery Segmrr
commercial bakeries. Raw material volumes fromGloenpany's Rendering Segment suppliers provide dindtion of the future production
MBM, PM (feed grade and pet food), BFT, PG and M@shed products while raw material volumes frore thompany's Bakery Segm
suppliers provide an indication of the future pratibn of BBP finished products.

Production Volume and Related Yield of Finisheddluad. Finished product production volumes are the endlres the Company
production processes, and directly impact good#8adla for sale, and thus, become an important eorapt of sales revenue. In addition, phy:
inventory turnover is impacted by both the avallgbbf credit to the Company's customers and sieppland reduced market demand which
lower finished product inventory values. Yield omguction is a ratio of production volume (poundtyided by raw material volume (poun
and provides an indication of effectiveness of @mmpany's production process. Factors impactintf yaa production include quality of r:
material and warm weather during summer monthschvhapidly degrades raw material. The quantitiedirihed products produced val
depending on the mix of raw materials used in pctidn. For example, raw material from cattle yietdgre fat and protein than raw material fi
pork or poultry. Accordingly, the mix of finishedq@ucts produced by the Company can vary from gu#stquarter depending on the type of
material being received by the Company. The Commamnot increase the production of protein or fdad on demand since the type of
material available will dictate the yield of eadghished product.

Energy Prices for Natural Gas Quoted on the NYMB#ek and Diesel FueNatural gas and heating oil commodity prices aretep
each day on the NYMEX exchange for future monthdadifvery of natural gas and delivery of diesel fiée
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prices are important to the Company because nagasand diesel fuel are major components of faaperating and collection costs and na
gas and diesel fuel prices are an indicator ofeagmment of the Company's business plan.

Collection Fees and Collection Operating Experidee Company charges collection fees which are dealun net sales. Each month
Company monitors both thellection fee charged to suppliers, which is ideld in net sales, and collection expense, whighclsided in cost ¢
sales. The importance of monitoring collection faes collection expense is that they provide ancattn of achievement of the Compal
business plan. Furthermore, management monitolectioh fees and collection expense so that the g@amy can consider implementing meas
to mitigate against unforeseen increases in thqsenses.

Factory Operating Expense$he Company incurs factory operating expenses whiehincluded in cost of sales. Each montr
Company monitors factory operating expense. Theoitapce of monitoring factory operating expensdhist it provides an indication
achievement of the Company's business plan. Fuontive;, when unforeseen expense increases occugampany can consider implement
measures to mitigate such increases.

Net SalesThe Company collects and processes animgbrbgtcts (fat, bones and offal), including hideakdry residual and us
restaurant cooking oil to principally produce fimésl products of MBM, PM (feed grade and pet fo&HT, PG, YG, BBP and hides as well ¢
range of branded and valaeided products. Sales are significantly affectedirighed goods prices, quality and mix of raw miatle and volum
of raw material. Net sales include the sales ofipced finished goods, collection fees, fees foaggerap services, and finished goods purcl
for resale.

During Fiscal 2011 , net sales were $ 1,797.2 onillas compared to $ 724.9 million during Fiscal ®0TThe Rendering Segmel
operations processes animal by-products and usgdngp-oil into fats (primarily BFT, PG and YG), proteipr{marily MBM and PM (feed grac
and pet food)) and hides. Fat is approximately & ®Hnillion and $ 399.1 millionf net sales for the year ended December 31, 26d Danuary
2011, respectively, and protein is approximatefi4$.7 million and $ 243.5 millioof net sales for the year ended December 31, 20d Januar
1, 2011, respectively. The increase in Renderimgn@&at sales of $ 786.5 million and the increasBakery Segment sales of285.8 millior
accounted for the $ 1,072.3 million increase irsal'he increase in net sales was primarily dileetdollowing (in millions of dollars):

Rendering Bakery Corporate Total
Increase in net sales due to acquisition
of Griffin $ 582.. $ 285.t $ — $ 868.2
Increase in finished product prices 210.% — — 210.7
Increase in other sales 0.€ — — 0.€
Decrease in yield (7.2) — — (7.2)
$ 786.F $ 285.¢ $ —$ 1,072.:

Further detail regarding the $ 786.5 million in@ean sales in the Rendering Segment and the $ 28#lion increase in sales in the Bak
Segment is as follows:

Rendering

Net Sales from Acquisition of GriffifThe Company's net sales have increased by $ 58Ridnnin the Rendering Segment as a result ¢
weeks of contribution from the acquisition of Grifis compared to two weeks of contribution in &i2010. Higher finished product pric
for both fats and proteins contributed to stronpsades.

Finished Product PriceHigher prices in the overall commodity market éorn, soybean oil and soybean meal, which are etingpprotein
and fats to MBM and BFT, positively impacted then@any's finished product prices. In addition améase in global demand for use of
in bio-fuels positively impacted the Company's shred product prices. The $ 210.7 milliorcrease in Rendering sales resulting 1
increases in finished product prices is due to eketavide increase in MBM, BFT and YG prices, but tmsrease was negatively impac
by extreme summer temperatures in the third quartdfiscal 2011which affected raw material quality resulting inver value protei
production and discounting of finished fat. The ke&rincreases were due to changes in supply/denmabdth the domestic and exg
markets for commodity fats and protein meals, iditlg MBM, BFT and YG.
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Other Sales The $ 0.6 millionincrease in other Rendering Segment sales was gisindae to an increase in hide sales and an iserés
purchases of finished product for resale that nloa@ offset lower collection and processing fea$ r@aluctions in sales from the moven
of raw material volumes from Darling plants to @nifplants.

Yield : The raw material processed in Fiscal 2011 contpbswethe same period of Fiscal 20¢i@lded less finished product for sale
decreased sales by $ 7.2 million . The decreatieeinelative portion of cattle offal in the raw maal collected during Fiscal 201thpactet
yields since cattle offal is a higher yielding mi&kthan pork and poultry offal.

Bakery

Net Sales from Acquisition of GriffinThe Bakery Segment was acquired in the Griffin $eaion and net sales have increased Bg%¢
million as a result of 52 weeks of contributionFiscal 2011 as compared to two weeks of contributioFiscal 2010 High finished produ:
prices for BBP contributed to strong net sales.

Cost of Sales and Operating Expeng&sst of sales and operating expenses include steo€oaw material, the cost of product purchi
for resale and the cost to collect raw materialictvlincludes diesel fuel and processing costs dioly natural gas. The Company utilizes |
fixed and formula pricing methods for the purcha$eraw materials. Fixed prices are adjusted whearssible for changes in competiti
Significant changes in finished goods market caowlit impact finished product inventory values, whiaw materials purchased under forr
prices are correlated with specific finished gopdses. Energy costs, particularly diesel fuel aadural gas, are significant components o
Company's cost structure. The Company has theyahiliburn alternative fuels at a majority of iteqts to help manage the Company's |
exposure to volatile energy markets.

During Fiscal 2011 , cost of sales and operatiqgeeges were $ 1,268.2 million as compared to $753dllion during Fiscal 2010 The
increase in Rendering Segment cost of sales amatomeexpenses of $ 529.9 milliamd Bakery Segment cost of sales and operatingiegpe
$ 206.8 million accounted for substantially alltbé $ 736.5 milliorincrease in cost of sales and operating expen$esiriErease in cost of sa
and operating expenses was primarily due to theviialg (in millions of dollars):

Rendering Bakery Corporate Total
Increase in cost of sales and operating
expense due to acquisition of Griffin $ 375.: $ 206.¢ $ 0.2 $ 581.¢
Increase in raw material costs 139.¢ — — 139.€
Increase in other cost of sales 11.5 — — 11.5
Increase in energy costs primarily
diesel fuel 3.6 — — 3.8
$ 529.¢ $ 206.¢ $ 0.2 $ 736.k

Further detail regarding the $ 529.9 million ingean cost of sales and operating expenses in émeldting Segment and the2$6.8 millior
increase in Bakery Segment is as follows:

Rendering

Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses from Acaoiisitic Griffin: The Company's cost of sales and operating expénsesased by 875.2
million in the Rendering Segment as a result of 52 weeksoofribution from the acquisition of Griffin as ropared to two weeks
contribution in Fiscal 2010 .

Raw Material Costs A portion of the Companyg’ volume of raw material is acquired on a formuaib. Under a formula arrangement,
cost of raw material is tied to the finished praduarket for MBM, BFT and YG. Since finished protipcices were higher in Fiscal 2041
compared to the same period in Fiscal 2010 , twematerial costs increased $ 139.6 million .

Other Cost of SalesThe $ 11.3 milliorincrease in other cost of sales includes increiasgayroll and related benefits, increases in mspean(
maintenance, increases in purchase of finisheduptddr resale that were partially offset by redores in costs from the movement of |
material volumes from Darling plants to Griffin pta.

Page 44




Energy Costs Both natural gas and diesel fuel are major coraptsof collection and factory operating costshie Rendering Segme
During Fiscal 2011 , energy costs were higher aedreflected in the $ 3.8 milliommcrease due primarily to increased diesel fuetsca:
compared to the same period in Fiscal 2010 .

Bakery

Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses from Acqoiisiti Griffin: The Company's cost of sales and operating expeekgsd to the Bake
Segment acquired in the Griffin Transaction inceeb$ 206.8 millioras a result of 52 weeks of contribution from thguasition of Griffin a
compared to two weeks of contribution in Fiscal 201

Selling, General and Administrative Expensgalling, general and administrative expenses welr@61 million during Fiscal 2011a 4
68.1 million increase ( 100.1% ) from $ 68.0 mitliduring Fiscal 2010Selling, general and administrative expensesaszd due to 52 weeks
contribution from the acquisition of Griffin, payraand related expense increases including incentempensation primarily due to be
operating results in Fiscal 2011 as compared toaFi2010, an increase in other costs, which includes irsgean consulting, legal and at
expenses all of which was partially offset by ardase in expense as a result of a decrease iaitheafue of a purchase accounting conting
from the Griffin acquisition. The increase in sedlj general and administrative expenses is prigndtie to the following (in millions of dollars):

Rendering Bakery Corporate Total
Increases in selling, general and administrati
expense from 52 weeks of contribution
related to Griffin $ 275 $ 9¢ $ 21.¢$ 59.:
Increase/(decrease) in other (0.7) 0.7 7.€ 7.€
Payroll and related benefits expense (1.6 — 6.€ 5.C
Decrease in purchase accounting contingency (3.3 (0.7) — (3.9)
$ 221 % 9¢ $ 36.1% 68.1

Depreciation and AmortizatioDepreciation and amortization charges increased. @ million ( 147.3% ) to $ 78.9 million durirfgisca
2011 as compared to $ 31.9 million during Fiscdl®0The increase in depreciation and amortizatigoriimarily due to the acquisition of Griff
in Fiscal 2010 .

Acquisition CostsAcquisition costs were $ 10.8 million during Fis@010, which were primarily due to the Griffin Transaxti a:
compared to no acquisition activity in Fiscal 2011

Interest Expensdnterest expense was $ 37.2 million during Fis€dl22compared to $ 8.7 million during Fiscal 2Q1dn increase of
28.5 million, primarily due to an increase in debt outstandia@ result of the Griffin acquisition in DecemB84.0. In addition the current y«
includes a write-off of a portion of the Companggsm loan facility's deferred loan costs of appnexiely $ 4.9 millionrelating to th
extinguishment of a majority of the term loan fagiin Fiscal 2011as compared to bank fees paid in association withrautilized and expire
bridge finance facility of $ 3.1 million in FiscaD10 .

Other Income/Expens@ther expense was $ 3.0 million in Fiscal 2011$,@&4 million increase from $ 3.4 million in Fisc2010. The
increase in other expense is primarily due to @aneimse in bank service fees that more than offigetiécrease in costs incurred in the prior
from losses reported as a result of fires at tvemplocations and the writeff of deferred loan costs due to the terminatibthe previous crec
agreement.

Equity in Net Loss in Investment of Unconsolid&8etsidiary. Represents the Company's portion of the expeasfdbe Joint Venture
with Valero in Fiscal 2011 . The Joint Venture esare primarily from the write-off of capitalizeshn costs relating to loan discussions with the
U.S. Department of Energy that were terminateduof of another loan agreement by the Joint Venture

Income TaxesThe Company recorded income tax expense of $ 18Rli&n for Fiscal 2011 , compared to income taypemnse of $£6.1
million recorded in Fiscal 2010 , an increase @63 million , primarily due to an increase in pag-earnings of the Company in Fiscal 20The
effective tax rate for Fiscal 2011 and Fiscal 2&187.8% and 37.1% , respectively. The differemoenfthe federal statutory rate of 35%Hisca
2011 and Fiscal 2010 is primarily due to statesaaed the section 199 qualified domestic produdiesuction.
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FINANCING, LIQUIDITY, AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Senior Secured Credit FacilitiesOn December 17, 2010, the Company entered ins&2%b million credit agreement (theCtedi
Agreement” ) in connection with the Griffin Transaa, consisting of a five-year senior secured hewng loan facility and a siyear senic
secured term loan facility. On March 25, 2011, @@npany amended its Credit Agreement to increaseggregate available principal amc
under the revolving loan facility from $325.0 nulti to $415.0 million (approximately $75.0 milliofwhich will be available for a letter of cre
sub-facility and $15.0 million of which will be aiable for a swingline sulfacility) and to add additional stepdowns to thigipg grid providing
lower spread margins to the applicable base or liate under the Credit Agreement based on deflaedrage ratio levels. The princi
components of the Credit Agreement consist of tlewing:

» As of December 29, 2012 , the Company had ahififia of $ 384.9 millionunder the revolving loan facility, taking into ace nc
outstanding borrowings and letters of credit issoiel 30.1 million .

e As of December 29, 2012 , the Company had repdiabf the original $ 300.0 milliorterm loan facility issued under the Crt
Agreement. The amounts that have been repaid diertimeloan may not be reborrowed.

» The obligations under the Company's Credit Agred¢nae@ guaranteed by Darling National, Griffin, atel subsidiary, Craig Prote
Division, Inc., and are secured by substantiallpfthe property of the Company.

Senior Notes On December 17, 2010 , Darling issued $ 250.0amiin aggregate principal amount of its 8.5% $emotes due01¢
(the "Notes") under an indenture with U.S. Bankidlal Association, as trustee. The Company will B&foannual cash interest on the Note:
June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencimegglly 2011 Other than for extraordinary events such as amarigcontrol and define
assets sales, the Company is not required to nmrakenandatory redemption or sinking fund paymentthenNotes.

» The Notes are guaranteed on an unsecured basiarbgd>s existing restricted subsidiaries, inclgdarling National, Griffin and all «
its subsidiaries, other than Darling's foreign &dibsies, its captive insurance subsidiary and iaagtive subsidiary with nominal ass
The Notes rank equally in right of payment to amjsting and future senior debt of Darling. The Noteill be effectively junior t
existing and future secured debt of Darling andgharantors, including debt under the Credit Agreeimto the extent of the value
assets securing such debt. The Notes will be straltt subordinated to all of the existing and fetliabilities (including trade payabl
of each of the subsidiaries of Darling that do guwdrantee the Notes. The guarantees by the guesdtite “Guaranteestank equally i
right of payment to any existing and future seimolebtedness of the guarantors. The Guaranteebevéffectively junior to existing a
future secured debt of the guarantors including deder the Credit Agreement, to the extent theevalf the assets securing such ¢
The Guarantees will be structurally subordinatedaltoof the existing and future liabilities (inclng) trade payables) of each of
subsidiaries of each Guarantor that do not guagaht Notes.

As of December 29, 2012 , the Company believesiit compliance with all of the covenants, inclgdfimancial covenants, under the
Credit Agreement and the Notes indenture.

The Credit Agreement and Notes consisted of tHevidhg elements at December 29, 2012 (in thousands)

Notes:
8.5% Senior Notes due 2018 $ 250,00(

Credit Agreement:

Term Loan $ =
Revolving Credit Facility:
Maximum availability $ 415,00(
Borrowings outstanding —
Letters of credit issued 30,11¢
Availability $ 384,88:

The classification of long-term debt in the Companiecember 29, 2012onsolidated balance sheet is based on the caumi
repayment terms of the Notes and debt issued uhdeEredit Agreement. Based upon the underlyingdesf the Credit Agreement, no amoul
included in current liabilities on the Company’dadrace sheet at December 29, 2012 .
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On December 29, 2012 , the Company had workingtalapi $ 158.6 million and its working capital mtwas 2.20 to Tompared t
working capital of $ 92.4 million and a working dap ratio of 1.73 to 1 on December 31, 2Q1The increase in working capital is primarily
to an increase in cash and an increase in invegoemtities due to a weakness of exports. At Déeer9, 2012 the Company had unrestric
cash of $ 103.2 million and funds available undier tevolving credit facility of $ 384.9 million pmpared to unrestricted cash 0889 millior
and funds available under the revolving creditlfigcof $ 391.6 million at December 31, 2011IThe Company diversifies its cash investmen
limiting the amounts deposited with any one finahgistitution and invests primarily in governmdrgteked securities.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $.241illion and $ 240.9 million for the fiscal yeaesded December 29, 2052c
December 31, 2011, respectively, an increase8o6 $nillion due primarily to changes in operating assets atmilities that include an increase
cash from income taxes refundable/payable of apmately $ 33.4 million, an increase in cash provided by accounts payatdeaccrue
expenses of approximately $ 33.0 million , whichrenthan offset a decrease in cash from an escrogiviable of approximately $6.3 millior
and a decrease in net income of approximately & 8@lion . Cash used by investing activities wak58.8 million during Fiscal 2012compare
to $ 83.7 million in Fiscal 2011 , an increase af@61 million, primarily due to an increase in cash paid foiitedexpenditures and cash paid
current year investment in an unconsolidated sidryid Net cash used by financing activities wal$! million during Fiscal 201@ompared to
137.4 million in Fiscal 2011 , a decrease in the afscash of $ 106.0 millioprimarily due to lower repayments of debt as coragdo the pric
year.

Capital expenditures of $ 115.4 million were madéanyy Fiscal 2012 as compared to $ 60.2 milliofriscal 2011 , an increase 06%.2
million ( 91.7%). The increase is due to the initiation and catiph of a number of planned capital projects iacki 2012. Additionall
included in the planned capital projects are cast®ciated with the Company's initiation of a neteprise resource planning ("ERP") systerr
of December 29, 2012, the Company had spent appately $ 13.8 millionin capital expenditures for software and desigrntscoslated to tt
implementation of the Oracle E Business Suite Efgffesn. The implementation is expected to be phaseger the next two years. The expe:
cash flow impact of this project will be in the ggnof $ 32.0 million to $ 36.0 millioof which the Company currently estimates that 53%e
expected cash flow will be capitalized and 50% Wédltreated as expense including cost of interaedgmnel and outside consultants. These
will be funded using cash flow from operations.p{fa expenditures related to compliance with emwnental regulations were $ 3.1 million
Fiscal 2012 , $ 3.7 million in Fiscal 2011 and % &illion in Fiscal 2010 .

Based upon the annual actuarial estimate, curcantials, and claims paid during Fiscal 201Be Company has accrued approximat:
8.5 million it expects will become due during the next twelvenths in order to meet obligations related to tlen@any's self insurance resel
and accrued insurance obligations, which are ireduid current accrued expenses at December 29,.20h2 self insurance reserve is comp:
of estimated liability for claims arising for wonlgd compensation and for auto liability and generdbiliy claims. The self insurance rese
liability is determined annually, based upon adiparty actuarial estimate. The actuarial estimaag vary from year to year, due to change
costs of health care, the pending number of cland other factors beyond the control of manageroétte Company. No assurance cal
given that the Company’s funding obligations unitieself insurance reserve will not increase infthare.

Based upon current actuarial estimates, the Comespgcts to make payments of approximately $ Oldomiin order to meet minimu
pension funding requirements during fiscal 201Bhe minimum pension funding requirements arerdened annually, based upon a third [
actuarial estimate. The actuarial estimate may f@m year to year, due to fluctuations in retam investments or other factors beyond
control of management of the Company or the admnaice of the Companyg’ pension funds. No assurance can be given teamthimun
pension funding requirements will not increase hie future. Additionally, the Company has made ieguand tax deductible discretion
contributions to its pension plans in Fiscal 20&& Riscal 2011 of approximately $ 1.9 million an@i5 million , respectively.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 ("PPA") was s@jimto law in August 2006 and went into effecdanuary 2008. The stated goe
the PPA is to improve the funding of pension plaRfans in an unddunded status will be required to increase emplaypatributions to improv
the funding level within PPA timelines. The impattrecent volatility in the world equity and othf@rancial markets have had and could cont
to have a material negative impact on pension atsets and the status of required funding undelPie The Company participates in vari
multiemployer pension plans which provide definetdfits to certain employees covered by labor eotdgr These plans are not administere
the Company and contributions are determined inraence with provisions of negotiated labor contras meet their pension benefit obligati
to their participants. The Company's contributitm&ach individual multiemployer plan represenslégan 5% of the total contributions to e
such plan. Based on the most currently availablernmation, the Company has determined that, if thdvawal were to occur, withdrav
liabilities on two of the plans in which the Compgaturrently participates could be material to thempany, with one of these material pl
certified as critical or red zone. With respectie other multiemployer pension plans in which@umpany
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participates and which are not individually sigesfint, four plans have certified as critical or mmhe, one plan has certified as endanger
yellow zone and one plan has certified as serioeistiangered or orange zone as defined by the PRAnke 2009, the Company received a n
of a mass withdrawal termination and a notice dfahwithdrawal liability from a multiemployer prain which it participated. The Company
anticipated this event and as a result had acapptbximately $ 3.2 millioms of January 3, 2009 based on the most recentriafmn that we
probable and estimable for this plan. The plan gigén a notice of redetermination liability in Eeober 2009. In Fiscal 2010, the Comg
received further third party information confirminige future payout related to this multiemployearpl As a result, the Company reduce:
liability to approximately $ 1.2 million In Fiscal 2010, another underfunded multiemplopkan in which the Company participates ¢
notification of partial withdrawal liability. As foDecember 29, 2012, the Company has an accrubditiiaof approximately $1.0 million
representing the present value of scheduled wittalréiability payments under this multiemployer plawhile the Company has no ability
calculate a possible current liability for undanded multiemployer plans that could terminateauld require additional funding under the P
the amounts could be material.

The Company announced on January 21, 2011 thatdlywdwned subsidiary of Darling entered into a limitéability company
agreement with a whollgwned subsidiary of Valero Energy Corporation (‘&fal’) to form Diamond Green Diesel Holding LLC (th#oint
Venture"). The Joint Venture is owned 50% / 5@4th Valero and was formed to design, engineerstroet and operate a renewable diesel
(the "Facility"), which will be capable of produgrapproximately 9,300 barrels per day of renewdmsel fuel and certain other poeducts, t
be located adjacent to Valero's refinery in Notamyisiana. The Joint Venture is in the processaofstructing the Facility under an engineet
procurement and construction contract that is oento fix the Company's maximum economic expos$oreghe cost of the Facility, witha
regard to project scope changes. Construction efRdcility is substantially complete with the ptthg®mmissioning of the Facility curren
anticipated to be complete in second quarter 2013.

On May 31, 2011 , the Joint Venture and Diamonde@Gtiesel LLC, a whollyawned subsidiary of the Joint Venture ("Opcao"),ezet
into (i) the Facility Agreement with Diamond Altextive Energy, LLC, a whollpwned subsidiary of Valero (the "Lender"), and {fig Loal
Agreement with the Lender, which will provide theint Venture with a 14year multiple advance term loan facility of approgiely ¢
221,300,000 (the “JV Loantp support the design, engineering and construaifahe Facility, which is now in the final stagesconstructior
The Facility Agreement and the Loan Agreement foibtihe Lender from assigning all or any portiontoé Facility Agreement or the La
Agreement to unaffiliated third parties. Opco hk® gpledged substantially all of its assets tolteeder, and the Joint Venture has pledged i
Opco's equity interests to the Lender, until thed.ddn has been paid in full and the JV Loan hasiteated in accordance with its terms.

Pursuant to sponsor support agreements executedninection with the Facility Agreement and the Losgreement, each of t
Company and Valero are committed to contributingrepimately $ 93.2 million of the estimated aggitegeosts of approximately407.7 millior
for the completion of the Facility. The Companyaiso required to pay for 50@ any cost overruns incurred in connection with tonstructio
of the Facility, including relating to any projestope changes and working capital funding. As efdate of this report, it is anticipated that
project will incur an additional $ 17.3 millian costs related to project scope changes, of wiiehiCompany will be responsible for 50%. A
December 29, 2012 , under the equity method ofattary, the Company has an investment in the Jéemture of approximately 62.5 millior
on the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company is aware that a third party patentdrdiés filed patent infringement claims againstapcer of renewable diesel fuel
its owners. The producer is unrelated to the Compidne Joint Venture or, to our knowledge, Valérbe Company has not, and to its knowle
neither the Joint Venture or Valero has, receiveg @mmunication from such patent holder regardimgjlar claims against the Joint Ventt
The Joint Venture has licensed a process from UD®, la subsidiary of Honeywell International Indat it will utilize in producing renewak
diesel fuel. The Company believes that the JointtMe's process differs from the process thatdsstibject of the infringement suit. Accordin
any patent infringement claim that might be asseirtethe future against either the Company or thetJ/enture would be vigorously oppos
However if any patent holder successfully challehtiee patents under which the Joint Venture opgréite Joint Venture could incur increa
expenses or the need to modify its operation wbizlld negatively impact the Joint Venture's resofitsperations.

The Company’s management believes that cash floors bperating activities consistent with the legenerated in Fiscal 2012
unrestricted cash and funds available under thdiCAgreement will be sufficient to meet the Compaworking capital needs and maintens
and complianceelated capital expenditures, scheduled debt aedeist payments, income tax obligations, contifueding of the Joint Ventu
and other contemplated needs through the next éwalbnths. Numerous factors could have adverseeqaesices to the Company that cann
estimated at this time, such as: reductions inmeterial volumes available to the Company dueégakumargins in the meat production indu
as a result of higher feed costs or other factediced volume from food service establishmentiyoed demand for animal feed, or otherwis
reduction in finished product prices; changes twldwide government policies relating to renewahlels and greenhouse gas emissions
adversely
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affect programs like RFS2 and tax credits for foiels both in the U.S. and abroad; possible prockaall resulting from developments relatin
the discovery of unauthorized adulterations to foodbod additives; the occurrence of Bird Flute U.S.; any additional occurrence of BS
the U.S. or elsewhere; unanticipated costs amdfhrctions in raw material volumes related to tlhen@anys compliance with the Enhanced E
Rule; unforeseen new U.S. and foreign regulatidfecting the rendering industry (including new oodified animal feed, 2009 H1N1 flu, B
Flu or BSE regulations); increased contributioasthe Company’s multiemployer and emplogeensored defined benefit pension plan
required by the PPA or resulting from a mass wiladd event; bad debt writaffs; loss of or failure to obtain necessary pesmanc
registrations; unexpected cost overruns relatetig¢aloint Venture; continued or escalated conitidhe Middle East; and/or unfavorable ex|
markets. These factors, coupled with volatile ggifor natural gas and diesel fuel, general pedioge of the U.S. and global economies
declining consumer confidence including the in&pitf consumers and companies to obtain credit tduthe current lack of liquidity in t
financial markets, among others, could negativeipact the Company’s results of operations in fitHdl3and thereafter. The Company cat
provide assurance that the cash flows from opeyaiitivities generated in Fiscal 20&& indicative of the future cash flows from opieig
activities that will be generated by the Compangperations. The Company reviews the appropuiseeof unrestricted cash periodically. Ex
for contributions to the Joint Venture and expeundis relating to the Company's ongoing enterpgseurce planning system project, no dec
has been made as to nordinary course cash usages at this time; howg@atential usages could include: opportunistic tem@xpenditure
and/or acquisitions; investments relating to tlenPanys developing a comprehensive renewable energyegiraincluding, without limitatiol
potential investments in additional renewable diesel/or biodiesel projects; investments in reggoto governmental regulations relating
human and animal food safety or other regulatiamgexpected funding required by the PPA requirementmass termination of multiemplo
plans; and paying dividends or repurchasing steabkject to limitations under the Credit Agreemexst,well as suitable cash conservatio
withstand adverse commodity cycles.

The current economic environment in the Companyarkets has the potential to adversely impadigtsdity in a variety of way:
including through reduced raw materials availapilieduced finished product prices, reduced salagntial inventory buildup, increased bad
reserves, potential impairment charges and/or higperating costs.

The principal products that the Company sells ararnodities, the prices of which are based on dsteal commodity markets and
subject to volatile changes. Any decline in thegegs has the potential to adversely impact the gay's liquidity. Any of a decline in r¢
material availability, a decline in commoditiesqa$, increases in energy prices and the impatiedPPA has the potential to adversely impac
Company's liquidity. A decline in commodities psce rise in energy prices, a slowdown in the WiSinternational economy, continued
escalated conflict in the Middle East, cost ovesrimthe construction of the Facility or other fast could cause the Company to fail to r
management's expectations or could cause liquiditgerns.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMIT ~ MENTS

The following table summarizes the Company’s exg@chaterial contractual payment obligations, iniclgdboth on- and ofBalanc
sheet arrangements at December 29, 2012 (in thds)san

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Contractual obligations(a):
Long-term debt obligations (b) $ 250,000 $ — $ — 5 — $  250,00(
Operating lease obligations (c) 90,33 17,71t 27,32: 18,84: 26,45:
Estimated interest payable (d) 129,80 21,89 44,16« 42,50( 21,25(
Joint Venture capital contributions (e) 35,12: 35,12: — — —
Purchase commitments (f) 23,72 23,72 — — —
Pension funding obligation (g) 41¢ 41¢ — — —
Other obligations 224 82 142 — —
Total $ 529,62¢ % 98,95¢ $ 71,62¢ $ 61,34. $  297,70:

(@) The above table does not reflect uncertairptasitions as the Company has no uncertain tatipoesiat December 29, 2012
(b) See Note 10 to the consolidated financial states

(c) See Note 9 to the consolidated financial staten

(d) Interest payable was calculated using theeatimate for the Senior Notes that existed as aebber 29, 2012

(e) Represents the Company's estimated capit#iloations that are expected to be paid to thetJgemture in fiscal 2013
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(f) Purchase commitments were determined based orfisgesmntracts for natural gas, diesel fuel andgfied product purchas

(g) Pension funding requirements are determined annimsed upon a third party actuarial estimate. Toenpany expects to me
approximately $ 0.4 million in required contributoto its pension plan in fiscal 2013The Company is not able to estimate per
funding requirements beyond the next twelve morithe. accrued pension benefit liability was appratiety $ 31.3 milliomat the end ¢
Fiscal 2012 The Company knows certain of the multiemployengion plans that have not terminated to whiclontiibutes and whic
are not administered by the Company were uifaledled as of the latest available information, amile the Company has no ability
calculate a possible current liability for the unélended multiemployer plan to which the Company dbntes, the amounts could
material.

The Company's off-balance sheet contractual olidigatand commercial commitments as of Decembe2@B?, relate to operating lee
obligations, letters of credit, forward purchasesagnents, and employment agreements. The Comgangxeluded these items from the bal
sheet in accordance with accounting principles gelyeaccepted in the U.S.

The following table summarizes the Company’s ottenmercial commitments, including both on- andlzdfance sheet arrangemen:
December 29, 2012 (in thousands):

Other commercial commitments:
Standby letters of credit $ 30,11¢
Total other commercial commitments: $ 30,11¢

OFF BALANCE SHEET OBLIGATIONS

Based upon the underlying purchase agreementsCahgpany has commitments to purchase $ 23.7 miboommodity product
consisting of approximately $ 19.2 million of fihisd products and approximately $ 4.5 milliohnatural gas and diesel fuel, during the
twelve months, which are not included in liabiktien the Company’s balance sheet at December 22,. Zlese purchase agreements are er
into in the normal course of the Compagpusiness and are not subject to derivative a¢cmuThe commitments will be recorded on the be¢
sheet of the Company when delivery of these comtiesdoccurs and ownership passes to the Compairiygdiiscal 2013, in accordance wi
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S

Based on the sponsor support agreements executedmection with the Facility Agreement and the h.dgreement relating to the Jc
Venture with Valero, the Company has committeddotgbute an aggregate of approximately $ 93.2iomlof the estimated aggregate costs
completion of the Facility. As of December 29, 2Qlthe Company has contributed approximately $ ®Gillilon and will incur the remainir
amount of the commitment through the completiore dditthe Facility which is expected in the secondrter of fiscal 2013 The Company is al:
required to pay for 50%f any cost overruns incurred in connection with tonstruction of the Facility, including relatitm any project scoj
changes and working capital funding. As of the ddtéhis report, it is anticipated that the projedll incur an additional $ 17.3 milliom cost:
related to project scope changes, of which the Gompvill be responsible for 50% .

Based upon underlying lease agreements, the Conipanjigated to pay approximately $ 17.7 milliar bperating leases duririigcal
2013 which are not included in liabilities on theripany’s balance sheet at December 29, 20TBese lease obligations are included in cc
sales or selling, general and administrative expemsthe Compang’ Statement of Operations as the underlying lebigation comes due,
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the U.S.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company follows certain significant accountpulicies when preparing its consolidated finanstatements. A complete summ
of these policies is included in Note 1 to the @didated Financial Statements.

Certain of the policies require management to m&gaificant and subjective estimates or assumptibas may deviate from act
results. In particular, management makes estimagarding valuation of inventories, estimates séful life of longlived assets related
depreciation and amortization expense, estimatgardeng fair value of the Compamyreporting units and future cash flows with resge
assessing potential impairment of both long-livedess and goodwill, seifisurance, environmental and litigation reservessppn liability
estimates of income tax expense, and estimategpehee related to stock options granted. Eacheset estimates is discussed in greater de
the following discussion.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue on sales when geodgeshipped and the customer takes ownershipssuines risk of loss. Cert
customers may be required to prepay prior to shiprimeorder to maintain payment protection agagestain foreign and domestic sales. TI
amounts are recorded as unearned revenue and iEsbgvhen the products have shipped and the custiakes ownership and assumes ris
loss. The Company has formula arrangements wittaioesuppliers whereby the charge or credit fav raaterials is tied to published finist
product commodity prices after deducting a fixedgeissing fee incorporated into the formula aneéé®rded as a cost of sale by line of busir
The Company recognizes revenue related to gremseérvicing in the month the trap service occurs.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are valued at the loviest or market. Finished product manufacturiogtds calculated using the firist;
first-out (FIFO) method, based upon the Compamaw material costs, collection and factory prdiducoperating expenses, and depreci:
expense on collection and factory assets. Markkteg of inventory are estimated at each planttilmzabased upon either: 1) the backlo
unfilled sales orders at the balance sheet dat@) ainsold inventory, calculated using regionaisfied product prices quoted in the Jacobsen
balance sheet date. Estimates of market valueghgson the backlog of unfilled sales orders omughe Jacobsen, assume that the inventory
by the Company at the balance sheet date will & @bthe estimated market finished product salésepsubsequent to the balance s
date. Actual sales prices received on future sal@s/entory held at the end of a period may aoyn either the backlog unfilled sales order
or the Jacobsen quotation at the balance sheet Tihtse variances could cause actual sales meediged on future sales of inventory tc
different than the estimate of market value of irteey at the end of the period. Inventories warpraximately $ 65.1 million and $0.8 millior
at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , tbsggc

Long-Lived Assets, Depreciation and AmortizatiorpErse and Valuation

The Companys property, plant and equipment are recorded atwlben acquired. Depreciation expense is compategroperty, plal
and equipment based upon a straight line method theeestimated useful life of the assets, whichased upon a standard classification o
asset group. Buildings and improvements are degeecover a useful life of 15 to 30 years, machirend equipment are depreciated ov
useful life of 3 to 10 years and vehicles are depted over a life of 2 to 6 years. These uséfeldstimates have been developed based up:
Companys historical experience of asset life utility, amidether the asset is new or used when placed wicserThe actual life and utility of t
asset may vary from this estimated life. Usefubdi of the assets may be modified from time to tvhen the future utility or life of the asse
deemed to change from that originally estimatednthe asset was placed in service. Depreciatiperese was approximately $ 57.3 millipf
50.9 million and $ 26.3 million in fiscal years émgl December 29, 2012 , December 31, 2011 and daaua011 , respectively.

The Company’s intangible assets, including permdsies, noreompete agreements, trade names and royalty, timgsahd leaseho
agreements are recorded at fair value when acquiketbrtization expense is computed on these inbdagssets based upon a straight
method over the estimated useful life of the assgtich is based upon a standard classificatiai®fasset group. Collection routes are amor
over a useful life of 5 to 20 years; noampete agreements are amortized over a usefubflifeto 7 years; trade names with a finite life
amortized over a useful life of 15 years; royattynsulting and leasehold agreements are amortizedtioe term of the agreement; and permit
amortized over a useful life of 10 to 20 years.e Botual economic life and utility of the asset naagy from this estimated life. Useful lives o€
assets may be madified from time to time when tharé utility or life of the asset is deemed toraa from that originally estimated when
asset was placed in service. Intangible assettaaimon expense was approximately $ 28.1 millidh 28.0 million and $ 5.6 millioin fiscal
years ending December 29, 2012 , December 31, &8d January 1, 2011 , respectively.

The Company reviews the carrying value of Idingd assets for impairment when events or chaigesrcumstances indicate that
carrying amount of an asset, or related agsaip, may not be recoverable from estimated futmdiscounted cash flows. Recoverability of a:
to be held and used is measured by a comparistimeatarrying amount of an asset or asset grougtima&ted undiscounted future cash fli
expected to be generated by the asset or assei. gifothe carrying amount of the asset exceedssténated future cash flows, an impairn
charge is recognized by the amount by which theyitey amount of the asset exceeds the fair valubefsset. In Fiscal 2012 , Fiscal 2@ht
Fiscal 2010, no triggering event occurred reqgitimat the Company perform testing of its long-tiassets for impairment.

The net book value of property, plant and equipnvess approximately $ 453.9 million and $ 400.2 imillat December 29, 20%hc
December 31, 2011 , respectively. The net boolevaf intangible assets was approximately $ 337libmand $ 362.9 million aDecember 2!
2012 and December 31, 2011 , respectively.
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Goodwill Valuation

The Company reviews the carrying value of goodwill a regular basis, including at the end of easbafiyear, for indications
impairment at each reporting unit that has recogisatiwill as an asset. Impairment is indicated melver the carrying value of a reporting
exceeds the estimated fair value of a reporting. Urdr purposes of evaluating impairment of godidwhie Company estimates fair value «
reporting unit, based upon future net cash flomscalculating these estimates, actual historigedrating results, current market conditions
anticipated future economic factors, such as fubwsiness volume, future finished product pricesl future operating costs and expense
evaluated and estimated as a component of thelatdouof future cash flows for each reporting umith recorded goodwill. The estimates of
value of these reporting units and of future disted net cash flows from operation of these repgrtinits could change if actual volumes, pri
costs or expenses vary from these estimates.

Based on the Company’s annual impairment testirigeaend of the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2012 ¢c&i011 and Fiscal 201,ahe fail
values of the Company'reporting units containing goodwill exceededridated carrying value. However, the fair valu@pé of the Compan)
reporting units was approximately 11@feater than its carrying value, which was subghyiess than the percentage by which the falues o
the Company's other seven reporting units with galbexceeded their carrying values. It is possjldepending upon a number of factors the
not determinable at this time or within the contvbthe Company, that the fair value of this refgrtunit could decrease in the future and resi
an impairment to goodwill. The amount of goodwvallocated to this reporting unit was approximat&lyl59.6 million. The Company
management believes the biggest risk to this reqprinit is a prolonged economic slowdown that wdanhpact raw material suppliers. Good'
was approximately $ 381.4 million at December Z8,2and December 31, 2011 , respectively.

Self Insurance, Environmental and Legal Reserves

The Companys workers compensation, auto and general liakildlicies contain significant deductibles or seluned retentions. T
Company estimates and accrues for its expectadattti claim costs related to accidents occurringndweach fiscal year and carries this accru
a reserve until these claims are paid by the Cosngandeveloping estimates for self insured lostles,Company utilizes its staff, a third p:
actuary and outside counsel as sources of infoomathd judgment as to the expected undiscountedefutosts of the claims. The Comp
accrues reserves related to environmental anédfitig matters based on estimated undiscountedefansts. With respect to the Compangel
insurance, environmental and litigation reserveipates of reserve liability could change if ff@vents are different than those included ii
estimates of the actuary, consultants and managdeofighe Company. At December 29, 2012 and Decerdbel011, the reserves for s
insurance, environmental and litigation contingeaaggregated to approximately $ 37.0 million ar88%® million, respectively. The Compa
has insurance recovery receivables of approxim&®iy3 million and $ 9.6 million , respectivelylated to these liabilities.

Pension Liability

The Company provides retirement benefits to emm@synder separate finp&y noncontributory pension plans for salaried hodrly
employees (excluding those employees covered Inycegponsored plan), who meet service and age requitsmenefits are based principi
on length of service and earnings patterns dufiregfive years preceding retirement. Pension expemsl pension liability recorded by
Company is based upon an annual actuarial estipnatéded by a third party administrator. Factorsluded in estimates of current year pen
expense and pension liability at the balance stiett include estimated future service period of leyges, estimated future pay of employ
estimated future retirement ages of employeesttangrojected time period of pension benefit payisieiiwo of the most significant assumpti
used to calculate future pension obligations aee discount rate applied to pension liability and #xpected rate of return on pension
assets. These assumptions and estimates aretsiobfee risk of change over time, and each fab&® inherent uncertainties which neither
actuary nor the Company is able to control or &dpt with certainty. During the third quarterfafcal 2011, as part of the initiative to combi
the Darling and Griffin retirement benefit prograrttee Company's Board of Directors authorized tbem@any to proceed with the restructurin
its retirement benefit program effective Januarg@12, to include the closing of Darling's salaried dmalrly defined benefit plans to n
participants as well as the freezing of service wage accruals thereunder effective December 311 @0curtailment of these plans for finan
reporting purposes) and the enhancing of bendfideuthe Company's defined contribution plans.$&e 15 of Notes to Consolidated Finan
Statements for summaries of pension plans.

The discount rate applied to the Compangénsion liability is the interest rate used tlzdate the present value of the pension be
obligation. The weighted average discount rate 8&90% and 4.50% at December 29, 2012 and Dece®ihet011, respectively. The n
periodic benefit cost for fiscal 2013 would incredsy approximately $ 0.9 million if the discounteavas 0.5% lower at 3.4%The net period
benefit cost for fiscal 2013 would decrease by apipnately $ 0.9 million if the discount rate wa$&%h higher at 4.4% .
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The expected rate of return on the Compampgénsion plan assets is the interest rate usealdolate future returns on investment of
plan assets. The expected return on plan assat®rggterm assumption whose accuracy can only be assessed long period of time. T
weighted average expected return on pension pkatsagas 7.35% and 7.85% for Fiscal 2012 and FXHl , respectively. During Fiscal 2012
the Company’s actual return on pension plan asga$sa gain of $ 13.0 million or approximately 13.6%pension plan assets as compare
Fiscal 2011 where the Company'’s actual return arsipa plan assets was a loss of $ 3.3 million prapmately (4)% of pension plan assets.

The Company has recorded a pension liability ofrexmately $ 31.3 million and $ 27.3 million at Bmuober 29, 2012anc
December 31, 2011 , respectively. The Companytpession cost was approximately $ 3.9 million3.% million and $ 3.9 millioror the fisca
years ending December 29, 2012 , December 31, add1January 1, 2011 , respectively. The projenttdperiodic pension expense figcal
2013 is expected to decrease by approximately $0libn as compared to Fiscal 2012 .

Income Taxes

In calculating net income, the Company includesregtes in the calculation of income tax expense résulting tax liability and in futu
realization of deferred tax assets that arise firemporary differences between financial statemesggntation and tax recognition of revenue
expense. The Company’s deferred tax assets inelu operating loss carry-forward which is lidite approximately $ 0.7 millioper year il
future utilization due to the change in controluléag from the May 2002 recapitalization of ther@many. Valuation allowances for deferred
assets are recorded when it is more likely tharthadtdeferred tax assets will not be realized.

Stock Option Expense

The calculation of expense of stock options issutdizes the BlackScholes mathematical model which estimates thevEdire of th
option award to the holder and the compensatioersg to the Company, based upon estimates oflitglaisk-free rates of return at the date
issue and projected vesting of the option graftse Company recorded compensation expense readdk options expense for the year el
December 29, 2012 , December 31, 2011 and Janu2611 of approximately $ 1.0 million , $ 0.2 noli and $ 0.1 million , respectively.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2011 , the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-®resentation of Comprehensive Incom&he ASU amends ASC Topic 220
Comprehensive IncomeThe new standard eliminates the option to reptiter comprehensive income and its componenthdrstatement
changes in equity and instead requires entitiggésent net income and other comprehensive incaraélier a single continuous statement
two separate, but consecutive, statements of wetria and other comprehensive income. Reclassditatdjustments between net income
other comprehensive income must be shown on tleedbthe statement(s), with no resulting changeeinearnings. In December 201the FASE
issued ASU No. 2011-12DQeferral of Effective Date for Amendments to thesentation of Reclassifications of Items Out ofufndated Othe
Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards UpNate2011-05. This ASU amends ASC Topic 22Gpomprehensive IncomeThe nev
standard deferred the requirement to present ofatieeof the financial statements reclassificatidjustments for items that are reclassified !
other comprehensive income to net income whiled=A8B further deliberates this aspect of the propddas update is effective for the Compi
on January 1, 2012 and must be applied retrosgdgtithe Company adopted this standard as of MaicH2012. The adoption did not hay
material impact on the Company's consolidated firrstatements. In February 2013, the FASB issM8d No. 2013-02Reporting of Amoun
Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incorbis ASU amends ASC Topic 220pmprehensive IncomeThis new standard requires
entity to report either on the income statemendisclose in the footnotes to the financial statenikee effects on earnings from items that
reclassified out of other comprehensive incomesTupdate is effective for the Company on December2812. The Company is curren
evaluating the impact of adopting this standard.

In September 2011 , the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08sting Goodwill for Impairment The ASU amends ASC Topic 350
Intangibles- Goodwill and Other. The new standard is intended to reduce the aabtcamplexity of the annual goodwill impairmentttey
providing entities an option to perform a “qualitat assessment to determine whether further impairtesting is necessary. Specifically,
entity has the option to first assess qualitataedrs to determine whether it is necessary toparthe current twatep test. If an entity believ:
as a result of its qualitative assessment, thiat itore-likely-thamot that the fair value of a reporting unit is I¢san its carrying amount, t
guantitative impairment test is required. Otherwise further testing is required. This standarcefifective for annual and interim goody
impairment tests performed for fiscal years begigni
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after December 15, 201Early adoption is permissible. The Company adbfités standard in the first quarter of 2012. THemion did not hay
a material impact on the Company's consolidatezhfifal statements.

In July 2012 , the FASB issued ASU No. 2012-Oesting Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for linpeent. The ASU amends AS
Topic 350 |ntangibles - Goodwill and OtherThe new standard is intended to reduce the castamplexity of performing an impairment test
indefinitedived intangible assets by providing entities ati@mpto perform a "qualitative” assessment to deiee whether further impairme
testing is necessary. The new standard allows tiy ém first assess qualitative factors to detemaif it is more likely than not that the fair va
of an indefinitelived intangible asset is less than its carryinggam. If based on its qualitative assessment dtyeuncludes it is more likely thi
not that the fair value of an indefinili#ed intangible asset is less than its carryingant, quantitative impairment testing is requinddwever, i
an entity concludes otherwise, quantitative impaintrtesting is not required. The standards upda¢éféctive for annual and interim impairm
tests performed for fiscal years beginning afteat&mber 15, 2012, with early adoption permittede Gompany is currently evaluating the im|
of adopting this standard.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forwaobking” statements that involve risks and uncertaintiébe words "believe
"anticipate," "expect," "estimate," "intend," "cdyl "may," "will," "should," "planned," "potentidl,and similar expressions identify forward-
looking statements. All statements other thanestants of historical facts included in the Annu@pBrt on Form 1@, including, withou
limitation, the statements under the sections ledtitBusiness," "Management's Discussion and Amglgt Financial Condition and Results
Operations" and "Legal Proceedings" and locateeMgisre herein regarding industry prospects, expentafor construction of the Facility a
the Company's financial position are forward-logkstatements. Actual results could differ matgriftbm those discussed in the forwdabking
statements as a result of certain factors, inctyaimany that are beyond the control of the Compakithough the Company believes that
expectations reflected in these forward-lookingesteents are reasonable, it can give no assuraatthtse expectations will prove to be correct.

In addition to those factors discussed under ttagling "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of this report aeidewhere in this report, and in
Company's other public filings with the SEC, impaittfactors that could cause actual results tediffaterially from the Company's expectat
include: the Company's continued ability to obtafurces of supply for its rendering operationsnegal economic conditions in the Americ
European and Asian markets; a decline in conseoidence; prices in the competing commodity retgkvhich are volatile and are beyona
Company's control; energy prices; changes todwede government policies relating to renewablelsfuend greenhouse gas emissions:
implementation of the Enhanced BSE Rule; BSE asdmpact on finished product prices, export make&nergy prices and governmr
regulations, which are still evolving and are beydhe Company's control; the occurrence of Bird i the U.S.; possible product re:
resulting from developments relating to the disegwd unauthorized adulterations (such as melaramgalmonella) to food additives; increa
contributions to the Company's multiemployer dedirenefit pension plans as required by the PPAequired by a withdrawal event; ris
including future expenditures, relating to the Camgs Joint Venture with Valero to construct andhptete a renewable diesel plant in No
Louisiana and possible difficulties completing astataining operational viability with the plant; ki relating to possible third party claims
intellectual property infringement; challenges ass®d with the Company's ongoing enterprise resoylanning system project, includ
material deviations from the project or unsuccdsskecution of the implementation plan for the potj and the Comparg/ability to combin
Darling’s business and Griffin's business and to realieattticipated growth opportunities and cost symsrgind to integrate the two busine
efficiently. Among other things, future profitalhjlimay be affected by the Company's ability to gitssbusiness, which faces competition f
companies that may have substantially greater reesithan the Company. The Company cautions redbat all forwardeoking statemen
speak only as of the date made, and the Compangrtaéds no obligation to update any forwlrdking statements, whether as a resu
changes in circumstances, new events or otherwise.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risks affecting the Company are exposureshmges in prices of the finished products the @ow sells, interest rates on d
availability of raw material supplies and the primlenatural gas and diesel fuel used in the Comapiants. Raw materials available to
Company are impacted by seasonal factors, includatigays, when raw material volume declines; wareather, which can adversely affect
quality of raw material processed and finished potsl produced; and cold weather, which can impte collection of ra
material. Predominantly all of the Company’s firéd products are commaodities that are generalty atgbrices prevailing at the time of sale.

The Company makes limited use of derivative insgnta to manage cash flow risks related to intenesénse, natural gas usage, d
fuel usage and inventory. The Company does notdesgative instruments for trading purposes. riedge rate swaps are entered into with
intent of managing overall borrowing costs by redgdhe potential impact of increases in interaesés on floating-rate longrm debt. Natur
gas swaps and options are entered into with tleatif managing the overall cost of natural gagedsy reducing the potential impact of seas
weather demands on natural gas that increasesahghs prices. Heating oil swaps and options atered into with the intent of managing
overall cost of diesel fuel usage by reducing tlmeptial impact of seasonal weather demands oreldie®l that increases diesel f
prices. Inventory swaps and options are enterngdviith the intent of managing seasonally high emiations of MBM, PM, BFT, PG, YG a
BBP inventories by reducing the potential impactlednging prices. Corn options and future corgract entered into with the intent of mana
forecasted sales of BBP by reducing the impachahging prices. The interest rate swaps and thealagas swaps are subject to the requirer
of FASB authoritative guidance. Some of the Congpmmatural gas and diesel fuel instruments are mojest to the requirements of FA
authoritative guidance because some of the nagasland diesel fuel instruments qualify as norniatipases as defined in FASB authorite
guidance. At December 29, 201the Company had natural gas swaps and corn gptiotstanding that qualified and were designatedhdadg
accounting as well as heating oil swaps and cotiommpand future contracts that did not qualify arete not designated for hedge accounting.

In Fiscal 2012 the Company entered into natural gas swap cdstthat are considered cash flow hedges. Undedethes of the natur
gas swap contracts the Company fixed the expeatezh@se cost of a portion of its plants expectadrahgas usage into the second quart
fiscal 2013 . As of December 29, 201the aggregate fair value of these natural gapswes insignificant and is included in other cotr@sset
and accrued expenses on the balance sheet, wittfiseh recorded in accumulated other comprehensoa@me for the effective portion.

In Fiscal 2012 the Company entered into corn option contracis dne considered cash flow hedges. Under the tefrie corn optio
contracts the Company hedged a portion of its fstEnl sales of BBP into the fourth quarter of fi)@l3 . As of December 29, 2012he
aggregate fair value of these corn options wascapately $ 0.5 millionand is included in other current assets on thenbelaheet, with ¢
offset recorded in accumulated other compreherisa@me for the effective portion.

Additionally, the Company had corn options and fetaontracts, heating oil swaps and natural gapswaat are marked to mar
because they did not qualify for hedge accountingexember 29, 2012 The corn options and future contracts, heatihgveaps and natural g
swaps had an aggregate fair value of $ 0.1 milied are included in current other assets and at@xmenses at December 29, 2012 .

As of December 29, 2012 , the Company had forwardhase agreements in place for purchases of appately $ 4.5 millionof natura
gas and diesel fuel in fiscal 2013 . As of Decenf® 2012, the Company had forward purchase agreementsaiceplor purchases
approximately $ 19.2 million of finished productfiacal 2013 .

Interest Rate Sensitivity
The Company has no outstanding variable rate debttee Company fixed rate debt obligations consist of the Nated other immateri

debt that accrue interest at an annual weighterhgedixed rate of approximately 8.5%T hese obligations are not affected by changastémes
rates. The Company’s obligations subject to fixgdrest rates consist of (in thousands, exceptasteates):

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Long-term debt:
Fixed rate $ 250,22: $ 82 $ 14z % — 250,00(
Average interest rate 8.5(% 7.3% 7.4% —% 8.5(%
Total $ 250,22: $ 82 $ 14z % — 250,00(
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All other schedules are omitted since the requinéofrmation is not present or is not present in ams sufficient to require submission of
schedule, or because the information requiredcisidted in the consolidated financial statementsrautds thereto.
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingdrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Darling International Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Darling International Inc. and subsids as of December 29, 2012
December 31, 2011, and the related consolidatéenstamts of operations, comprehensive income, stddkls' equity, and cash flows for eac
the years in the thregear period ended December 29, 2012. These coasalidinancial statements are the responsibilitghef Company
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial statementedas our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting Oversighaf@o(United States). Those stand
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finastateiments are free of material misstater
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, ewidesupporting the amounts and disclosures initlaadial statements. An audit also inclt
assessing the accounting principles used and ®ignif estimates made by management, as well asiaig the overall financial statem
presentation. We believe that our audits provideasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaereferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position of Darl
International Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decen28e2012 and December 31, 2011, and the resulteofoperations and their cash flows for ¢
of the years in the thregear period ended December 29, 2012, in conformiitty U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsda the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), Darling Internatio
Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting @sDecember 29, 2012, based on criteria estaldighénternal Control -Integrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrie Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regattd February 27, 2013 expresse
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the @any's internal control over financial reporting

IS/ KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 27, 2013
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Darling International Inc.:

We have audited Darling International Inc.'s ingroontrol over financial reporting as of Decemb®@y 2012, based on criteria establishe
Internal Control- Integrated Frameworkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafnhe Treadway Commission (COSO). Dar
International Inc.'s management is responsiblenfaintaining effective internal control over finaalcreporting and for its assessment of
effectiveness of internal control over financiapoeting, included in the accompanying Managemehitiaual Report on Internal Control o
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg@n opinion on the Company's internal controt éimancial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stafedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight ilo@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaiasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corgver financial reporting, assessing the risk
a material weakness exists, and testing and evadutite design and operating effectiveness of imatlecontrol based on the assessed risk
audit also included performing such other procesllae we considered necessary in the circumstaiéesbelieve that our audit provide
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableassuregarding the reliability of financ
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:eor external purposes in accordance with gelyeadcepted accounting principles.
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (daimeto the maintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet titansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdimpany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
transactions are recorded as necessary to peregagation of financial statements in accordancé wénerally accepted accounting princig
and that receipts and expenditures of the compamypeaing made only in accordance with authorizatioh management and directors of
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancediagaprevention or timely detection of unauthorizegjuisition, use, or disposition of
company's assets that could have a material effetiie financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohver financial reporting may not prevent or @étmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Darling International Inc. maintady in all material respects, effective internatteol over financial reporting as of December
2012, based on criteria establishedinternal Control - Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiwinthe
Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Biofdnited States), the consolida
balance sheets of Darling International Inc. andsiliaries as of December 29, 2012 and DecembeR@1l], and the related consolide
statements of operations, comprehensive incomekistiders' equity, and cash flows for each of tlearg in the thregear period ende
December 29, 2012, and our report dated Februgr@®B expressed an unqualified opinion on thossaalated financial statements.

ISI KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 27, 2013
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

December 29, December 31,
ASSETS 2012 2011
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 103,24¢ $ 38,93¢
Restricted cash 361 36E
Accounts receivable, less allowance for thalots of $2,171
at December 29, 2012 and $2,241 aebeer 31, 2011 98,13: 95,80°
Inventories 65,06¢ 50,83(
Income taxes refundable — 17,04
Other current assets 10,84 9,23t
Deferred income taxes 12,60¢ 7,46
Total current assets 290,26: 219,68(
Property, plant and equipment, net 453,92 400,22:
Intangible assets, less accumulated amortizativY8f021
at December 29, 2012 and $82,364 at Deeefiih 2011 337,40: 362,91
Goodwill 381,36¢ 381,36
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary 62,49¢ 21,73
Other assets 26,96. 31,110

$ 1,552,411 $ 1,417,03

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $ 82 % 1C
Accounts payable, principally trade 54,01« 60,40:
Accrued expenses 77,58¢ 66,84
Total current liabilities 131,68 127,25

Long-term debt, net of current portion 250,14: 280,02
Other noncurrent liabilities 61,53¢ 58,24!
Deferred income taxes 46,61* 31,13
Total liabilities 489,98( 496,65!

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $.01 par value; 150,000,000 shart®azed, 118,622,650 and
117,591,822 shares issued at December 29, 201Reswimber 31, 2011,

respectively 1,18¢ 1,17¢
Additional paid-in capital 603,83¢ 587,68!

Treasury stock, at cost; 807,659 and 543,884es at
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2@%pectively (20,039 (5,58¢)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (31,329 (30,909
Retained earnings 498,77¢ 368,00t
Total stockholders’ equity 1,062,43 920,37

$ 1,552,411 $ 1,417,03

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Three years ended December 29, 2012
(in thousands, except per share data)

December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Net sales $ 1,701,42 $ 1,797,24° % 724,90¢
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales and operating expenses 1,232,60. 1,268,22. 531,69¢
Selling, general and administrative expenses 151,71¢ 136,13! 68,04:
Depreciation and amortization 85,37: 78,90¢ 31,90¢
Acquisition costs — — 10,79¢
Total costs and expenses 1,469,68: 1,483,26! 642,44
Operating income 231,74: 313,98: 82,46:
Other expense:
Interest expense (24,059 (37,169 (8,739)
Other income/(expense), net 1,76( (2,955 (3,389
Total other expense (22,299 (40,119 (12,119
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated subsidiary (2,662) (1,572 —
Income from operations before income taxes 206,78! 272,29« 70,34:
Income taxes 76,01¢ 102,87t 26,10(
Net income $ 130,77¢ % 169,41t $ 44,24
Net income per share:
Basic $ 111 % 147 % 0.5¢
Diluted $ 1.11 % 147 % 0.5:2

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Three years ended December 29, 2012
(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011

Net income $ 130,77¢ % 169,41 $ 44,24
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Pension adjustments (1,169 (10,146 2,34¢

Natural gas swap derivative adjustments 391 (482) (59

Corn option derivative adjustments 194 — —

Interest rate swap derivative adjustments 15¢ 712 507

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (425) (9,916 2,79¢

Total comprehensive income $ 130,34t $  159,50. $ 47,03

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Three years ended December 29, 2012
(in thousands, except share data)

Common Stock

Number of Accumulated Other
Outstanding  $.01 par Additional Paid- Treasury Comprehensive Retained  Total Stockholders'
Shares Value In Capital Stock Loss Earnings Equity

Balances at January 2, 2010 82,226,69 $ 82€ $ 157,34 $ (3,855 $ (23,789 $ 154,34! $ 284,87"
Net income — — — — — 44,24 44,24
Pension liability adjustments, net of t — — — — 2,34¢ — 2,34¢
Interest rate swap derivative

adjustment, net of tax — — — — 507 — 507
Natural gas swap derivative adjustme

net of tax — — — — (59) — (59)
Issuance of non-vested stock 254,22( 3 2,401 — — — 2,404
Stock-based compensation — — 94 — — — 94
Tax benefits associated with stock-

based compensation — — 234 — — — 234

Treasury stock (51,740 — — (485) — — (485)
Issuance of common stock 10,130,50 101 130,03« — — — 130,13!
Balances at January 1, 2011 92,559,67 $ 93C $ 290,10t $ (4340 $ (20,989 $ 198,58t $ 464,29¢
Net income — — — — — 169,41¢ 169,41¢
Pension liability adjustments, net of ti — — — — (10,14¢) — (10,14¢)
Interest rate swap derivative

adjustment, net of tax — — — — 712 — 712
Natural gas swap derivative adjustme

net of tax — — — — (482) — (482)
Issuance of non-vested stock 174,28! 2 2,53¢ — — — 2,54(
Stock-based compensation — — 492 — — — 492
Tax benefits associated with stock-

based compensation — — 1,12t — — — 1,12t

Treasury stock (88,369 — — (1,24%) — — (1,24%
Issuance of common stock 24,402,84 244 293,42 — — — 293,66¢
Balances at December 31, 2011 117,048,43 $ 1,17¢ $ 587,68! $ (5,589 $ (30,909 $ 368,00t $ 920,37!
Net income — — — — — 130,77( 130,77(
Pension liability adjustments, net of tax — — — — (1,169 — (1,169
Interest rate swap derivative

adjustment, net of tax — — — — 15¢ — 15¢
Natural gas swap derivative adjustment,

net of tax — — — — 391 — 391
Corn option derivative adjustment, net

of tax — — — — 194 — 194
Issuance of non-vested stock 486,69’ 5 6,80¢ — — — 6,81°
Stock-based compensation — — 3,721 — — — 3,721
Tax benefits associated with stock-

based compensation — — 2,652 — — — 2,652
Treasury stock (264,274 — — (4,445) — — (4,445)
Issuance of common stock 544,13: 5 2,964 — — — 2,96¢
Balances at December 29, 2012 117,81499 $ 1,18t $ 603,83t $ (10,039 $ (31,329 $ 498,77¢ $ 1,062,43i

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Three years ended December 29, 2012
(in thousands)

December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 130,77¢  $ 169,41¢ $ 44,24
Adjustments to reconcile net income to nehqa®vided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 85,37: 78,90¢ 31,90¢
Deferred income taxes 10,33¢ 24,70 2,402
Loss/(gain) on sale of assets 1,09¢ 622 51
Gain on insurance proceeds from insurance settiemen (4,272 — —
Increase/(decrease) in long-term pension liability 2,79( (895) 1,35¢
Stock-based compensation expense 8,90¢ 3,93: 2,14¢
Write-off deferred loan costs 72E 4,92( 851
Deferred loan cost amortization 3,04 3,32« 67C
Equity in net loss of unconsolidated subsidiary 2,662 1,572 —
Changes in operating assets and lialsil net
of effects from acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (2,324 (20,08¢) (6,27€)
Escrow receivable — 16,26" (16,26
Income taxes refundable 17,84¢ (15,56¢) (2,639
Inventories and prepaid expenses (15,169 (5,76() (4,66))
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 3,92¢ (29,087) 25,49(
Other 3,83: (1,410 2,232
Net cash provided by operating activities 249,53 240,86:- 81,51(
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (115,419 (60,15%) (24,720
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (3,000) (1,759 (758,18)
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary (43,42¢) (23,30%) —
Gross proceeds from sale of property, pladtequipment and other assets 3,87( 1,52¢ 624
Proceeds from insurance settlement 4,27: — —
Payments related to routes and other intangibles (137) — (1,367)
Net cash used in investing activities (153,83) (83,689 (783,644
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt — — 550,00(
Payments on long-term debt (30,037 (270,009 (32,509
Borrowings from revolving credit facility — 131,00( 160,00(
Payments on revolving credit facility — (291,000 —
Deferred loan costs — (399) (24,020
Issuance of common stock 72 293,11 35
Minimum withholding taxes paid on stock awards (4,084 (1,287) (585)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 2,652 1,12¢ 234
Net cash provided/(used) in financing activities (31,39) (137,44) 653,15!
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 64,318 19,73¢ (48,980
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 38,93¢ 19,20: 68,18:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 103,24¢ % 38,93t $ 19,20:
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 21,79¢ $ 29,05¢ $ 7,748
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 43,49: $ 88,24: $ 28,11«




Non-cash financing activities
Debt issued for service contract assets $ 22¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1.

(@)

(b)

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Darling International Inc., a Delaware corporat{tiRarling”, and together with its subsidiaries, ti@mpany"), is a leading provic
of rendering, used cooking oil and bakery resideglycling and recovery solutions to the nation'sdfondustry. The Compa
collects and recycles animal pyeducts, bakery residual and used cooking oil fpmaltry and meat processors, commercial bak
grocery stores, butcher shops, and food servicgbksttments and provides grease trap cleaningcasrwio many of the sai
establishments. On December 17, 2Q10arling completed its acquisition of Griffin Instnies Inc. (which was subseque
converted to a limited liability company) and itgbsidiaries ("Griffin") pursuant to the AgreememidaPlan of Merger, dated as
November 9, 2010 (the "Merger Agreement”), by ambrg Darling, DG Acquisition Corp., a wholbwned subsidiary of Darlir
("Merger Sub"), Griffin and Robert A. Griffin, avié Griffin shareholderstepresentative. Merger Sub was merged with ara
Griffin (the "Merger"), and Griffin survived the Mger as a whollyewned subsidiary of Darling (the "Griffin Transamtl). The
Company operates over 120Bocessing and transfer facilities located throughthe United States to process raw materials
finished products such as protein (primarily meat bone meal ("MBM") and poultry meal ("PM")), hi&ldats (primarily bleachat
fancy tallow ("BFT"), poultry grease ("PG") and @V grease ("YG")) and bakery yroducts ("BBP") as well as a range of brar
and valueadded products. The Company sells these prodoatestically and internationally, primarily to pradus of animal fee
pet food, fertilizer, bio-fuels and other consurared industrial ingredients including olebemicals, soaps and leather goods for u
ingredients in their products or for further pragiag. Effective January 2, 2011as a result of the acquisition of Griffin,

Company's business operations were reorganizedvitanew segments, Rendering and Bakery, in omldretter align its busine
with the underlying markets and customers thatGbepany serves. All historical periods have beetated for the changes to
segment reporting structure. The Company's fisbdR2and fiscal 2011 year end results includeng2ks of contribution from tl
assets acquired in the Griffin Transaction, as @mengh to 2 weeks of contributions from these agsefiscal 2010. For addition
information on the Company’s segments, see Note 20.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIE:
(1) Basis of Presentatir

The consolidated financial statements include tmoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. ihificant intercompan
balances and transactions have been eliminatezhgotidation.

(2) Fiscal Yeal

The Company has a 52 / 5&ek fiscal year ending on the Saturday nearesember 31. Fiscal years for the consolid
financial statements included herein are for thevB2ks ended December 29, 2012 , the 52 weeks ddelseinber 31, 2011
and the 52 weeks ended January 1, 2011 .

(3) Cash and Cash Equivale

The Company considers all sheetm highly liquid instruments, with an original tadty of three months or less, to be ¢
equivalents.

(4) Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Agots

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful ant®dor estimated losses resulting from customeosipayment of trac
accounts receivable owed to the Company. Theske treceivables arise in the ordinary course ofrtass from sales of r:
material, finished product or services to the Comyp& customers. The estimate of allowance for doulsifgounts is bas
upon the Compang’ bad debt experience, prevailing market conditiamsl aging of trade accounts receivable, amongr
factors. If the financial condition of the Comp&nygustomers deteriorates, resulting in the custeimeability to pay th
Company’s receivables as they come due, additatad/ances for doubtful accounts may be required.
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®)

(6)

@)

®)

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

Inventorie:
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etarkCost is determined using the first-in, first-@FIFO) method.
Long Lived Assel

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at dospreciation is computed by the straighe method over the estima
useful lives of assets: 1) Buildings and improvategl5 to 30 years; 2) Machinery and equipmetd, B0 years; 3) Vehicleg,
to 6 years; and 4) Aircraft, 7 to 10 years.

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expensacasréd and expenditures for major renewals andrawgments al
capitalized.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with indefinite lives, and theref not subject to amortization, consist of tradmes acquired in the acquisi
of Griffin. Intangible assets subject to amorti@atconsist of: 1) collection routes which are magh of groups of suppliers
raw materials in similar geographic areas from Whike Company derives collection fees and a defd@dsource of ra
materials for processing into finished product¥;p@rmits that represent licensing of operatingiggldhat have been acquir
giving those plants the ability to operate; 3) mmmpete agreements that represent contractualgemants with forme
competitors whose businesses were acquired; dg trames; and 5) royalty, consulting and leasehgidements. Amortizati
expense is calculated using the straight-line ntethar the estimated useful lives of the assetgimgrfrom: 5 to 2Q/ears fo
collection routes; 10 to 20 years for permits; 37tgears for non-compete covenants; and/d&rs for trade names. Roya
consulting and leasehold agreements are amortizertioe term of the agreement.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Lohiyed Assets to Be Disposed

The Company reviews the carrying value of Idivgd assets for impairment when events or chainmgegcumstances indice
that the carrying amount of an asset, or relatasgtagroup, may not be recoverable from estimatéatduundiscounted ca
flows. Recoverability of assets to be held andiuseneasured by a comparison of the carrying atnafuain asset or asset grt
to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expettidoe generated by the asset or asset groupe Karrying amount of tl
asset exceeds its estimated future cash flowsnpaifment charge is recognized by the amount bglwthie carrying amount
the asset exceeds the fair value of the assefisdal 2012 , 2011 and 201fb triggering event occurred requiring that
Company perform testing of its long-lived assetsrfgpairment.

Goodwill

Goodwill and indefinite lived assets are testedifigpairment annually or more frequently if eventscbhanges in circumstant
indicate that the asset might be impaired. The @ follows a twastep process for testing impairment. First, thevalue o
each reporting unit is compared to its carryinguealo determine whether an indication of impairmexists. If impairment
indicated, then the fair value of the reportingtsngoodwill is determined by allocating the ugifair value of its assets ¢
liabilities (including any unrecognized intangilalssets) as if the reporting unit had been acqinracdusiness combination. 1
amount of impairment for goodwill is measured aséRcess of its carrying value over its implied failue.

In fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , the fair valuesha Companys reporting units containing goodwill exceeded takatec

carrying value. Goodwill was approximately $ 38i#lion at December 29, 2012 and December 31, 20&spectively. St
Note 6 for further information on the Company’s dudll.

Page 65




9)

(10)

(11)

Basic:

Net income

Diluted:

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

Environmental Expenditur

Environmental expenditures incurred to mitigat@vent environmental impacts that have yet to oaad that otherwise m
result from future operations are capitalized. énhgitures that relate to an existing condition edusy past operations and 1
do not contribute to current or future revenuesexgensed or charged against established envirdahreserves. Reserves
established when environmental impacts have bemniifetd which are probable to require mitigatiowér remediation and t
costs are reasonably estimable.

Income Taxe

The Company accounts for income taxes using thet assl liability method. Under the asset and liighinethod, deferred te
assets and liabilities are recognized for the tutiaix consequences attributable to differences dmtwthe financial statem
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilitied their respective tax bases. Deferred taxsassel liabilities are measu
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabbme in the years in which those temporaryediffices are expected tc
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred set® and liabilities of a change in tax rategé®gnized in income in the per
that includes the enactment date.

The Company periodically assesses whether it ierikely than not that it will generate sufficietaixable income to realize
deferred income tax assets. In making this detetitn, the Company considers all available pasiimd negative evidence i
makes certain assumptions. The Company considensng other things, its deferred tax liabilitiebe toverall busine
environment, its historical earnings and lossegeat industry trends and its outlook for futureage Although the Company
unable to carryback any of its net operating losbased upon recent favorable operating resultsfi@nde projections, certe
net operating losses can be carried forward atidadiand other deferred tax assets will be redlize

Earnings per Sha

Basic income per common share is computed by digidiet income by the weighted average number ofnrommshare
including nonvested and restricted shares outstanding duringéhied. Diluted income per common share is coenbuiy
dividing net income by the weighted average nundfecommon shares outstanding during the periodeamad by dilutiv
common equivalent shares determined using theungasock method.

Net Income per Common Share (in thousands)

December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011

Per- Per-
Income Shares P&hare  Income Shares Share Income Shares Share

$ 130,77 117,592 $ 111 $169,41¢ 114,924 $ 147 $ 44,24 82,854 $ 0.5¢

Effect of dilutive securities

Add: Option shares in the money and
dilutive effect of nonvested stock — 806 — — 972 — — 778 —

Less: Pro-forma treasury shares — (309) — — (371) — — (389) —

Diluted:

Net income

$ 130,77 118,089 $ 111 $169,41¢ 115,525 $ 147 $ 44,24 83,243 $ 0.5¢

For fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010, respectively,, 297 , 63,272 and 87,84Ritstanding stock options were excluded from dd
income per common share as the effect was antidilutFor fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectivéd5,486 , 330,268nc
75,714 non-vested stock were excluded from dilintedme per common share as the effect was antidilut
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Stock Based Compensat

The Company recognizes compensation expense imanrda equal to the fair value of the shaesed payments (e.g., st
options and nowested and restricted stock) granted to employeéy ancurring liabilities to an employee or otteipplier (a
in amounts based, at least in part, on the pridgeeEntitys shares or other equity instruments, or (b) thatire or may requi
settlement by issuing the entity’s equity sharestber equity instruments.

Total stock-based compensation recognized in tlersents of operations for the years ended Decel$heR012,
December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011 was appr®iin$8.9 million , $ 4.9 million and $ 2.8 millig respectively, which
included in selling, general and administrativetspand the related income tax benefit recognized approximately 8.5
million , $ 1.9 million and $ 1.1 million , respaaly. See Note 13 for further information on tBempany’s stoclbase:
compensation plans.

The benefits of tax deductions in excess of recmghicompensation cost are reported as a finanesl ffow. For the ye
ended December 29, 2012 , December 31, 2011 anddab, 2011 the Company recognized $ 2.7 milli&nl,1 millionand ¢
0.2 million as an increase in financing cash flows.

Use of Estimate

The preparation of the consolidated financial statets in conformity with U.S. generally acceptedoamting principle
requires management to make estimates and assashiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiahilities and disclosu
of contingent assets and liabilities at the datéhefconsolidated financial statements and thertep@mounts of revenues
expenses during the reporting period. Actual testduld differ from those estimates.

If it is at least reasonably possible that thenesté of the effect on the financial statements obadition, situation, or set
circumstances that exist at the date of the firmrstatements will change in the near term duen®ar more future confirmir
events and the effect of the change would be nzédterithe financial statements, the Company wiicttise the nature of t
uncertainty and include an indication that it idesist reasonably possible that a change in thmast will occur in the ne
term. If the estimate involves certain loss cageimcies the disclosure will also include an estntdtthe probable loss or rar
of loss or state that an estimate cannot be made.

Financial Instrumen

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivaleotsumts receivable, accounts payable and accryszhsegs approximates 1
value due to the short maturity of these instrumehihe Company's has no term debt outstanding e¢reer 29, 2012 At
December 31, 2011 , the term loan had a fair vafugpproximately $ 30.9 million compared to a cargyamount of $30.C
million . The carrying amount for the Compasither debt is not deemed to be significantlyedéht than the amount recor
and all other financial instruments have been =@t fair value as disclosed in Note 17.

Derivative Instrumen

The Company makes limited use of derivative insgnta to manage cash flow risks related to intezgpense, natural g
usage, diesel fuel usage, inventory and forecastdds. The Company does not use derivative instntsnfor tradin
purposes. Interest rate swaps are entered into thvt intent of managing overall borrowing costsrbglucing the potenti
impact of increases in interest rates on floatetg-fongterm debt. Natural gas swaps and options areeshieto with the intel
of managing the overall cost of natural gas usagestiucing the potential impact of seasonal weatleenands on natural ¢
that increases natural gas prices. Heating oipsveae entered into with the intent of managingdberall cost of diesel fu
usage by reducing the potential impact of seasaeather demands on diesel fuel that increases|digseprices. Inventor
swaps and options are entered into with the imtémbanaging seasonally high concentrations of MBWI, BFT, PG, YG an
BBP inventories by reducing the potential impactiénging prices. Corn options are entered intb thie intent of managi
forecasted sales of BBP by reducing the impachahging prices. At December 29, 201the Company had natural gas sv
and corn options outstanding that qualified
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and were designated for hedge accounting as welitasal gas swaps, heating oil swaps and optindscarn options and futt
contracts that did not qualify and were not dedigahdor hedge accounting.

Entities are required to report all derivative ingtents in the statement of financial positionait falue. The accounting 1
changes in the fair value (i.e., gains or lossés) a@erivative instrument depends on whether itlieen designated and quali
as part of a hedging relationship and, if so, arémason for holding the instrument. If certaindibans are met, entities m
elect to designate a derivative instrument as géefl exposures to changes in fair value, cashsflormforeign currencies. If t
hedged exposure is a cash flow exposure, the eiégobrtion of the gain or loss on the derivatimstiument is reported initia
as a component of other comprehensive income (sl earnings) and is subsequently reclassifital éarnings when tl
forecasted transaction affects earnings. Any ansoemcluded from the assessment of hedge effecigens well as tl
ineffective portion of the gain or loss is reportedearnings immediately. If the derivative instremh is not designated a
hedge, the gain or loss is recognized in earnimdisd period of change.

Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenue on sales when pgreodte shipped and the customer takes ownershimssuines risk
loss. Certain customers may be required to prepy to shipment in order to maintain payment ectibn against certe
foreign and domestic sales. These amounts aredest@s unearned revenue and recognized whendteqts have shipped &
the customer takes ownership and assumes rislsgf [bhe Company has formula arrangements witlhioestippliers wherel
the charge or credit for raw materials is tied tiblshed finished product commaodity prices aftedutding a fixed processing 1
incorporated into the formula and is recorded assi of sale by line of business. The Companygeiees revenue related
grease trap servicing in the month the trap semtcairs.

Related Party Transactic

The Company announced on January 21, 2011 thabliywdwned subsidiary of Darling entered into a limitiadbility company
agreement with a whollgwned subsidiary of Valero Energy Corporation (‘&fal’) to form Diamond Green Diesel Holdil
LLC (the "Joint Venture'). The Company has relgiady sale transactions with the Joint Venture. ifoldally, Darling throug!
its wholly-owned subsidiary Griffin, leases two real propertEcated in Butler, Kentucky and real propert@sated in each
Jackson, Mississippi and Henderson, Kentucky froarttn Properties, LLC, an entity owned in part bgrtvh W. Griffin, the
Company’s Executive Vice President — Chief Operations Officer. See Note 9 and Note @2fdirther information on tt
Company's related party transactions.

Reclassificatio
Certain prior year immaterial amounts have beelassified to conform to the current year preseotati

Subsequent Ever

The Company has evaluated subsequent events freranith of the most recent fiscal year through the ttze consolidate
financial statements were issued.

ACQUISITIONS

On December 17, 201Marling completed its acquisition of all of theases of Griffin pursuant to the Griffin Transactid he Griffir
Transaction increased Darlirggtapabilities by growing volumes, diversifying ttagv material supplies, increasing the ability &tté
serve the Company’s customers and suppliers amnidjong new opportunities for business growth oraional platform.

The amount of Griffin's revenue and earnings inetliéh the Companyg’ consolidated statement of operations for the pede:
January 1, 2011 were $ 27.7 million and $ 1.9 onillj respectively.
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As a result of the Griffin Transaction, effectived@mber 17, 2010 , the Company began includingpkeations of Griffin into the
Company's consolidated financial statements. dheviing table presents selected pro forma inforamtfor comparative purposes,
assuming the Griffin Transaction had occurred orudey 4, 2009 for the periods presented (unaud{tedhousands, except per share

data):

January 1, 2011
Net sales $ 1,339,58!
Income from continuing operations 133,18«
Net income 85,34«

Earnings per share
Basic $ 0.92
Diluted $ 0.91

The selected unaudited pro forma information isnemtessarily indicative of the consolidated resofitsperations for future periods
the results of operations that would have beerzezhhad the Griffin Transaction actually occurcedJanuary 4, 2009 .

Total consideration paid in the Griffin Transactisas approximately $ 872.2 million , comprised o740.5 millionin cash, th
issuance of approximately 10.0 million shares oflidg common stock (valued at the fair market vaiehe closing of $ 13.06r
approximately $ 130.6 million ), a $ 16.3 milliosceow receivable for certain over funding of workinapital, a $13.6 millior
accrued expense for the Company'’s election to @efhe tax basis of the assets acquired in thdiifansaction and a lonigrn
liability of approximately $ 3.8 million of contiramt consideration for the trugs adjustment as further described below. Duriaga
2011 working capital adjustments were made betwmsery goodwill and accounts receivable of appraxely $ 1.7 million,
between rendering goodwill and accrued expensemioaimately $ 2.0 million between bakery and rendering goodwill and aca
payable of approximately $ 0.3 million , and then@pany received approximately $ 16.4 million froneresv representing the 6.2
million escrow receivable recorded for certain over fundiigvorking capital and other immaterial amountsidionally, the
Company paid approximately $ 13.8 millitmthe former Griffin shareholders for the Comparslection under Section 338(h)(10
the Internal Revenue Code, an increase of appragiynd 0.2 million from the original $ 13.6 millioaccrual. The tax benefit frc
the step up in the tax basis of the Griffin asgetxpected to occur over a period of approximait@lyears. However, there can be
assurance that the Company will generate suffidgiremdme to take advantage of these possible tadafiedis. Further, there could
changes in the tax law that could erode the vafubeincreased tax basis of the Griffin asset® #x benefits that may be recei
by the Company as a result of the Section 338(ln)¢léxtion will have no impact on the Company'shemys and will impact ca:
flows only to the extent that the Company has texaitome that is offset by depreciation and amatibn deductions on the Grif
assets. The cash consideration in the Griffin Taatisn was funded primarily through borrowings untlee Company's cre:
agreement and the sale of senior notes as furteeussed in Note 10. The shares issued in theiGfiffansaction were issued
terms set forth in the rollover agreement, datedfagéovember 9, 2010 (the “Rollover Agreementi{, and among Darling, certain
Griffin's shareholders who qualify as “accreditedastors” (the “Rollover Shareholdergdursuant to Rule 501(a) of Regulatiol
promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, agrmlad (the “Securities Actand Robert A. Griffin, as such shareholc
representative to the Rollover Shareholders.

The Rollover Agreement provided for a true-up apfent in which additional cash of up to $ 15.0 ioillcould have been paid
Darling if on the True-Up Date (the last day of th@™ full consecutive month following the closing of tiverger), the Truew
Market Price (as defined in the Rollover Agreemérat)l been less than $ 10.002 . If the True-Up Blafkice exceeds $ 10.008q
additional consideration is required to be paithe TCompany initially valued this contingent considien at fair value ¢
approximately $ 3.8 million based on the probapiiitat the Company’s stock would be less than thuelip Market Price as defin
above. At December 31, 2011 , the contingent cemation was revalued to a value of zasat was considered almost certain tha
True-Up Market Price on January 31, 2012 would edc® 10.002 as defined in the Rollover AgreementJénuary 31, 2012the
True-up Market Price exceeded $ 10.002 and therefar adjustment was paid under the Rollover Agezgm

The Company also incurred costs as part of thdiifansaction for consulting, legal and financinghe amount of approximatt
$ 37.7 million of which $ 10.6 million was expensasl acquisition costs and approximately $ 3.1 omilivas recorded as inter
expense. Additionally, approximately $ 24.0 mitlizvas capitalized as deferred loan costs, whichrazieded in other assets on
Company’s consolidated balance sheets in fiscad 201
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The following table summarizes the fair value o thssets acquired and liabilities assumed in théfirGiTransaction as «

December 17, 2010 (in thousands):

Cash $ 35C
Accounts receivable 33,87:
Inventory 22,62
Other current assets 2,55¢
Other assets 3,10¢
Deferred tax asset 2,53¢
Identifiable intangibles 349,77!
Property and equipment 234,11!
Goodwill 294,66¢
Accounts payable (46,275
Accrued expenses (14,12))
Other liabilities (11,009

Purchase price $ 872,19

The $ 294.7 million of goodwill was assigned to tieadering and bakery segments in the amounts 2f1$6 million and $%3.Z
million , respectively. Of the total amount, $ ZB4million is expected to be deductible for tax purposesntifigble intangible
include trade names with indefinite lives of appnoately $ 92.0 millionand definite lived intangible assets including &admes «
approximately $ 0.5 million with a weighted averageful life of 15 years, $ 228.4 millian permits with a weighted average us
life of 13 years, $ 25.1 million in routes with @ighted average useful life of 5 years, and $ JlBomin non-compete and leaseh:
agreements with a useful life of 5 years.

The Company notes the acquisitions discussed batewnot considered related businesses, therefeneoarequired to be treated ¢
single business combination. Pro forma resultspafrations for these acquisitions have not beesepted because the effect of ¢
acquisition individually is not deemed materiatéwenues and net income of the Company for anglfiseriod presented.

On June 8, 2012 , the Compaogmpleted its acquisition of substantially all betassets of RVO BioPur, LLC ("BioPur")
approximately $ 3.0 million including property ptaand equipment of $ 0.6 million and intangible edssof $ 2.4 million.
Headquartered in Waterbury, Connecticut, BioPurioles used cooking oil collection and grease tepises to restaurants and f
service establishments in the New England areae®fCompany's existing East coast operations. Témtifthble intangibles have
weighted average life of nine years.

On May 28, 2010 , the Company acquired certaineggngd business assets from Nebraska By-Producatsfdnapproximately 45.2
million . The purchase was accounted for as an assetgsergursuant to the terms of the asset purchaseragnt between t
Company and Nebraska B3roducts, Inc. and affiliated companies (the "Nekaalransaction"). The assets acquired in the dék
Transaction will increase the Company’s renderiogfplio and better serve the Company’s custométisimthe rendering segment.

Effective May 28, 201Q the Company began including the operations ofNBbraska Transaction into the Company's conseli
financial statements. The Company paid approxiln&d 5.3 millionin cash for assets and assumed liabilities congistf property
plant and equipment of $ 9.6 million , intangibksets of $ 2.8 million , goodwill of $ 2.8 millicand other of $ 0.1 million the
closing date. The goodwill from the Nebraska Teatisn was assigned to the rendering segment aexpected to be deductible
tax purposes. The identifiable intangibles haweghted average life of eleven years.

On August 25, 2008Darling completed the acquisition of substantiall of the assets of API Recycling's used coolaigollectior
business (the "API Transaction"). The API Transactincluded additional consideration that could required to be paid es
anniversary by the Company, if certain average stgrkices are achieved over the three years fafigwhie anniversary of the clos
of the API Transaction, less on a prorata basisng term receivable recorded at closing. Durirsgdi 2011, the Company pa
approximately $ 1.3 million representing additiomansideration of $ 1.6 million recorded as goobivess approximately $.3
million representing a reduction of the long teeneivable.
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NOTE 3. INVENTORIES

A summary of inventories follows (in thousands):

December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Finished product $ 60,06: $ 46,10¢
Supplies and other 5,001 4,72¢
$ 65,06t $ 50,83(

NOTE 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMEN

A summary of property, plant and equipment folldimsthousands):

December 29, December 31,

2012 2011

Land $ 49,61¢ $ 46,38t
Buildings and improvements 129,24 117,50!
Machinery and equipment 414,53! 372,98t
Vehicles 97,19¢ 90,65:
Aircraft 18,46 11,65(
Construction in process 71,06¢ 39,44
780,12¢ 678,62:

Accumulated depreciation (326,20) (278,400
$ 453,92° % 400,22:

NOTE 5. INTANGIBLE ASSET¢

The gross carrying amount of intangible assetsuabject to amortization and intangible assets stibjeamortization is as follows |
thousands):

December 29, December 31,
2012 2011
Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets
Trade Names $ 92,00: $ 92,00:
92,00: 92,00:
Finite Lived Intangible Assets:
Routes 61,95: 95,56"
Permits 251,55( 251,41
Non-compete agreements 3,65¢ 5,01¢
Trade Names 53¢ 53¢
Royalty, consulting and leasehold 721 73¢
318,42: 353,27t
Accumulated Amortization:
Routes (27,687) (55,33
Permits (43,209 (24,38¢)
Non-compete agreements (1,525 (2,162
Trade Names (73 (37)

Dnvalhr ~rancuiltina and laacahe (R27\ (AARN



(73,027) (82,369

Total Intangible assets, less accumulated amdudizat $ 337,40. $ 362,91«
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Gross intangible routes and non-compete agreerdentsased in fiscal 2012 by approximately $ 37 Mianidue to asset retiremer
Amortization expense for the three years ended mbee 29, 2012 , December 31, 2011 and Januarylll, 2@as approximately
28.1 million , $ 28.0 million and $ 5.6 millionrespectively. Amortization expense for the néx¢ fiscal years is estimated to b
27.8 million , $ 27.8 million , $ 27.3 million ,&2.0 million and $ 21.4 million .

GOODWILL

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill (in thaods):

Rendering Bakery Total
Balance at December 31, 2011
Goodwill $ 344,130 $ 53,15( $ 397,28
Accumulated impairment losses (15,919 — (15,919
328,21¢ 53,15( 381,36
Goodwill acquired during year — — —
Impairment losses — — —
Balance at December 29, 2012
Goodwill 344,13: 53,15( 397,28
Accumulated impairment losses (15,919 — (15,919
$ 328,21¢ $ 53,15( $ 381,36

Certain of the Company's rendering facilities aighly dependent on one or few suppliers. It issosebly possible that certain
those suppliers could cease their operations avsgha competitor’s services, which could have aifidgnt impact on these facilities.

The process of evaluating goodwill for impairmemtdlves the determination of the fair value of ®@mpany's reporting units.
fiscal 2012 , fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010 , the failues of the Company’reporting units containing goodwill exceeded ithlatec
carrying value.

INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIAR?

The Company announced on January 21, 2011 thatodlywdwned subsidiary of Darling entered into a limitebility compan)
agreement with Valero to form the Joint Venturee Thoint Venture is owned 50% / 50&th Valero and was formed to desi
engineer, construct and operate a renewable dimet (the “Facility”), which will be capable of gducing approximatel®,30(
barrels per day of renewable diesel fuel and aedthier coproducts, to be located adjacent to Valero's refiie Norco, Louisian:
The Joint Venture is in the process of constructhey Facility under an engineering, procurement @mmstruction contract that
intended to fix the Company's maximum economic exp® for the cost of the Facility, without regacdproject scope chang
Construction of the Facility is substantially coetgl with the phased commissioning of the Facilityrently anticipated to be in t
second quarter 2013.

On May 31, 2011 , the Joint Venture and Diamonde@rBiesel LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of thenloventure (“Opco),
entered into (i) a facility agreement (the “Fagiligreement”) with Diamond Alternative Energy, LL& wholly-owned subsidiary
Valero (the “Lender”), and (ii) a loan agreemehie(tLoan Agreement™yith the Lender, which will provide the Joint Verguwith ¢
14 year multiple advance term loan facility of appmately $ 221,300,000 (the “JV Loant) support the design, engineering
construction of the Facility, which is now in thadl stages of construction. The Facility Agreemamt the Loan Agreement proh
the Lender from assigning all or any portion of feility Agreement or the Loan Agreement to utiatfed third parties. Opco h
also pledged substantially all of its assets toLttreder, and the Joint Venture has pledged allmfd® equity interests to the Lent
until the JV Loan has been paid in full and theLddn has terminated in accordance with its terms.

Pursuant to sponsor support agreements executednimection with the Facility Agreement and the Ldsgreement, each of t
Company and Valero are committed to contributingrapimately $ 93.2 milliorof the estimated aggregate costs of approximai
407.7 million for the completion of the Facilityh& Company is also required to pay for 50%any cost overruns incurred
connection with the construction of the Facilitygluding relating to any project scope changesvemrtting capital funding. As of tt
date of this report, it is anticipated that thejgcowill incur
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an additional $ 17.3 million in costs related tojpct scope changes, of which the Company will éeponsible for 50% As of
December 29, 201@nder the equity method of accounting, the Comgeas/an investment in the Joint Venture of approteigt
62.5 million on the consolidated balance sheet laasl recorded approximately $ 2.7 million and $ rhilion in losses in th
unconsolidated subsidiary for the years ended Dbeef, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , respectively.

ACCRUED EXPENSE

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in traous):

December 29, December 31,

2012 2011

Compensation and benefits $ 36,087 $ 28,10(
Utilities and sewage 5,114 4,99;
Accrued income, ad valorem, and franchise taxes 4,813 2,164
Reserve for self insurance, litigation, environnag
and tax matters (Note 19) 8,81( 9,21¢
Medical claims liability 4,671 5,57¢
Other accrued expense 18,08¢ 16,79¢

$ 77,58t $ 66,84¢
LEASES

The Company leases ten processing plants and sttweations, land surrounding certain processiagtgl three office locations an
portion of its transportation equipment under ofiegaleases. Leases are noncancellable and exfpu@rious times through the y
2040 . Minimum rental commitments under noncaabtddl leases as of December 29, 2012 , are as fo(iovthousands):

Period Ending Fisca Operating Leases

2013 $ 17,71t
2014 15,05¢
2015 12,26
2016 10,347
2017 8,49
Thereafter 26,45

Total $ 90,33

NOTE 10.

Darling through its whollyewned subsidiary Griffin, leases two real propeart@cated in Butler, Kentucky and real propertmsatet
in each of Jackson, Mississippi and Henderson, kGkytfrom Martom Properties, LLC, an entity owneadoiart by Martin W. Griffin
the Company's Executive Vice President —@uef Operations Officer. See Note 22 for furthd@ormation on the Company's rela
party lease transactions.

Rent expense for the fiscal years ended Decemhe2®@® , December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011$wE&6 million , $12.2
million and $ 9.7 million , respectively.

DEBT
Credit Facilities

Senior Secured Credit Facilitie@n December 17, 2010 , the Company entered inteditagreement (the “Credit Agreemenitt)
connection with the Griffin Transaction, consistiofga five-year senior secured revolving loan faciand a sixyear senior secur
term loan facility. On March 25, 2011the Company amended its Credit Agreement to aserehe aggregate available princ
amount under the revolving loan facility from $ 325nillion to $ 415.0 million (approximately $ 75rillion of which will be
available for a letter of credit sub-facility and1%.0 million of which will be available for a swghne subfacility) and to ad
additional stepdowns to the pricing grid providing



Page 73




DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

lower spread margins to the applicable base orrLibte under the Credit Agreement based on defieeerage ratio levels. As
December 29, 2012 , the Company had availabilitysd384.9 million under the revolving loan facilittaking into accounna
outstanding borrowings and letters of credit issae@ 30.1 million . As of December 29, 201the Company had repaid all of
original $ 300.0 million term loan issued under Beedit Agreement, including $ 30.0 million repaidfiscal 2012 and £70.(
million repaid in fiscal 2011 The amounts that have been repaid on the termri@y not be reborrowed. As a result of the teram
payments, the Company incurred a write-off of @sisr term loan facilities deferred loan costs ppraximately $ 0.7 milliorand ¢
4.9 million during the fiscal year ending DecemB@r 2012 and December 31, 201tespectively, which is included in inter
expense. The revolving credit facility has a fiveay term ending December 17, 201bhe Company used the proceeds of the
loan facility and a portion of the revolving loaacflity to pay a portion of the consideration af &cquisition of Griffin, to pay relat
fees and expenses and to provide for working dapgtads and general corporate purposes.

The Credit Agreement allows for borrowings at penwan rates based on the following loan types. Wéigpect to any revolvi
facility loan, i) an alternate base rate meanst@a par annum equal to the greatest of (a) the pratee(b) the federal funds effect
rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 4% and (c) the adjusted London Inter-Bank OffeteRALIBOR”) for a montl
interest period plus 1%plus in each case, a margin determined by regertma pricing grid under the Credit Agreement adjdiste:
according to the Company's adjusted leverage ratid, ii) Eurodollar rate loans bear interest aate per annum based on the 1
applicable LIBOR multiplied by the statutory reserkate plus a margin determined by reference tei@ng grid and adjuste
according to the Company's adjusted leverage rétith respect to an alternate base rate loan thatterm loan, at no time will t
alternate base rate be less than 2.50% per antusithe term loan alternate base rate margin @f%a.5With respect to a LIBOR loi
that is a term loan, at no time will the LIBOR ratpplicable to the term loans (before giving effectany adjustment for rese
requirements) be less than 1.50% per annum, péutetin loan LIBOR margin of 3.50% .

The Credit Agreement contains various customaryesgmtations and warranties by the Company, whiclude customary use
materiality, material adverse effect and knowledgalifiers. The Credit Agreement also containscéajain affirmative covenants tl
impose certain reporting and/or performance oliligaton the Company, (b) certain negative covernt@iatsgenerally prohibit, subje
to various exceptions, the Company from taking aiertactions, including, without limitation, incumg indebtedness, maki
investments, incurring liens, paying dividends, amgjaging in mergers and consolidations, sale beats and sales of assets,
financial covenants such as maximum total leveratje and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio @jdcustomary events
default (including a change of control). Obligasaimder the Credit Agreement may be declared ddgayable upon the occurrel
of such customary events of default.

On December 17, 201,0the Company repaid the balance plus accruedestten the term facility under the former creditesgner
and incurred a write-off of deferred loan costapproximately $ 0.9 million .

Senior NotesOn December 17, 2010 , Darling issued $ 250.0 onilaggregate principal amount of its 8.5% SenioteSlaue201¢
(the “Restricted Notes™inder an indenture with U.S. Bank National Assaoimgtas trustee. Darling used the net proceeds fre
sale of the Restricted Notes to finance in partdfgh portion of the purchase price paid in conoeatith Darling's acquisition
Griffin. The Company will pay 8.5% annual cash iet# on the Restricted Notes on June 15 and Decetblog each year. Other th
for extraordinary events such as change of comrtnal defined assets sales, the Company is not eshjtor make any mandat:
redemption or sinking fund payments on the Restii¢otes.

The original holders of the Restricted Notes waverythe benefit of registration rights pursuanateegistration rights agreement |
“Notes Registration Rights Agreementfjth the representative of the initial purchasénsaccordance with the terms of the N
Registration Rights Agreement, on June 15, 20tk ,Gompany filed a registration statement on Fortt8 offer to exchange .
outstanding Restricted Notes for $ 250.0 millio®98. Senior Notes due 2018 (the “Exchange Notewi collectively with th
Restricted Notes, the “Notes”). The exchange offas made effective June 27, 2011 and expired Jyl@11with the Compan
offering to exchange all outstanding Restricted @dothat were validly tendered and not withdrawrompto the expiration «
termination of the exchange offer for an equal @gal amount of the applicable Exchange Notes. dklthe Notes have be
exchanged. The terms of the Exchange Notes areasuiladly identical in all material respects to $koof the applicable outstand
Restricted Notes, except that transfer restrictioagistration rights and additional interest psomis relating to the Restricted Nc
do not apply to the Exchange Notes. The ExchangedNlmave been issued under the same indenturee d&ettricted Notes. T
Company did not receive any proceeds from the exghaffer. The
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Exchange Notes may be sold in the overdbenter market, in negotiated transactions or fincas combination of such methods.
Company does not plan to list the Notes on a natiorarket.

The Company may at any time and from time to timeclpase Notes in the open market or otherwise.Ndtes are redeemable,
whole or in part, at any time on or after Decemligr2014 at the redemption prices specified inindenture. Prior tdecember 1!
2014 , the Company may redeem all of the Notesratlamption price of 100%f the principal amount of the Notes redeemed,
accrued and unpaid interest to the redemptionatatean applicable premium as specified in the ihden

On and after December 15, 20,lthe Company may redeem all or, from time to timgart of the Notes (including any additic
Notes) upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 deyt&e, at the following redemption prices (expeskas a percentage of princ
amount), plus accrued and unpaid interest on thed\df any, to the applicable redemption date jéstito the right of holders
record on the relevant record date to receive éstallue on the relevant interest payment dategdiéemed during the twelveentt
period beginning on December 15 of the years inelichelow:

Year Percentage
2014 104.250%
2015 102.125%
2016 and thereafter 100.000%

In addition, until December 15, 2013 , the Comparay, at its option, redeem up to 3%¥¢the original principal amount of the No
and any issuance of additional Notes with the ash@roceeds of one or more equity offerings a&damption price equal tt08.5%
of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued amghid interest, if any, to the redemption datejestttio the right of holders of recc
on the relevant record date to receive interestau¢he relevant interest payment date; provided #h least 65%f the origina
principal amount of the Notes and any issuancedditianal Notes remains outstanding immediatelyeratach such redempti
provided further that the redemption occurs witbindays after the closing of such equity offering.

The indenture contains covenants limiting Darlirgfslity and the ability of its restricted subsidés to, among other things; in
additional indebtedness or issue preferred staakdividends on or make other distributions or repase of Darling's capital stock
make other restricted payments; create restricoonthe payment of dividends or other amounts fizarling's restricted subsidiar
to Darling or Darling's other restricted subsidéari make loans or investments; enter into certaimsaictions with affiliates; crei
liens; designate Darling's subsidiaries as unigetti subsidiaries; and sell certain assets or meitleor into other companies
otherwise dispose of all or substantially all ofrlidey's assets.

The indenture also provides for customary eventdeféult, including, without limitation, paymentfdalts, covenant defaults, cri
acceleration defaults to certain other indebtedimesxcess of specified amounts, certain eventsaokruptcy and insolvency a
judgment defaults in excess of specified amouhtny such event of default occurs and is contiguinder the indenture, the Trus
or the holders of at least 25%principal amount of the total outstanding Natesy declare the principal, premium, if any, inteeex
any other monetary obligations on all the thentamtding Notes issued under the indenture to beaddgpayable immediately.

The Credit Agreement and the Notes consisted ofdalf@ving elements at December 29, 2012 and Deegr@b, 2011, respectivel
(in thousands):
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December 29, December 31,

2012 2011
Senior Notes
8.5% Senior Notes due 2018 $ 250,000 $ 250,00(
Credit Agreement:
Term Loan $ — % 30,00(
Revolving Credit Facility:
Maximum availability $ 415,000 $ 415,00(
Borrowings outstanding — —
Letters of credit issued 30,11¢ 23,44(
Availability $ 384,88: $ 391,56(

In connection with the Credit Agreement and thedsdhe Company incurred approximately $ 24.0 nmilbd deferred loan costs.

The obligations under the Credit Agreement areajuaed by Darling National, Griffin, and its suliaigt, Craig Protein Division, Ir
("Craig Protein"™) and are secured by substantiallyof the property of the Company, including adde of 100%of the stock of a
material domestic subsidiaries and 66%he capital stock of certain foreign subsidiari@he Notes are guaranteed on an unse
basis by Darling’s existing restricted subsidigriesluding Griffin and all of its subsidiaries hatr than Darlings foreign subsidiarie
its captive insurance subsidiary and any inactivesgliary with nominal assets. The Notes rank i right of payment to ar
existing and future senior debt of Darling. Thetédowill be effectively junior to existing and futusecured debt of Darling and
guarantors, including debt under the Credit Agragmi the extent of the value of assets securiray slebt. The Notes will
structurally subordinated to all of the existingldnture liabilities (including trade payables)ezch of the subsidiaries of Darling 1
do not guarantee the Notes. The guarantees b@ubheantors (the "Guarantees") rank equally in rafhpayment to any existing a
future senior indebtedness of the guarantors. Gharantees will be effectively junior to existingdafuture secured debt of
Guarantors including debt under the Credit Agredirterthe extent the value of the assets securing debt. The Guarantees will
structurally subordinated to all of the existingddfuture liabilities (including trade payables) efich of the subsidiaries of e
Guarantor that do not guarantee the Notes.

As of December 29, 2012the Company believes it is in compliance withdlithe financial covenants, as well as all of tteel
covenants contained in the Credit Agreement andritwte.

Debt consists of the following (in thousands):

December 29 December 31,

2012 2011

Credit Agreement:
Revolving Credit Facility $ =5 —
Term Loan — 30,00(
8.5% Senior Notes due 2018 250,00( 250,00(
Other Notes 224 3C
250,22- 280,03
Less Current Maturities 82 1C

$ 250,14: $ 280,02(
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Maturities of long-term debt at December 29, 20di{v (in thousands):

Contractual
Debt Payment
2013 $ 82
2014 87
2015 55
2016 —
2017 —
thereafter 250,00(
$ 250,22:
The Company entered into a Bridge Facility (theidBe Facility") commitment with the parties to tBenior Secured Facilities in 1
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $ 250l@mi The proceeds of the Bridge Facility if drawn &ép be used to finance
part the Griffin Transaction. The Bridge Facilit)as available to ensure that the Griffin Transactimuld close if certain unsecu
financing related to the Company's acquisition dat get issued prior to the closing of the Mergéhe Company incurred
commitment fee of approximately $ 3.1 millitor the Bridge Facility. The Company recorded tbenmitment fee as interest expe
when the Bridge Facility expired in 2010.
NOTE 11. OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIE
Other noncurrent liabilities consist of the follogi (in thousands):
December 29, December 31,
2012 2011
Accrued pension liability (Note 15) $ 31,27¢ $ 27,31¢
Reserve for self insurance, litigation, environnaéand tax
matters (Note 19) 28,20¢ 28,81(
Other 2,052 2,117
$ 61,53¢ $ 58,24!
NOTE 12. INCOME TAXES

Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") auitfative guidance prescribes accounting for anclds&ire of uncertain ti
positions ("UTP") and requires application of a etikely than not threshold to the recognition atedecognition of UTP. FAS
authoritative guidance permits recognition of tineoant of tax benefit that has a greater tharp&@ent likelihood of being realiz
upon settlement. A change in judgment relatedhéoexpected ultimate resolution of UTP is recoghireearnings in the quarter
change. At December 29, 2012 the Company hadynoss unrecognized tax positions. During the yémr €Company's gro
unrecognized tax benefits decreased $ 0.2 mipiamarily as a result of settlements with taxinghawities and expiration of statute
limitations. The Company does not reasonably expagtmaterial change to the Company's unrecogneegbositions in the ne
twelve months. The Company recognizes accruedesiteand penalties, as appropriate, related to agnéred tax benefits as
component of income tax expense.

In fiscal 2012, the Company's major taxing jurisdictions include U.S. (federal and state). The Company is otlyreinder feder:
examination by the Internal Revenue Service farali2009 and fiscal 2010. The Company expects eder&l examination to
completed in early 2013. The Company is also ctigrdmeing examined by several state tax agenciée CTompany does r
anticipate that any of the federal or state exatitina will have a significant impact on the Compamgsults of operations or finant
position. The statute of limitations for the Comyarfederal and material state returns remains égreexamination for tax years 2C
to 2011.

Income tax expense attributable to income fromioaintg operations before income taxes consiste@fallowing (in thousands):
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December 29 December 31  January 1,

2012 2011 2011
Current:
Federal $ 54,98: $ 58,90: $ 21,49:
State 10,36¢ 13,46: 4,35¢
Foreign 58 467 —
Total current 65,40¢ 72,83 25,847
Deferred:
Federal 10,01t 26,23 25€
State 592 3,81 3
Total deferred 10,60" 30,04 258
$ 76,01F $ 102,87¢ $ 26,10(
Income tax expense for the years ended Decemb&®2 , December 31, 2011 and January 1, 20differed from the amou
computed by applying the statutory U.S. federabime tax rate to income from continuing operatioefofe income taxes as a re
of the following (in thousands):
December 29 December 31 January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Computed "expected" tax expense  $ 72,37 $ 95,30 $ 24,62(
State income taxes, net of federal ber 7,124 11,22¢ 2,95¢
Section 199 qualified domestic
production deduction (4,830 (5,306 (2,079
Change valuation allowance 254 1 (130)
Other, net 1,097 1,652 73C

$ 76,01: $ 102,87¢ $ 26,10(

The tax effects of temporary differences that gige to significant portions of the deferred taseis and deferred tax liabilities
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 are peesketow (in thousands):

December 29, December 31,
2012 2011
Deferred tax assets:

Loss contingency reserves $ 10,39¢ $ 8,861
Employee benefits 5,07¢ 3,38(
Pension liability 19,73« 19,00(
Intangible assets amortization, including taxaldedyvill 67¢ 2,957
Other 15,72: 10,99:
Total gross deferred tax assets 51,60¢ 45,19¢
Less valuation allowance (300) (46)
Net deferred tax assets 51,30¢ 45,15(

Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets amortization, including taxaldedyvill (22,089 (14,157
Property, plant and equipment depreciation (563,779 (43,477
Other (9,45%) (11,199
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (85,319 (68,81%)

$ (34.0060 & (23.668



Amounts reported on Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Current deferred tax asset $ 12,60¢ $ 7,46¢
Non-current deferred tax liability (46,61%) (31,139
Net deferred tax liability $ (34,000 $ (23,669
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At December 29, 2012 , the Company had net opegrdtiss carryforwards for federal income tax purgostapproximately $.5
million expiring through 2020 The availability of the net operating loss c&rwards to reduce future taxable income is subij@
various limitations. As a result of the chang®@wmership which occurred pursuant to the May 2@@2pitalization, utilization of tt
net operating loss carryforwards is limited to apgmately $ 0.7 millionper year for the remaining life of the net opermgtiosses
Also the Company had U.S. foreign tax credit camyrds of approximately $ 0.3 millioand state tax carryforwards
approximately $ 0.6 million , which expire througb22 . As of December 29, 2012 , the Company haaluation allowance of 8.3
million due to uncertainties upon the Company's estimdtagome in the various jurisdictions in which iperates and the peri
over which deferred income tax assets will be recalvle. The realization of net deferred incomeassets as of December 29, 2012
is primarily dependent upon the Company's abibtgeénerate future income and foreign source indortiee U.S.

NOTE 13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND STOCGBASED COMPENSATION

On January 27, 2011 , the Company entered intaderwritten public offering for 24,193,548ares of its common stock, at a p
to the public of $ 12.70 per share, pursuant t@féective shelf registration statement. The offgratosed on February 2, 2011n
addition, certain former stockholders of Griffindrstries, Inc. (pursuant to such stockholders'regctial registration rights) gran
the underwriters a 30-dagption, which the underwriters subsequently exectim full, to purchase from them up to an addai
3,629,032 shares of Darling common stock to cower-allotments. The Company used the net procekdpmroximately $£92.7
million from the offering to repay all of its then outstangd revolver balance and a portion of its term Idanility under th
Company's Credit Agreement. Darling did not receimg proceeds from the sale of shares by the fosteekholders of Griffin.

On December 21, 201® special meeting of the stockholders was heldaaptbposal to approve an amendment to Darlingtatez
certificate of incorporation, as amended, to inseethe total number of authorized shares of comstock, par value $ 0.01from
100,000,000 to 150,000,000 was approved.

On May 8, 2012, the shareholders approved the Company's 2012 liisdncentive Plan (the "2012 Omnibus Plan"). PB&Z
Omnibus Plan replaced the Company's 2004 Omnibeentive Plan (the "2004 Omnibus Plan®) for futurargs. Under the 20
Omnibus Plan, the Company is allowed to grant stmukons, stock appreciation rights, neested and restricted stock (incluc
performance stock), restricted stock units (inalgdperformance units), other stock-based awards.enployee director awar¢
dividend equivalents and cash-based awards. Térereip to 11,066,54dommon shares available under the 2012 Omnibus
which may be granted to participants in any plaaryf@s such term is defined in the 2012 Omnibus)PI&ome of those shares
subject to outstanding awards as detailed in thiedabelow. To the extent these outstanding awarelgorfeited or expire witha
exercise, the shares will be returned to and adailfor future grants under the 2012 Omnibus PlEime 2012 Omnibus Plasy’
purpose is to attract, retain and motivate emplsydiectors and third party service providershaf Company and to encourage tl
to have a financial interest in the Company. THHA2 Omnibus Plan is administered by the Compensaiommittee (th
"Committee") of the Board of Directors. The Contest has the authority to select plan participagriant awards, and determine
terms and conditions of such awards as providetier?012 Omnibus Plan. The Committee has adoptezkecutive compensati
program that includes a lortgrm incentive component (the "LTIP") for the Compa key employees, as a subplan under the tet
the 2012 Omnibus Plan. The principal purpose efltfiIP is to encourage the Company's executivesntance the value of 1
Company and, hence, the price of the Compmamsydock and the stockholders' return. In addititwe, LTIP is designed to cre
retention incentives for the individual and to [o®/an opportunity for increased equity ownershipelecutives. The Committ
awarded dollar value performance based restridtmzk @nd stock option opportunities under the LiiRach of fiscal 20122011
and 2010to certain of the Company's key employees, inclydime Chief Executive Officer and certain of itseEutive Vice
Presidents. The restricted stock and stock optimalerlying the LTIP are issued only if a predetaed financial objective is met
the Company. The Company met the financial objechbr fiscal 2011 and fiscal 20&hd those shares and options were issu
accordance with the terms of the LTIP. See "Fig€Hl2 LongTerm Incentive Opportunity Awards" below for a dission of th
fiscal 2012 LTIP award opportunities. The Comparstsck options granted under the 2012 Omnibus Béarerally terminatelC
years after date of grant. At December 29, 20tttz number of common shares available for issuamcler the 2012 Omnibus F
was 11,016,544 .

The following is a summary of stock-based compéosaranted during the years ended December 22 2December 31, 201dnc
January 1, 2011 .
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Nonqualified Stock Options On March 9, 2010 , the Company granted 24@fiqualified stock options in the aggregate unbe
2004 Omnibus Plan to its non-employee directorise €xercise price for March 9, 2010 stock optiorzs B 8.21per share (fa
market value at the close of the trading day imiatediy preceding the grant date). All of the remployee director stock options \
25 percent six months after the grant date ande?&pt on each of the first three anniversary dé®after. On March 9, 201@he
Company's board of directors granted 53,722 noiftpchktock options in the aggregate under the Gowyijs LTIP to certain of tt
Company’s employees. The exercise price for thecM8, 2010 stock options was $82dr share (fair market value at the clos
the trading day immediately preceding the graneda®©n March 8, 2011 , the Company's board ofctire granted73,83¢
nonqualified stock options in the aggregate underGompany’s LTIP to certain of the Compangmployees. The exercise price
the March 8, 2011 stock options was $1480 share (fair market value at the close of thdiilg day immediately preceding the g
date). On March 6, 2012 , the Company's boardirettbrs granted 135,73%nqualified stock options in the aggregate unde
Company's LTIP to certain of the Company's emplsy&ée exercise price for the March 6, 2012 stqatloas was $16.98er shar
(fair market value at the close of the trading thagnediately preceding the grant date). All of thesards vest 2percent upon gra
and 25 percent on each of the first three annivgidates of the grant thereafter.

Incentive Stock OptionsFor fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 none of the ogtissued were incentive stock options.

A summary of all stock option activity as of Deceani29, 2012 and changes during the year ende@seipted below.

Weighted-avg. Weighted-avg.
Number of exercise price remaining
shares per share contractual life
Options outstanding at December 31, 2011 813,13« § 5.1C
Granted 135,73: 16.9¢
Exercised (226,25() 2.7
Forfeited — —
Expired — —
Options outstanding at December 29, 2012 722,61 $ 8.07 4.8 years
Options exercisable at December 29, 2012 567,73t $ 6.0¢ 3.7 years

The fair value of each stock option grant under@oenpany's stock option plan was estimated on &te df grant using the Bla
Scholes option-pricing model with the following \ghted average assumptions and results for fiscd 2@011 and 2010 .

Weighted Average 2012 2011 2010
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.14% 2.53% 2.73%
Expected term 5.75 years 5.75 years 5.7kyear
Expected volatility 62.0% 61.1% 60.2%

Fair value of options granted $9.16 $8.26 8%4.

The expected lives for options granted during fi@€d2 , 2011 and 2010 were computed using theldietbmethod.

At December 29, 2012 , $ 13.7 million of total figlequity-based compensation expense (determiried the BlackScholes optio
pricing model and Monte Carlo model for non-vesstock grants) related to outstanding n@sted options and stock award
expected to be recognized over a weighted avergedoof 1.7 years.

For the year ended December 29, 2@tel December 31, 2011, the amount of cash recdiomd the exercise of options w
approximately $ 0.1 million and $ 0.5 million , pestively, and the related tax benefits was appnately $ 2.7 million and 3.1
million , respectively. For the year January 1, 20the amount of cash received from the exercisgptibns was insignificant and 1
related tax benefits were approximately $ 0.2 onilli respectively. The total intrinsic value of optioexercised for the years en
December 29, 2012 , December 31, 2011 and Janu@@1ll was approximately $ 3.3 million , $ 1.4 foill and $ 0.1 million,
respectively. The fair value of shares vested for
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the years ended December 29, 2012 , December 31,&@ January 1, 2011 was approximately $ 8.1amill$ 3.7 million and ®.C
million , respectively. At December 29, 2012 , tiggregate intrinsic value of options outstandiras approximately $.6 million
and the aggregate intrinsic value of options esalide was approximately $ 5.4 million .

NonVested Stock Awards On March 9, 2010 , the Company's board of dirscgranted 241,188hares of stock under the 2!
Omnibus Plan, 161,183 shares of which were undeCibmpany's LTIP and 80,0@8Bares of which were granted as a discretic
grants to other employees not part of the Companyi®. At the March 9, 2010 grant date 60,2d@res vested immediately and
remaining stock awards vest over the next threevarsary dates of the grants in equal installme@ms. March 8, 2011, the
Company's board of directors granted 221,503 shafresock all of which were under the Company's R.TAt theMarch 8, 201
grant date 55,376hares vested immediately and the remaining staekds vest over the next three anniversary datéseofrants i
equal installments. On August 29, 2011 , the Comiaroard of directors made a discretionary gr&rit0g878shares of stock unc
the 2004 Omnibus Plan to certain key employeesthat August 29, 2011 grant date 2,78fares vested immediately and
remaining stock awards vest over the next thredvarsary dates of the grants in equal installme@s. March 6, 2012 the
Company's board of directors granted 375,041 sharstock under the 2004 Omnibus Plan, 300,84dres of which were under
Company's LTIP and 75,0GMares of which were granted as discretionary granbther employees not part of the Company's |
At the March 6, 2012 grant date 93, A iares vested immediately and the remaining steekds vest over the next three anniver
dates of the grants in equal installments. On Ma304.2 , the Company's board of directors grant®@@Cshares of stock under 1
2004 Omnibus Plan to a newly employed officer & @ompany. At the May 8, 2012 grant date 1,2&8@res vested immediately i
the remaining shares vest over the next three arsdwy dates of the grant in equal installments. September 1, 2012 the
Company's board of directors granted 50,8088res of stock under the 2012 Omnibus Plan taCtrapany's new Chief Financ
Officer. At the September 1, 2012 grant date 258@fres vested immediately and the remaining shaastsover the next thr
anniversary dates of the grant in equal installsient

On November 11, 2010 , the Company's board of @ire@approved award opportunities for 640,000 wested restricted shares
$12.53(fair market value at grant date) under the Comsa@10 Special Incentive Program (as more fullscdbed below). The
restricted shares vest upon the closing of the Bteend achievement of certain varying market caonbt over vesting perio
spanning 4 years.

A summary of the Company’s non-vested stock awasdsf December 29, 2012 , and changes during #reeyeled is as follows:

Weighted Average

Non-Vested Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Stock awards outstanding December 31, 2011 954.27( $ 9.1¢
Shares granted 430,04 16.6(
Shares vested (548,28) 10.3(C
Shares forfeited = =
Stock awards outstanding December 29, 2012 836,02« $ 12.2¢

Nonemployee Director Restricted Stock Award®n February 24, 2011the Company's Board of Directors approved an Atae
and Restated NoBmployee Director Restricted Stock Award Plan (tferector Restricted Stock Plan™) pursuant to an
accordance with the 2004 Omnibus Plan in ordetttac and retain highly qualified persons to seasenonemployee directors and
more closely align such directors' interests witk interests of the stockholders of the Companytmyiding a portion of the
compensation in the form of Company common stock.

Under the Director Restricted Stock Plan, $ 60,b0festricted Company common stock (the "Restri@entk”) will be awarded
each noremployee director on the fourth business day afterCompany releases its earnings for its priorgieted fiscal year (tt
"Date of Award"). The amount of restricted stookbe issued will be calculated using the closingepof the Compang’ commol
stock on the third business day after the Compal®ases its earnings. The Restricted Stock wilii®ect to a right of repurchas:
$ 0.01per share upon termination of the holder as a mewfithe Company's board of directors for causewitichot be transferabl
These restrictions will lapse with respect
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to 100% of the Restricted Stock upon the earli@stccur of (i) teryears after the Date of Award, (ii) a Change of {@ar(as define

in the 2004 Omnibus Plan), and (iii) terminationtioé nonemployee director's service with the Company, othan for "cause" (i
defined in the Director Restricted Stock Plan). Karch 6, 2012 , the Company issued 21,8B4res of restricted stock in
aggregate to its non-employee directors under tinec®r Restricted Stock Plan. On March 8, 201he, Company issued4,82¢
shares of restricted stock in the aggregate todtsemployee directors under the Director Restti@®ck Plan. On May 18, 2011
the Company issued 4,652 shares of restricted stotke aggregate to its two newly elected momployee directors under -
Director Restricted Stock Plan. On March 9, 2010e, Company issued 14,616 shares of restricted gtothe aggregate to its non-
employee directors under the Non-Employee DireRiestricted Stock Award Plan then in effect.

A summary of the Company’s non-employee directstrieted stock awards as of December 29, 204:2d changes during the y
ended is as follows:

Weighted Average

Restricted Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Stock awards outstanding December 31, 2011 87,25¢ $ 7.7¢
Restricted shares granted 21,20« 16.9¢
Restricted shares where the restriction lapsed — —
Restricted shares forfeited = =
Stock awards outstanding December 29, 2012 108,45t $ 9.5¢

Fiscal 2012 Longrerm Incentive Opportunity Awards The Committee awarded dollar value performaraset restricted stock &
stock option opportunities under the LTIP for fise@12to certain of the Company's key employees, includire Chief Executi
Officer, the President and certain of its Executitiee Presidents (the "2012 Restricted Stock ando@pAwards"). The restrictt
stock and stock options underlying the 2012 RestiliStock and Option Awards are issued only ifedptermined financial objecti
is met by the Company. The Company met the firsrmbjective for fiscal 2012 Accordingly, in accordance with the terms of
2012 Restricted Stock and Option Awards, it is@pédited that the restricted stock representing 80%e potential award and stc
options representing 20%f the potential award will be granted and issuedhe recipients on the fourth business day afte
Company releases its annual financial results igwaf 2012. The amount of restricted stock and stock optittnke issued wi
predetermined using a discounted per share priee."Discounted Per Share Price" is derived by disting the closing market pri
of the Company's common stock as of the last tcaday of the immediately preceding fiscal year ¢ocaunt for forfeiture of tr
restricted stock based on, among other thingspibbability of the failure of the restricted stotkbe granted and the failure of
Company to meet the required performance meastihesstock options will have an exercise price eqodhe fair market value
the Company's common stock on the third businegafier the Company releases its annual finanemllts.

The above 2012 Restricted Stock and Option Awarelewleemed equity classified in fiscal 2012 asstiaes are known, but h:
not yet been granted. The prior year LTIP awardewmeated as a liability until the grant date witee number of shares and opti
to be issued were known, and then it became eglagsified. At December 31, 201the Company recorded a liability
approximately $ 4.0 million on the balance sheettie long-term incentive opportunities.

2010 Special Incentive Program Award®n November 11, 2010the Committee approved a 2010 Special Incentregr@m (th:
"2010 Special Incentive Program") for certain keypéoyees of the Company pursuant to the Compar 2Dmnibus Pla
conditioned upon the closing of the Merger. Untler 2010 Special Incentive Program, certain keyleyses (the "Participatit
Employees") upon successful completion of the Mebgeame eligible to receive a total of 640,88@res of restricted stock of wh
463,333 shares have been issued as of Decemb20P®, The stock vests upon the closing of the Mergerachievement of certe
varying market conditions over vesting periods syag 4 years. A Participating Employee will not be eetitlto receive any gre
under these restricted stock awards if such Ppaticig Employees employment with the Company has terminated, vahip or
involuntarily, prior to the determination that tbenditions to receive such restricted stock awancetbeen fulfilled.
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NOTE 14. COMPREHENSIVE INCOM

The Company follows FASB authoritative guidance feporting and presentation of comprehensive incandoss and i
components. Other comprehensive income (lossgriwetl from adjustments that reflect pension adjesits, natural gas derivat
adjustments, corn option adjustments and intesdstswap derivative adjustments. The componentgh&r comprehensive incol
(loss) and the related tax impacts for the yeadeérmecember 29, 2012 , December 31, 2011 and Jabua01lare as follows (i
thousands):

Before-Tax Tax (Expense) Net-of-Tax
Amount or Benefit Amount
Year Ended January 1, 2011
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognized $ 58¢ $ (228) % 361
Amortization of actuarial loss 3,131 (1,219 1,915
Amortization of prior service costs 111 (43) 68
Total defined benefit pension ple 3,831 (1,485 2,34¢
Natural gas swap derivatives
Loss reclassified to net income 161 (62) 99
Loss recognized in other comprehensive income (257) 99 (15¢)
Total natural gas derivativ: (9€) 37 (59)
Interest Swap derivatives
Loss reclassified to net income 1,557 (607) 95C
Loss recognized in other comprehensive income (729) 28C (447)
Total interest swap derivativ 82¢ (321) 507
Other comprehensive income $ 456: $ (1,769 $ 2,79¢
Year Ended December 31, 2011
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognized $ (19,28() $ 747¢ % (11,80¢)
Amortization of actuarial loss 2,72¢ (1,05¢) 1,66¢
Actuarial prior service cost recognized (209%) 40 (63)
Amortization of prior service costs 9C (35) 55
Total defined benefit pension ple (16,569 6,42% (10,14¢)
Natural gas swap derivatives
Loss reclassified to net income 441 (270 271
Loss recognized in other comprehensive income (1,229 47€ (759)
Total natural gas derivativ (78¢) 30€ (482)
Interest Swap derivatives
Loss reclassified to net income 1,16 (45)) 71z
Other comprehensive income $ (16,199 $ 6,27¢ $ (9,91¢)
Year Ended December 29, 2012
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognized $ (6,76¢) $ 2,62: % (4,14%)
Amortization of actuarial loss 4,75¢ (1,849 2,91
Amortization of prior service costs 10< (39 64
Total defined benefit pension ple (1,909 74C (1,169)
Natural gas swap derivatives
Loss reclassified to net income 1,267 (49)) 77€
Loss recognized in other comprehensive income (628) 242 (385)
Total natural gas derivativ: 63¢ (24¢) 391

Corn option derivatives
Loss recognized in other comprehensive income 317 (229) 194

TAatal mmvin Anmbian na= /& EaTai 104




Interest Swap derivatives
Loss reclassified to net income 26C (201) 15¢

Other comprehensive income $ (699 $ 268 $ (425

Page 83




NOTE 15.

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company has retirement and pension plans caystibstantially all of its employees. Most retient benefits are provided
the Company under separate fipaly honcontributory and contributory defined benafid defined contribution plans for all sala
and hourly employees (excluding those covered hgrasponsored plans) who meet service and age requitermefined benefi
are based principally on length of service andiegmpatterns during the five years precedingestent. During the third quarter
fiscal 2011, as part of the initiative to combine the Darlangd Griffin retirement benefit programs, the CompaBoard of Directol
authorized the Company to proceed with the restring of its retirement benefit program effectivendary 1, 2012 to include th
closing of Darling's salaried and hourly definechéfit plans to new participants as well as theZireg of service and wage accrt
thereunder effective December 31, 2{&lcurtailment of these plans for financial repatpurposes) and the enhancing of ber
under the Company's defined contribution plans. élew, the Company-sponsored hourly union plan babeen curtailed.

Effective January 1, 2012 the Griffin hourly 401(k) plan merged into the Miag International Inc. Hourly 401(k) Savir
Plan. Effective January 1, 2012 , all of the Conmypa hourly employees are eligible to participate his tplan, which allows f
elective deferrals, an employer match equal to 2p%0 6%of a participants deferrals each pay period andraployer contributio
based on age (ranging from 2-5% of compensatiorygen. Previously, the Company's employer match e@gual to 100%f the firs
$10 per pay period deferred by a participant, witmaximum of $520 per year, and an employer cartoh equal to $52@el
year. Effective January 1, 201Darling International Inc.'s Hourly 401(k) SavinBlan accepted the transfer of assets and liak
of the hourly employees of Griffin that had accobaiances in the Griffin plans which existed priorJanuary 1, 2012 The
Company's matching portion and annual employerrifiriion to the Darling International Inc. Hourlp#(k) Savings plan fdfiscal
2012, 2011 and 2010 was approximately $ 2.3 milji 0.7 million and $ 0.7 million , respectively.

Effective January 1, 2012the Griffin salaried 401(k) plan merged into fharling International Inc. Salaried 401(k) Savirigjan, i
defined contribution plan, which was amended andl inzludes an employer match equal to 25% up too6% participants deferre
each pay period and an employer contribution basedge (ranging from 3-6%f compensation per year). Previously, the Da
International Inc. Salaried 401(k) Savings Plaruded an employer contribution based on age (ranfyom 2-5%o0f compensatic
per year). Effective January 1, 201®arling International Inc.'s Salaried 401(k) Sm& Plan accepted the transfer of asset:
liabilities of the salaried employees of Griffinathhad account balances in the Griffin plans wiaglsted prior to January 1, 2012
The Companys matching portion and annual employer contribuportion to the Darling International Inc. Salari¢d1(k) Saving
Plan for fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 was approéiga 4.9 million , $ 1.5 million and $ 1.5 milliarrespectively.

Under Griffin's old defined contribution plans t@®mpany made matching contributions for fiscal 2@flapproximately $0.5
million and immaterial amounts in fiscal 2010 .

The Company recognizes the over-funded or undedddrstatus of the Company's defined benefit petsement plans as an asse
liability in the Company's balance sheet, with gesin the funded status recognized through comepsite income in the year
which they occur.

The following table sets forth the plarfiahded status and amounts recognized in the Congaagsolidated balance sheets base
the measurement date ( December 29, 2012 and Dec@&hp2011 ) (in thousands):
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December 29, December 31,
2012 2011
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 123,55. $ 111,37¢
Service cost 32¢ 1,17¢
Interest cost 5,451 6,057
Actuarial loss 13,08 18,02¢
Benefits paid (4,617 (4,336
Effect of curtailment — (8,917
Other — 16€
Projected benefit obligation at end of period 137,79 123,55:
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period 96,23¢ 93,30¢
Actual return on plan assets 13,02¢ (3,274
Employer contribution 1,87¢ 10,537
Benefits paid (4,619 (4,336
Fair value of plan assets at end of period 106,51 96,23¢
Funded status (31,279 (27,319
Net amount recognized $ (31,279 $ (27,319
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets consist of:
Non-current liability $ (31,278 $ (27,319
Net amount recognized $ (31,279 $ (27,31%)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive loss consist of:
Net actuarial loss $ 50,71 $ 48,70:
Prior service cost 174 277
Net amount recognized (a) $ 50,88t $ 48,97¢

(@ Amounts do not include deferred taxes of $!1fillion and $ 18.6 million at December 29, 201®d &December 31, 2011

respectively.
December 29, December 31,
2012 2011
Projected benefit obligation $ 137,79° $ 123,55:
Accumulated benefit obligation 137,79° 123,55¢
Fair value of plan assets 106,51¢ 96,23¢

Net pension cost includes the following componéintshousands):

December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Service cost $ 32¢ % 1,17¢ % 1,05¢
Interest cost 5,451 6,052 5,95¢
Expected return on plan assets (6,709 (6,88¢) (6,389)

Net amortization and deferral 4,84¢ 2,81« 3,24:



Curtailment 14 63 —

Net pension cost $ 3921 $ 3,21¢ $ 3,86¢
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprekieriscome (loss) for the year ended (in thousands):

2012 2011
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognized:
Reclassification adjustments $ 291: % 1,66¢
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognized during the period (4,145 (112,80¢)
Prior service (cost) credit recognized:
Reclassification adjustments 64 55
Prior service cost arising during the period — (63)
$ (1,169 $ (20,14¢)

The estimated amount that will be amortized fromuatulated other comprehensive loss into net peripdnsion cost ifiscal 201:
is as follows (in thousands):

2013
Net actuarial loss $ 5,20z
Prior service cost 59
$ 5,261

Weighted average assumptions used to determindit@ligations were:

December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Discount rate 3.90% 4.50% 5.55%
Rate of compensation increase —% —% 4.16%

Weighted average assumptions used to determirgenietlic benefit cost for the employee benefit pamplans were:

December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Discount rate 4.50% 5.55% 5.90%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels —% 4.16% 4.08%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.35% 7.85% 7.85%

Consideration was made to the loegm time horizon for the plans' benefit obligatoas well as the related asset class m
determining the expected long-term rate of retutistorical returns are also considered, over tegterm time horizon, i
determining the expected return. Considering trexall asset mix of approximately 60% equity an&o4txed income, several ye:
in the last teryears (except for 2008) having strong double digfitirns as well as several years of single digités, the Compa
believes it is reasonable to expect a long-tere oateturn of 7.35% for the plans' investmenta aghole.

Plan Assets

The Company's pension plan weighted-average aéseations at December 29, 2012 and December 311 2By asset category, i
as follows:
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Plan Assets at
December 29, December 31,

Asset Category 2012 2011
Equity Securities 61.3% 59.7%
Debt Securities 38.7% 40.3%
Total 100.0% 100.0%

The investment objectives have been establishemmjunction with a comprehensive review of the entrand projected financ
requirements. The primary investment objectives 4 to have the ability to pay all benefit anghense obligations when due; 2
maximize investment returns within reasonable andignt levels of risk in order to minimize contrifmmns; and 3) to mainta
flexibility in determining the future level of caittutions.

Investment results are the most critical elemeiicinieving funding objectives, while reliance omtributions is a secondary eleme

The investment guidelines are based upon an ineggthorizon of greater than ten years; therefaorerim fluctuations are view
with this perspective. The strategic asset allonais based on this longrm perspective and the plans' funded status. elder
because the participantaterage age is somewhat older than the typicalageeplan age, consideration is given to retainmge
shortterm liquidity. Analysis of the cash flow projemtis of the plans indicates that benefit payments aointinue to excee
contributions. The results of a thorough adisdtility study completed during 2012 establishedyaamic asset allocation glide p
(the "Glide Path™) by which the plans' asset aliotes are determined. The Glide Path designatesvialis based on funded st
which contain a corresponding allocation to eqgsitieal assets and fixed income. As the plans' flistigtus improves, the allocatis
become more conservative, and the opposite issthas the funded status declines.

Based upon the plans’ funded status, time horidek,tolerances, performance expectations, asass donstraints and as$iability
study results, target asset allocation rangessafellaws:

Fixed Income 35% - 80%

Equities

20% - 65%

The fixed income allocation is primarily investeddorporate and government bonds denominated inddl&r, private and public
traded mortgages, private placement debt and aasivadents. The average duration of the issuesarsaged to closely match
duration of the plans' liabilities. The portfoloexpected to be well-diversified.

The domestic equity allocation is invested in stotkded on one of the U.S. stock exchanges. eswonvertible into such stoc
convertible bonds and preferred stock, may alspusehased. The majority of the domestic equitiesimvested in mutual funds tl
are welldiversified among growth and value stocks categariin large, mid and small cap asset classes. dfipition, small ca
investments carry greater risk than large and majg, but also are expected to create greater reawaistime than large and n
cap. By definition large cap investments carrg lesk than small and mid cap, and are expecteetton less than small and mid
over time. By definition mid cap investments faditween small and large cap stocks concerningngski and expected return. Si
company definitions fluctuate with market levelg ganerally will be considered companies with madapitalizations between3®C
million and $ 2 billion. The portfolio will be diversified in terms ofdividual company securities and industries. Noviiadal
equity or individual fixed income investment congad more than 1.5%f the defined benefit plans' total assets (exagdi.S
government issues).

The international equity allocation is investedcompanies whose stock is traded outside the U@oanompanies that conduct
major portion of their business outside of the UT®e portfolio may invest in ADR's. The emergintarket portion of th
international equity investment is held below 10@&e do greater volatility in the asset class. Tboefplio is well-diversified in term
of companies, industries and countries.
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The diversified asset portion of the allocationlwilvest in securities with a goal to outpace itifla and preserve their value.
securities in this allocation may consist of inflatindexed bonds, securities of real estate companommodity indenked notes
fixed-income securities, securities of natural tese companies, master limited partnerships, plyblisted infrastructure compani
and floating rate debt.

All investment objectives are expected to be addewver a market cycle anticipated to be a peribdfie to sevel
years. Reallocations are performed on a monthéysita retain target allocation ranges. On a qugirbasis the plans' funded ste
will be recalculated to determine which Glide Piatierval allocation is appropriate.

The following table presents fair value measuresiéat the Company's defined benefit planssets as categorized using the
value hierarchy under FASB authoritative guidanoehousands):

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Total Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(In thousands of dollars) Fair Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Balances as December 31, 2011
Fixed Income:
Long Term $ 33,87: 33,87: $ — —
Short Term 4,91¢ 4,461 457 —
Equity Securities:
Domestic equities 47,12: 47,12: — —
International equities 10,32: 10,32: — —
Totals $ 96,23t 95,77¢  $ 457 —
Balances as December 29, 2012
Fixed Income:
Long Term $ 40,25t 14,06: $ 26,19: —
Short Term 954 54z 412 —
Equity Securities:
Domestic equities 44,997 43,56 1,43¢ —
International equities 20,31 19,55 762 —
Totals $ 106,51¢ 77,72( % 28,79¢ —

During fiscal 201Ghe Company increased its pension investment apadlowing for investing directly into mutual fundéereby th
Company believes it gives the pension plan assets wptions and a greater long term return potenfia a result the Company t
transferred its pension assets in fiscal 20bfn pooled separate accounts ("PSA") accountsseta comprised primarily of mut
funds, which are publicly traded in an active markehe particular shares used in the defined lieplefns are either retirement p
shares or Ashares with no loads. The fair value of each midtuad is based on the market value of the undeglynvestments.
fiscal 2012, the Glide Path directed the Company to inveseirtain PSA's in an effort to minimize the plansided status variabili
as compared to fiscal 2011 .

Contributions
The Company's funding policy for employee beneditgion plans is to contribute annually not less tha& minimum amount requir
nor more than the maximum amount that can be dedifor federal income tax purposes. Contributiaresintended to provide r

only for benefits attributed to service to date &isb for those expected to be earned in the future

Based on current actuarial estimates, the Compapgcts to make payments of approximately $ 0.4ionilko meet fundin
requirements for its pension plans in fiscal 2013 .

Estimated Future Benefit Payments



Page 88




DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée faid (in thousands):

Year Ending Pension Benefits

2013 $ 5,22(
2014 5,76(
2015 6,03(
2016 6,26(
2017 6,49(
Years 2018 — 2022 36,48(

Multiemployer Pension Plans

The Company participates in various multiemployengion plans which provide defined benefits toateremployees covered
labor contracts. These plans are not administeyeithe Company and contributions are determinegcgordance with provisions
negotiated labor contracts to meet their pensioretiteobligations to their participants. The Fin&h Accounting Standards Bo:
("FASB") issued guidance requiring companies tovjat® additional disclosures related to individuadlignificant multiemploye
pension plans. The Company's contributions to @adiiidual multiemployer plan represent less théf &f the total contributions
each such plan. Based on the most currently availaformation, the Company has determined thaa, Withdrawal were to occi
withdrawal liabilities on twoof the plans in which the Company currently papttes could be material to the Company.
following table provides more detail on these tigmiicant multiemployer plans (contributions irotisands):

Expiration
Pension Protection  FIP/RP Status Date of Collectiv
Pension EIN Pension Act Zone Status Pending/ Contributions Bargaining
Fund Plan Number 2012 2011 Implemented 2012 2011 2010 Agreement
Western Conference of Teamsters
Pension Plan 91-6145047 / 001 Green Green No $ 1,371 $ 1,38¢ $ 1,401 April 2015 (b)
Central States, Southeast and
Southwest Areas Pension Plan (a) 36-6044243 /001 Red Red Yes 74€ 70% 63C December 2014
All other multiemployer plans 1,08: 1,00¢ 86¢

Total Company Contributons ~ $ 3,200 §  3,10C § 2,90

(@) In July 2005 this plan received a 10 year extenSimm the IRS for amortizing unfunded liabiliti

(b) The Company has several plants that participateariVestern Conference of Teamsters Pension Plder wollective bargaining agreeme
that require minimum funding contributions. Certafrthese agreements have expired and are beiegatated with others having expirat
dates through April 1, 2015.

(c) The Company has several processing plants thatipate in the Central States, Southeast and Sasthreas Pension Plan under collec
bargaining agreements that require minimum fundioigtributions. Certain of these agreements haveezkand are being renegotiated \
others having expiration dates through Decembe2054.

With respect to the other multiemployer pensiomgla which the Company participates and whichrexteindividually significan
four plans have certified as critical or red zoaee plan has certified as endangered or yellow zomkeoneplan has certified
seriously endangered or orange zone as definetlebfPénsion Protection Act of 2006. The Companytsguoof contributions to &
plans amounted to $ 3.2 million , $ 3.1 million a&®.9 million for the years ended December 29,220December 31, 2014nc
January 1, 2011 , respectively.

In June 2009, the Company received a notice of ssmathdrawal termination and a notice of initiathdrawal liability from ¢
multiemployer plan in which it participated. Ther@Gpany had anticipated this event and as a readl@lcrued approximately3s2
million as of January 3, 2009 based on the most recemtriafmn that was probable and estimable for thas plThe plan had giver
notice of redetermination liability in December 200n fiscal 2010, the Company received furthémdtparty information confirmin
the future payout related to this multiemployemplas a result, the Company reduced its liabtiityapproximately $ 1.2 million In
fiscal 2010, another underfunded

Page 89




NOTE 16.

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

multiemployer plan in which the Company particigaggve notification of partial withdrawal liabilityAs of December 29, 2012he
Company has an accrued liability of approximatelit.8 million representing the present value of scheduled withalréiability
payments under this multiemployer plan. While @@mpany has no ability to calculate a possibleesrliability for underfundec
multiemployer plans that could terminate or cowdduire additional funding under the Pension PraacAct of 2006, the amour
could be material.

DERIVATIVES

The Company’s operations are exposed to market ridlating to commaodity prices that affect the Camys cost of raw materia
finished product prices and energy costs and #keofichanges in interest rates.

The Company makes limited use of derivative insents to manage cash flow risks related to intezgpense, natural gas use
diesel fuel usage and inventory. The Company doesise derivative instruments for trading purpodeterest rate swaps are entt
into with the intent of managing overall borrowiogsts by reducing the potential impact of increasesterest rates on floatingte
longterm debt. Natural gas swaps and options areeshiato with the intent of managing the overalltooknatural gas usage
reducing the potential impact of seasonal weatleanahds on natural gas that increases natural gsesspiHeating oil swaps a
options are entered into with the intent of manggdhre overall cost of diesel fuel usage by redutihmgpotential impact of seaso
weather demands on diesel fuel that increases|digskeprices. Inventory swaps and options aresiemat into with the intent

managing seasonally high concentrations of MBM, BW®T, PG, YG and BBP inventories by reducing theéeptial impact c
changing prices. Corn options and future contractsentered into with the intent of managing fosée@ sales of BBP by reducing
impact of changing prices. At December 29, 20tt#2 Company had natural gas swaps and corn gpigtstanding that qualified ¢
were designated for hedge accounting as well agalajas swaps, heating oil swaps and options amdaptions and future contra
that did not qualify and were not designated fafgeeaccounting.

Entities are required to report all derivative fostents in the statement of financial positionaat ¥alue. The accounting for chan
in the fair value (i.e., gains or losses) of a \d#ive instrument depends on whether it has beemated and qualifies as part «
hedging relationship and, if so, on the reasorhfding the instrument. If certain conditions aret, entities may elect to designa
derivative instrument as a hedge of exposures angés in fair value, cash flows or foreign curreacilf the hedged exposure
cash flow exposure, the effective portion of thenga loss on the derivative instrument is repoitgtially as a component of ott
comprehensive income (outside of earnings) andilisequently reclassified into earnings when thedasted transaction affe
earnings. Any amounts excluded from the assessaidrgdge effectiveness as well as the ineffeqgiodion of the gain or loss ¢
reported in earnings immediately. If the derivatimstrument is not designated as a hedge, theogadass is recognized in earning:
the period of change.

Cash Flow Hedges

On May 19, 2006 the Company entered into two interest rate swapeamnents that were considered cash flow hedgesdieg tc
FASB authoritative guidance. In December 20H3 a result of the Merger and entry into a needErAgreement the term loan t
specifically related to these interest swap tratimas was repaid. As such, the Company discontirthednterest rate swaps and |
approximately $ 2.0 milliorrepresenting the fair value of these two interegpstransactions at the discontinuance date wit
effective portion recorded in accumulated other pahensive loss to be reclassified to income dwerémaining original term of t
interest rate swaps which ended April 7, 2012 .

In fiscal 2011, the Company entered into natural gas swap cdatthat are considered cash flow hedges. Undetetimes of th
natural gas swap contracts the Company fixed tpea®d purchase cost of a portion of its planteetga natural gas usage thro
the second quarter of fiscal 2012 . As of Decen@3e2012 , all of the contracts have expired atitbsieaccording to the contracts.

In fiscal 2012, the Company has entered into natural gas swapaot® that are considered cash flow hedges. Uhéeterms of tk
natural gas swap contracts the Company fixed tpea®d purchase cost of a portion of its planteetqul natural gas usage into
second quarter of fiscal 2013 . As of December224,2, some of the contracts have expired and settledrding to the contrac
while the remaining contract positions and actitg disclosed below.
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In fiscal 2012, the Company entered into corn option contracés #ne considered cash flow hedges. Under the tefrttse cor
option contracts the Company hedged a portion 'sffidrecasted sales of BBP into the fourth quaotefiscal 2013. As ol
December 29, 2012 , the contracts positions andtgcire disclosed below.

The Company estimates the amount that will be ssilad from accumulated other comprehensive gaiDezember 29, 201to
earnings over the next 12 months will be approxatya$ 0.3 million . As of December 29, 2012 , appmately $ 0.3 millionof
losses have been reclassified into earnings asuét of the discontinuance of cash flow hedges.

The following table presents the fair value of @@mpany’s derivative instruments as of DecembeR22 andDecember 31, 20:
(in thousands):

Derivatives Designated Balance Sheet Asset Derivatives Fair Value
as Hedges Location December 29, 2012 December 31, 2011
Natural gas swaps Other current assets $ 11 % —
Corn options Other current assets 49C —
Total derivatives designated as hedges $ 501 $ —

Derivatives not
Designated as

Hedges
Corn options and futures Other current assets $ 117 % —
Heating oil swaps Other current assets 104 6
Total derivatives not designated as hedges $ 221 % 6
Total asset derivatives $ 72z % 6
Derivatives Designated Balance Sheet Liability Derivatives Fair Value
as Hedges Location December 29, 2012 December 31, 2011
Natural gas swaps Accrued expenses $ A 66¢
Total derivatives designated as hedges $ 21 % 66<

Derivatives not
Designated as

Hedges
Natural gas swaps Accrued Expenses $ — 3 142
Corn options and futures Accrued Expenses 11¢ —
Heating oil swaps Accrued Expenses 4 24
Total derivatives not designated as hedges $ 12 $ 167
Total liability derivatives $ 144 $ 83¢€

The effect of the Company's derivative instrumemshe consolidated financial statements for teeali years endebBecember 2!
2012 and December 31, 2011 are as follows (in tnuds):
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Gain or (Loss)

Gain or (Loss) Recognized in Income
Gain or (Loss) Reclassified From On Derivatives

Derivatives Recognized in OCI Accumulated OCI (Ineffective Portion and

Designated as on Derivatives into Income Amount Excluded from
Cash Flow Hedges (Effective Portion) (a) (Effective Portion) (b) Effectiveness Testing) (c)

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

Interest rate swaps $ — 3 —  $ (260 $ (1,169 $ — 3 —
Corn options 317 — — — 15¢ —
Natural gas swaps (628 (1,229 (1,267 (447) 13 —
Total $ 311 $ (1,229 $ (1,527 $ (1,604 $ 172 $ —

(@) Amount recognized in accumulated OCI (effectivetipol) is reported as accumulated other comprehensss of approximate
$ 0.3 million and approximately $ 1.2 million reded net of taxes of approximately $ 0.1 million amproximately $0.5
million for the year ended December 29, 2012 ancebwer 31, 2011 , respectively.

(b) Gains and (losses) reclassified from accumulated X0 income (effective portion) for interest radevaps and natural ¢
swaps is included in interest expense and costle$ srespectively, in the Company’s consolidatatéments of operations.

(c) Gains and (losses) recognized in income on deviest(ineffective portion) for interest rate swapsl anatural gas swaps
included in other income/(expense), net in the Camyfs consolidated statements of operations.

At December 29, 2012 , the Company had forward hlase agreements in place for purchases of apprtelimé 4.5 millionof

natural gas and diesel fuel. These forward puecla@seements have no net settlement provisionghen@ompany intends to te

physical delivery. Accordingly, the forward purskeaagreements are not subject to the requireméfags @alue accounting becat
they qualify as normal purchases as defined.
NOTE 17. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

FASB authoritative guidancewhich defines fair value, establishes a framewankrheasuring fair value, and expands disclos
about fair value measurements including guidaniz¢ed to nonrecurring measurements of nonfinarasaéts and liabilities.

The following table presents the Company's findringtruments that are measured at fair value ecarring and nonrecurring ba

as of December 29, 201&hd are categorized using the fair value hieranchgter FASB authoritative guidance. The fair v
hierarchy has three levels based on the reliakifityhe inputs used to determine the fair value.

Fair Value Measurements at December 29, 2012 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(In thousands of dollars) Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Derivative assets $ 72z $ — $ 72z $ —
Total Assets 722 — 722 —
Liabilities
Derivative liabilities 144 — 144 —
Senior Notes 287,18t — 287,18t —

Total Liabilities $ 287,33 $ — 3 287,33: $ —




Page 92




NOTE 18.

NOTE 19.

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

Derivative assets consist of the Company's nagaalswap contracts, heating oil swap contractcamtoil option and futures, whi
represents the difference between the observahlkemaates of commonly quoted intervals for siméasets and liabilities in acti
markets and the fixed swap and option rate corisigi¢ihe instruments term, notional amount and ¢tmésk. See Note 16 Privative:
for breakdown by instrument type.

Derivative liabilities consist of the Company'sural gas swap contracts, heating oil swap conteaudscorn option and futures, wh
represent the difference between the observableaenheates of commonly quoted intervals for siméasets and liabilities in acti
markets and the fixed swap rate considering theument's term, notional amount and credit riskee Note 16Derivatives fo
breakdown by instrument type.

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivaleatsumts receivable, accounts payable and accrysehsgs approximates fair va
due to the short maturity of these instruments anduch have been excluded from the table abowe.c@trying amount for tl
Company's other debt is not deemed to be significdifferent than the fair value and all othertiusnents have been recorded at
value.

The fair value of the senior notes is based on etajkotation from a third-party bank.
CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RIS

Concentration of credit risk is limited due to tl®mpany's diversified customer base and the faat the Company se
commodities. No single customer accounted forentiban 10% of the Company’s net sales in fiscatsy/2812 , 2011 and 2010 .

CONTINGENCIE!

The Company is a party to several lawsuits, claamg loss contingencies arising in the ordinary sewf its business, includi
assertions by certain regulatory and governmergaheies related to permitting requirements andveaistewater and storm we
discharges from the Company's processing facilities

The Company’'s workers compensation, auto and genehility policies contain significant deductitde or selfinsurec
retentions. The Company estimates and accruegpescted ultimate claim costs related to accideotsirring during each fiscal ye
and carries this accrual as a reserve until thiesmg are paid by the Company.

As a result of the matters discussed above, thep@oynhas established loss reserves for insuramsgroemental and litigatic
matters. At December 29, 2012 and December 311 20he reserves for insurance, environmental angatibn contingencie
reflected on the balance sheet in accrued expensther non-current liabilities were approximat$l 37.0 million and $38.C
million , respectively. The Company has insuraneeovery receivables of approximately $ 9.3 milliand $ 9.6 million, as o
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 201éspectively, related to these liabilities. Thenpany's management believes tl
reserves for contingencies are reasonable andciguffibased upon present governmental regulatiods isformation current
available to management; however, there can bessarance that final costs related to these mawétsnot exceed curre
estimates. The Company believes that the likelheademote that any additional liability from tledawsuits and claims that may
be covered by insurance would have a material effie¢he financial statements.

Lower Passaic River Arealhe Company has been named as a third partydkaféim a lawsuit pending in the Superior CourNefy
Jersey, Essex County, stylsgw Jersey Department of Environmental Protecfidie Commissioner of the New Jersey Departm
Environmental Protection Agency and the Adminisiraif the New Jersey Spill Compensation Fund, asnBffs, vs. Occident
Chemical Corporation, Tierra Solutions, Inc., Maxtisergy Corporation, Repsol YPF, S.A., YPF, S.RE Moldings, Inc., and CL
Holdings, as Defendan{®ocket No. L-009868-05) (the “Tierra/Maxus Litigat”). In the Tierra/Maxus Litigation, which was fil
on December 13, 2005the plaintiffs seek to recover from the defendamast and future cleanup and removal costs, dsas
unspecified economic damages, punitive damages|tEsnand a variety of other forms of relief, ppmedly arising from the alleg
discharges into the Passaic River of a particyjae of dioxin and other unspecified hazardous suiests. The damages being so
by the plaintiffs from the defendants are likelybte substantial. On February 4, 2Q08vo of the defendants, Tierra Solutions,
(“Tierra”) and Maxus Energy Corporation (“Maxusfjied a third party complaint against over 3@tities, including the Compat
seeking to recover all or a proportionate sharelednup and removal costs, damages or other lasaror, if any, for which Tierra
Maxus may be held liable in the Tierra/Maxus Litiga. Tierra and Maxus allege that Standard Tal@@mpany, an entity that t
Company acquired in
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1996, contributed to the discharge of the hazardoustanbes that are the subject of this case whileatipg a former plant si
located in Newark, New Jersey. The Company is iiy&tsng these allegations, has entered into & péflense agreement with mi
of the other thirgparty defendants and intends to defend itself wgsly. All previously scheduled discovery and tdates in the ca
have been stayed pending settlement discussionagainthe parties. Additionally, in December 200the Company, along wi
numerous other entities, received notice from thetdd States Environmental Protection Agency (ER#gt the Company (
successor-inaterest to Standard Tallow Company) is considergubtentially responsible party with respect tegdld contaminatic
in the lower Passaic River area which is part effiamond Alkali Superfund Site located in Newaxlew Jersey. In the letter, El
requested that the Company join a group of othdrgsain funding a remedial investigation and fbaity study at the site. As of tl
date of this report, the Company has not agregzhtticipate in the funding group. The Company'sndte liability for investigator
costs, remedial costs and/or natural resource dasniagconnection with the lower Passaic River a@anot be determined at t
time; however, as of the date of this report, thenmsothing that leads the Company to believe these matters will have a mate
effect on the Company's financial position or resaf operation.

Fresno Facility Permit Issuélhe Company has been named as a defendant antpamgain interest in a lawsuit filed on April
2012 in the Superior Court of the State of Califarfrresno County, styledoncerned Citizens of West Fresno vs. The Cityedrie
and Darling International Incln the complaint, which was subsequently amendedaswary 31, 2013, the plaintiff alleges thal
City of Fresno has failed to enforce its own zonindinances and permitting requirements and engegachumber of discriminato
practices against the citizens of West Fresnodtitian, the complaint alleges that the Companyesko facility is operating witha
a proper use permit and constitutes a continuingfa and public nuisance. In the complaint théngih seeks, among other thin
injunctive relief. Rendering operations have beenducted on the site since 1955, and the Compaligvbs that it possesses al
the required federal, state and local permits tdinae to operate the facility in the manner cutlseaonducted and that its operati
do not constitute a private or public nuisance.dkdgly, the Company intends to defend itself vaesly in this matter. Discove
has begun and this matter is currently schedulettitd in February 2014. While management canmetljgt the ultimate outcome
this matter, management does not believeotiteome will have a material effect on the Compafigiancial condition or results
operations.

BUSINESS SEGMENT

Effective January 2, 2011 , as a result of the &dtipn of Griffin, the Company's business openagiavere reorganized into twew
segments, Rendering and Bakery, in order to batign its business with the underlying markets andtomers that the Comps
serves. All historical periods have been restatgdte changes to the segment reporting strucilre.Company sells its produ
domestically and internationally. The measure @nsent profit (loss) includes all revenues, opemtixpenses (excluding cert
amortization of intangibles), and selling, generatl administrative expenses incurred at all opggdtications and excludes gen
corporate expenses.

Included in corporate activities are general capmexpenses and the amortization of intangiblese®s of corporate activities inclt
cash, unallocated prepaid expenses, deferred satsaprepaid pension, and miscellaneous othetsasse

Rendering
Rendering operations process animapbgducts and used cooking oil into fats (primaBKT, PG and YG), protein (primarily MB

and PM (feed grade and pet food)) and hides. Fatapproximately $ 809.7 million , $ 950.8 millionca$ 399.1 milliorof net sale
for the year ended December 29, 2012 , Decembe2@®l] and January 1, 2011 , respectively. Proteia approximately $#96.2
million , $ 447.7 million and $ 243.5 million of neales for the year ended December 29, 2012 ,rBe=e31, 2011 andanuary ]
2011 , respectively. Rendering also provides gréageservicing. Included in Rendering is the NagioService Center (“NSC"Yhe
NSC schedules services such as fat and bone addcos&ing oil collection and trap cleaning for aagted customers using
Company's resources or third party providers.

Bakery
Bakery products are collected from large commeioékeries that produce a variety of products, wiclg cookies, crackers, cere

bread, dough, potato chips, pretzels, sweet gondsbiscuits, among others. The Company processesath materials into BB
including Cookie Meal®, an animal feed ingredientyarily used in poultry rations.
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Business Segment Net Reven(ieshousands):

Year Ended
December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Rendering $ 1,406,06 $ 1,501,28 $ 714,68!
Bakery 295,36¢ 295,96 10,22¢
Total $ 1,701,42" $ 1,797,24° $ 724,90¢
Business Segment Profit/(Lokgin thousands):
Year Ended
December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Rendering $ 267,51. $ 329,79. $ 132,50:
Bakery 57,12¢ 62,25¢ 1,42¢
Corporate Activities (169,81 (185,469 (80,94°)
Interest expense (24,059 (37,169 (8,737)
Net income $ 130,77 $ 169,41t $ 44,24

Included in Corporate Activities are general cogterexpenses and the depreciation of fixed assleted to "Fresh Start Reporting."”

Business Segment Ass¢its thousands):

December 29, December 31,
2012 2011
Rendering $ 1,107,05. $ 1,092,98
Bakery 170,56¢ 165,88!
Corporate Activities 274,79¢ 158,15
Total $ 1,552,411 $ 1,417,03
Business Segment Property, Plant and Equipietihousands):
December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Depreciation and amortization:
Rendering $ 66,96: $ 66,41 $ 27,95¢
Bakery 10,71: 8,641 42¢€
Corporate Activities 7,69¢ 3,85( 3,52:
Total $ 85,37. $ 78,90¢ $ 31,90¢
Capital expenditures:
Rendering $ 70,87: $ 51,88¢ $ 21,43:
Bakery 13,537 6,247 165
Corporate Activities 31,00¢ 2,01¢ 3,12¢

Total (a) $ 115,41 $ 60,15 $ 24,72(




(a) Excludes the capital assets acquired as p#ineaacquisition of assets related to the BioRwguasition in fiscal 201f
approximately $ 0.6 million and the Griffin Trangao and Nebraska Transaction in fiscal 2@ffOapproximately
243.7 million .
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The Company has no material foreign operationsekports a portion of its products to customenrgairious foreign countries.

Geographic Area Net Trade Reven(ieshousands):

December 29, December 31, January 1,
2012 2011 2011
Domestic $ 1,485,23 $ 1,526,35. $ 653,90¢
Foreign 216,19: 270,89¢ 71,00(
Total $ 1,701,42' $ 1,797,24: $ 724,90¢

The Company attributes revenues from external ocusts to individual foreign countries based on thetidation of the Compan
shipments. For fiscal 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , wévidual foreign country comprised more than 5%t Companys consolidate
revenue.

NOTE 21. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED ANDIN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

Year Ended December 29, 2012

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net sales $ 387,10t $ 436,67: $ 452,73 $ 424,91!
Operating income 52,51( 63,96¢ 65,77¢ 49,48
Income from operations before income ta 44,74: 57,82¢ 59,301 44,90¢
Net income 28,57 36,22¢ 37,17: 28,80:
Basic earnings per share 0.2¢ 0.31 0.32 0.24
Diluted earnings per share 0.24 0.31 0.31 0.24

Year Ended December 31, 2011

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Net sales $ 439,89¢ $ 470,61( $ 455,87F $ 430,86t
Operating income 88,17: 92,25¢ 74,55 58,99¢
Income from operations before income ta 73,33¢ 82,48¢ 66,14 50,32¢
Net income 46,56: 52,22} 41,13 29,49°
Basic earnings per share 0.4 0.4t 0.3¢ 0.2t
Diluted earnings per share 0.4 0.44 0.3¢ 0.2t

NOTE 22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION:!
Lease Agreements

Darling through its whollyewned subsidiary Griffin Industries LLC, leases tveal properties located in Butler, Kentucky andl
properties located in each of Jackson, Mississappi Henderson, Kentucky from Martom Properties, L&& entity owned in part
Martin W. Griffin, the Company's Executive Vice Bident — CoChief Operations Officer. The lease term for eatlthe Butle
properties and the Jackson property is thirty yemrd the Company has the right to renew such ddfaseéwo additional terms of t
years each. The annual rental payment for eacheoButler properties is $ 30,000r the first five years of the lease term an
increased by the increase
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in the consumer price index every five years thégea The annual rental payment for the Jacksapenty is $ 221,71%or the firs
five years of the lease term and is increased &yritrease in the consumer price index every faery thereafter. The lease tern
the Henderson property is ten years, and the Coynpas the right to renew such lease for four agldéti terms of five years eac
The annual rental payment for the Henderson prgpsr$ 60,000for the first five years of the lease term andnieréased by tt
increase in the consumer price index every fives/éaereafter. Under the terms of each leaseCtmpany has a right of first of
and right of first refusal for each of the propesti

Raw Material Agreement

The Company has entered into a Raw Material Agreémwéh the Joint Venture where the Company willeofto supply certa
animal fats and used cooking oil at market pricgsto the Joint Venture's full operational requiesnof feedstock, but the Jc
Venture is not obligated to purchase the raw mateffered by the Company. At December 29, 20i2e Company had recorc
sales to the Joint Venture of approximately $ Oillan and has a current receivable due from thatMenture of approximately §.3
million .

NOTE 23. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT

In June 2011 , the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-8%esentation of Comprehensive Inconmehe ASU amends ASC Topic 220
Comprehensive IncomeThe new standard eliminates the option to reptrer comprehensive income and its componentie
statement of changes in equity and instead reqgemétes to present net income and other compsabernncome in either a sing
continuous statement or in two separate, but catise¢ statements of net income and other compshernncome. Reclassificati
adjustments between net income and other comprigeeimeome must be shown on the face of the statis)e with no resultin
change in net earnings. In December 2011 , the Fi&SBed ASU No. 2011-12Deferral of Effective Date for Amendments to
Presentation of Reclassifications of Items Out ofulnulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accouritagdards Update N
2011-05. This ASU amends ASC Topic 22@pmprehensive IncomeThe new standard deferred the requirement teeptesn th
face of the financial statements reclassificatidjustments for items that are reclassified fromeotbomprehensive income to
income while the FASB further deliberates this asjpé the proposal. This update is effective fa&r @ompany on January 1, 2012
must be applied retrospectively. The Company adbfiies standard as of March 31, 201Zhe adoption did not have a mate
impact on the Company's consolidated financialestants. In February 2013 , the FASB issued ASU 20d.3-02 ,Reporting ¢
Amounts Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensivemiecdhis ASU amends ASC Topic 22@pmprehensive IncomeThis nev
standard requires an entity to report either orinheme statement or disclose in the footnotefi¢dfihancial statement the effects
earnings from items that are reclassified out béotomprehensive income. This update is effeétivéhe Company oDecember 3(
2012 . The Company is currently evaluating the iohjpé adopting this standard.

In September 2011 , the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-08sting Goodwill for Impairment The ASU amends ASC Topic 350
Intangibles - Goodwill and OtherThe new standard is intended to reduce the ewstamplexity of the annual goodwill impairm
test by providing entities an option to performgaélitative” assessment to determine whether further impairtesting is necessa
Specifically, an entity has the option to firstess qualitative factors to determine whether itdsessary to perform the current two-
step test. If an entity believes, as a resultofjilalitative assessment, that it is more-likegnrthot that the fair value of a report
unit is less than its carrying amount, the quatnigaimpairment test is required. Otherwise, ndHar testing is required. This stanc

is effective for annual and interim goodwill impaient tests performed for fiscal years beginningralecember 15, 2011Early
adoption is permissible. The Company adopted thaisdard in the first quarter of 2012. The adopti@mhnot have a material imp:i

on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In July 2012 , the FASB issued ASU No. 2012-T2sting Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for linpeent. The ASU amends AS
Topic 350 ,Intangibles - Goodwill and Other The new standard is intended to reduce the cubtcamplexity of performing ¢
impairment test for indefinitéved intangible assets by providing entities atiapto perform a "qualitative" assessment to deiee
whether further impairment testing is necessang fiéw standard allows an entity to first assesétatiee factors to determine if it
more likely than not that the fair value of an ifidite-lived intangible asset is less than its carryingoam. If based on its qualitati
assessment an entity concludes it is more likedy thot that the fair value of an indefinlbeed intangible asset is less than its carr
amount, quantitative impairment testing is requitddwever, if an entity concludes otherwise, quatitie impairment testing is r
required. The standards update is effective foruahmand interim impairment tests performed for disgears beginning aft
September 15, 2012, with early adoption permifféek Company is currently evaluating the impactdding this standard.
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NOTE 24. GUARANTOR FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Company's Notes (see Note 10) are guaranteexh amsecured basis by the Company's 100%ctly and indirectly owne
subsidiaries Darling National, Griffin and its sigdiary Craig Protein (collectively, the "GuarantrsThe Guarantors fully ai
unconditionally guaranteed the Notes on a joint sexkeral basis. The following financial statememssent condensed consolida
financial data for (i) Darling, the issuer of theotds, (ii) the combined Guarantors, (iii) the condni other subsidiaries of 1
Company that did not guarantee the Notes (the "tlearantors”), and (iv) eliminations necessary tdvarat the Company
consolidated financial statements, which includedemsed consolidated balance sheets as of Dec@3b2912 andecember 3:
2011, and the condensed consolidating statements ohtipes, the condensed consolidating statemergsroprehensive income &
the condensed consolidating statements of cashsffowthe years ended December 29, 2012 , DeceBihet011 andlanuary

2011 .
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
As of December 29, 2012
(in thousands)
Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondolidated
ASSETS
Total current assets $ 174,57¢ $ 455,60 $ 3,037 $ (342,95) $ 290,26:
Investment in subsidiaries 1,449,57 — — (1,449,57) —
Property, plant and equipment, net 148,13: 305,79t — — 453,92
Intangible assets, net 14,49° 322,63« 271 — 337,40:
Goodwiill 21,86( 359,24: 26€ — 381,36
Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary — — 62,49t — 62,49t
Other assets 26,53( 431 — — 26,96
$ 1,835,17 $ 1,443,70: $ 66,06¢ $ (1,792,53) $ 1,552,411
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Total current liabilities $ 414,75! $ 59,21¢ $ 66€ $ (342,95) $ 131,68
Long-term debt, net of current portion 250,00( 14z — — 250,14
Other noncurrent liabilities 61,36: — 174 — 61,53¢
Deferred income taxes 46,61* — — — 46,61*
Total liabilities 772,73 59,36( 84C (342,95 489,98(
Total stockholders' equity 1,062,43i 1,384,34: 65,22¢ (1,449,57) 1,062,43i
$ 1,835,17 $ 1,443,700 $ 66,06¢ $ (1,792,53) $ 1,552,411
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ASSETS

Total current assets

Investment in subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net

Goodwill

Investment in unconsolidated subsidiary
Other assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portion

Other noncurrent liabilities

Deferred income taxes

Total liabilities

Total stockholders' equity

Net sales
Cost and expenses:
Cost of sales and operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses
Operating income

Interest expense

Other income/(expense), net

Equity in net loss of unconsolidated subsidiary
Earnings in investments in subsidiaries
Income/(loss) from operations before taxes
Income taxes (benefit)

Net income/(loss)

As of December

31, 2011

(in thousands)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondolidated

$ 124,67' $ 347,98¢ $ 3,98C $ (256,969 $ 219,68

1,286,17 — — (1,286,17) —

119,89t 280,32: — — 400,22:

14,74, 347,87: 292 — 362,91

21,86( 359,24: 26€ — 381,36¢

— — 21,73¢ — 21,73¢

27,72t 3,381 — — 31,11

$ 1,595,08 $ 1,338,81 $ 26,27: $ (1,543,13) $ 1,417,03i

$ 317,56. $ 63,71¢ $ 2,94 $ (256,96, $ 127,25

280,00( 2C — — 280,02(

46,01: 12,05: 182 — 58,24¢

31,13t — — — 31,13:

674,70! 75,79( 3,124 (256,96, 496,65!

920,37! 1,263,02 23,14¢ (1,286,17) 920,37

$ 1,595,08 $ 1,338,81 $ 26,27: $ (1,543,13) $ 1,417,083

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
For the year ended December 29, 2012
(in thousands)

Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated

$ 658,89" $ 1,216,26. $ 14,42F $ (188,15) $ 1,701,42!

512,19¢ 894,82( 13,74. (188,15) 1,232,60.

80,43: 71,14: 14C — 151,71

23,54; 61,80° 22 — 85,37:

616,17. 1,027,76: 13,90¢ (188,15) 1,469,68:

42,72« 188,49t 521 — 231,74:

(24,04) (7) — — (24,05

(1,579 3,35¢ (23 — 1,76(

— — (2,662) — (2,662)

119,95: — — (119,952 —

137,05¢ 191,84 (2,169 (119,95) 206,78!

6,28¢ 70,52 (79€) — 76,01t

$ 130,77¢ $ 121,32. $ (1,369 $ (119,95) $ 130, 77!
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Net sales
Cost and expenses:
Cost of sales and operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total costs and expenses
Operating income

Interest expense

Other income/(expense), net

Equity in net loss of unconsolidated subsidiary
Earnings in investments in subsidiaries
Income/(loss) from operations before taxes
Income taxes (benefit)

Net income/(loss)

Net sales
Cost and expenses:
Cost of sales and operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Acquisition costs
Total costs and expenses
Operating income

Interest expense

Other income/(expense), net

Earnings in investments in subsidiaries
Income/(loss) from operations before taxes
Income taxes (benefit)

Net income/(loss)

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2011

(in thousands)

Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated
$ 721,990 $ 1,238,85 $ 27,48: $ (191,08) $ 1,797,24!
553,21t 879,27 26,80¢ (191,08) 1,268,22
67,82¢ 68,14¢ 157 — 136,13
23,53: 55,35¢ 22 — 78,90¢
644,57t 1,002,78: 26,98¢ (191,08) 1,483,26!
77,41. 236,07t 49¢ — 313,98
(37,16 2 — — (37,169
(2,539 (479 57 — (2,95%)
— — (1,572) — (1,572
145,95 — — (145,95() —
183,66! 235,59 (1,019 (145,95() 272,29:
14,25( 89,01: (38%) — 102,87t
$ 169,41t $ 146,58 $ (634 $ (145,950 $ 169,411
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in thousands)
Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated
$ 560,27( $ 302,07: $ 81 $ (138,249 $ 724,90!
421,84: 247,35 74¢ (138,249 531,69!
60,28 7,75( 10 — 68,04
21,76¢ 10,14( — — 31,90¢
10,79¢ — — — 10,79¢
514,68 265,24 75¢ (138,24 642,44
45,58: 36,82: 54 — 82,46.
(8,73Y) 2 — — (8,737)
(1,890 (897) (59%) — (3,387)
22,25¢ — — (22,259 —
57,21« 35,92¢ (541) (22,25¢) 70,34:
12,97: 13,33( (207) — 26,10(
$ 44,247 $ 22,59¢ $ (340 $ (22,259 $ 44,24
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensilircome (LosS)
For the year ended December 29, 2012
(in thousands)

Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated
Net income $ 130,77( $ 121,32: $ (1,36¢) $ (119,95) $ 130,77(
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Pension adjustments (1,169 — — — (1,169
Natural gas swap derivative adjustments 391 — — — 391
Corn option derivative adjustments 194 — — — 194
Interest rate swap derivative adjustments 15¢ — — — 15¢
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax (425) — — — (425)
Total Comprehensive income (|oss) $ 130,34! $ 121,32. $ (1,362) $ (119,95:) $ 130,34!
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensiircome (LosS)
For the year ended December 31, 2011
(in thousands)
Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated
Net income $ 169,41¢ $ 146,58: $ (634 $ (145,95() $ 169,41¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Pension adjustments (10,14¢ — — — (10,14¢
Natural gas swap derivative adjustments (482) — — — (482)
Interest rate swap derivative adjustments 71z — — — 712
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax (9,916 — — — (9,916
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 159,50: $ 146,58 $ (639 $ (145,95() $ 159,50:
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensilrcome (LosS)
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in thousands)
Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated
Net income $ 44.24% $ 22,59¢ $ (340) $ (22,259 $ 44,24
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Pension adjustments 2,34¢ — — — 2,34¢
Natural gas swap derivative adjustments (59 — — — (59
Interest rate swap derivative adjustments 507 — — — 507
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 2,79¢ — — — 2,79
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ 47,03 $ 22,59 $ (340 $ (22,259 $ 47,03:
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 29, 2012
(in thousands)

Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondolidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 130,77 $ 121,32: $ (1,36¢) $ (119,95) $ 130,77(
Earnings in investments in subsidiaries (119,95) — — 119,95: —
Other operating cash flows 175,09¢ (56,449 114 — 118,76
Net cash provided/(used) by operating activities 185,91! 64,87¢ (1,254 — 249,53

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (49,619 (65,799 — — (115,419
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (3,000 — — — (3,000
Investment in subsidiaries and affiliates (43,449 — (43,429 43,44¢ (43,429

Gross proceeds from sale of property, plant anépetgnt

and other assets 2,08t 1,787 — — 3,87(
Proceeds from insurance settlements 1,30t 2,967 — — 4,272
Payments related to routes and other intangibles (137) — — — (237)
Net cash provide/(used) in investing activities (92,81Y) (61,040 (43,429 43,44¢ (153,83)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on long-term debt (30,000 (32 — — (30,037)
Issuance of common stock 72 — — — 72
Contributions from parent — — 43,44¢ (43,449 —
Minimum withholding taxes paid on stock awards (4,089 — — — (4,089
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 2,652 — — — 2,652
Net cash provided/(used) in financing activities (31,36() (32) 43,44¢ (43,449 (31,397
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 61,73¢ 3,80¢ (1,229 — 64,31
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 35,20 1,77: 1,95¢ — 38,93¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 96,94t $ 5571 $ 721 $ — % 103,24t
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2011
(in thousands)

Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 169,41t $ 146,58 $ (634 $ (145,950 $ 169,41t
Earnings in investments in subsidiaries (145,95() — — 145,95( —
Other operating cash flows 184,02 (114,53) 1,951 — 71,44¢
Net cash provided by operating activities 207,49! 32,05: 1,315 — 240,86

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (23,83 (36,319 — — (60,157
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (1,759 — — — (1,759
Investment in subsidiaries and affiliates (23,330) — (23,309 23,33( (23,30%)

Gross proceeds from sale of property, plant anépetgnt

and other assets 961 56¢€ — — 1,52¢
Net cash provided/(used) in investing activities (47,959 (35,75() (23,309 23,33( (83,68))

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on long-term debt (270,001 9) — — (270,009
Borrowing from revolving credit facility 131,00( — — — 131,00(
Payments on revolving credit facility (291,001 — — — (291,001)
Deferred loan costs (399 — — — (399
Issuances of common stock 293,11 — — — 293,11
Contributions from parent — — 23,33( (23,330) —
Minimum withholding taxes paid on stock awards (1,28)) — — — (1,287)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 1,12¢ — — — 1,12¢
Net cash provided/(used) in financing activities (137,439 (9) 23,33( (23,330) (137,44)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 22,09¢ (3,707 1,347 — 19,73«
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,10¢ 5,48( 614 — 19,20:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 35,200 $ 177 195€¢ $ — $ 38,93¢
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DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (coatihu

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended January 1, 2011
(in thousands)

Issuer Guarantors Non-guarantors Eliminations ondlidated

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income 44240 $ 22,59¢ $ (340) $ (22,259 $ 44,24
Earnings in investments in subsidiaries (22,25%) — — 22,25¢ —
Other operating cash flows 46,62¢ (10,310 954 — 37,26
Net cash provided by operating activities 68,60¢ 12,28’ 614 — 81,51(

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (17,649 (7,079 — — (24,720
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (758,18 — — — (758,18

Gross proceeds from sale of property, plant anépetgnt

and other assets 40¢€ 21¢ — — 624
Payments related to routes and other intangibles (1,367 — — — (1,367)
Net cash used in investing activities (776,79) (6,859 — — (783,64Y

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt 550,00( — — — 550,00(
Payments on long-term debt (32,500 (9) — — (32,509
Borrowing from revolving credit facility 160,00( — — — 160,00(
Deferred loan costs (24,020 — — — (24,020
Issuances of common stock 35 — — — 35
Minimum withholding taxes paid on stock awards (585) — — — (585)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 234 — — — 234
Net cash provided/(used) in financing activities 653,16:- (9 — — 653,15!
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (55,019 5,42¢ 614 — (48,980
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 68,12¢ 5€ — — 68,18:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 13,10¢ $ 548 $ 614 — 19,20:
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PART Il

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTA NTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu.

As required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b), the gamy’'s management, including the Chief Executive Offiaed Chief Financi
Officer, conducted an evaluation, as of the endhef period covered by this report, of the effeatess of the design and operation of
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. &med in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢k) under the Exchange Act, disclos
controls and procedures are controls and othereprges of the Company that are designed to ensaténformation required to be disclosec
the Company in the reports it files or submits uritie Exchange Act is recorded, processed, sumethdnd reported, within the time peri
specified in the SEG'rules and forms. Disclosure controls and proeinclude, without limitation, controls and prduees designed to ens
that information required to be disclosed by themPany in the reports it files or submits under thechange Act is accumulated :
communicated to the Compasyfmanagement, including the Chief Executive Offimed Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate t@wllitimely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on management’s evaluation, the Chief Exex@ifficer and Chief Financial Officer concludedtihe Company disclosur
controls and procedures were effective as of tlieogthe period covered by this report.

Internal Control over Financial Reportir.

(&) Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control o¥@mancial Reporting. Management of the Company is responsible
establishing and maintaining adequate internalroboter financial reporting as defined in Rulesai15(f) and 15dt5(f) promulgated under t
Exchange Act. Those rules define internal contradr financial reporting as a process designedrdwigle reasonable assurance regardin
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally accepted accou
principles and includes those policies and procesithat:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that, inoregtde detail, accurately and fairly reflect thensactions and dispositions of
assets of the Company;

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactiongeereded as necessary to permit preparation ofdiahstatements in accorda
with generally accepted accounting principles, #rad receipts and expenditures of the Company @irggbmade only in accordar
with authorizations of management and directothefCompany; and

« Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventioimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, uze disposition of th
Company’s assets that could have a material effethe financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgjext to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehélss Company's internal control over financigborting as oDecember 2¢
2012 . In making this assessment, the Company'sigeament used the criteria established in Interoati©l-Integrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred®@ommission (COSO).

Based on their assessment, management has conthatetie Company’ internal control over financial reporting waseetfve at th
reasonable assurance level as of December 29,.2012

KPMG LLP, the registered public accounting firm ttteudited the Company's financial statements, baged an audit report
management’s assessment of the Company’s intesngiot over financial reporting, which report i€inded herein.
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(b) Attestation Report of the Registered Public AcdognEirm. The attestation report called for by Item 308tbRegulation K is
incorporated herein by reference to Report of ledelent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Inte@antrol Over Financial Reportir
included in Part Il, Item 8, "Financial Statemeaitsl Supplementary Data" of this report.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogin As required by Exchange Act Rule 1Ba(d), the Company's managem
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief &irtial Officer, also conducted an evaluation of @wnpany's internal control over finan
reporting to determine whether any change occudtethg the last fiscal quarter of the period coddng this report that has materially affectec
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Camp’s internal control over financial reporting. Basedthat evaluation there has been no ch
in the Companys internal control over financial reporting duritite last fiscal quarter of the period covered kg tkeport that has materia
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaf, the Company's internal control over financgglorting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART lll

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item with respéstitems 401, 405 and 407 of Regulatiork Svill appear in the sections entitl
"Election of Directors,” "Our ManagemenExecutive Officers and Directors,” "Section 16(anBficial Ownership Reporting Compliance"
"Corporate Governance-Committees of the Board -itAQdmmittee" included in the Compasydefinitive Proxy Statement relating to the 2
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which informati@nimcorporated herein by reference.

The Company has adopted the Darling Internatiomal Code of Business Conduct ("Code of Businessd@atty), which is applicable
all of the Company employees, including its senior financial offssethe Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial ioéfr, Controller, Treasur
and General Counsel. The Company has not gramgadvaivers to the Code of Business Conduct to dateopy of the Compang’ Code ¢
Business Conduct has been posted on the “Inveptotion of our web site, at www.darlingii.comShareholders may request a free copy ¢
Code of Business Conduct from:

Brad Phillips

Darling International Inc.

251 O’Connor Ridge Blvd, Suite 300
Irving, Texas 75038

Phone: 972-717-0300

Fax: 972-717-1588

Email: bphillips@darlingii.com

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item will appearthe sections entitled "Executive Compensatio@@rpensation Committee Rep«
and "Corporate Governance - Compensation Comniittedocks and Insider Participation" included e tCompanys definitive Proxy Stateme

relating to the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholdevkich information is incorporated herein by refece.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item with resptcttem 201(d) of Regulation S-K appears in Itewf Ehis report.

The information required by this Item with respecttem 403 of Regulation B-will appear in the section entitled "Security Cavshif
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” inetlish the Compang’ definitive Proxy Statement relating to the 20Ir3hBal Meeting ¢
Stockholders, which information is incorporateddueiby reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSA CTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item will appearthe sections entitled "Transactions with Reld®edsons, Promoters and Cer
Control Persons," "Corporate Governance — CodBusfiness Conduct" and "Corporate Governantedependent Directors" included in
Company's definitive Proxy Statement relating 82013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which infation is incorporated herein by referer
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item will appearthe section entitled "Ratification of Selectidimdependent Registered Public

Accountant” included in the Company’s definitiveRy Statement relating to the 2013 Annual Meetifi§tockholders, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) The following consolidated financial statemeauts included in Item 8.

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimap on Consolidated Financial
Statements 57
Report of Independent Reqistered Public Accourfimap on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting 58
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011 59
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Three years ended December 29, 2012 60
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Three years ended December 29, 2012 61
Consolidated Statements of Stockhold&mguity -
Three years ended December 29, 2012 62
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flews
Three years ended December 29, 2012 63
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 64

All other schedules are omitted since the requinéofrmation is not present or is not present in ams sufficient to require submission of
schedule, or because the information requiredcisidted in the consolidated financial statementsrauids thereto.
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(3) Exhibits

Exhibit No.

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

10.1*

10.2

10.3

10.4

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Mz 9, 2010, by and among Darling International, IDG
Acquisition Corp., Griffin Industries, Inc. and RabA. Griffin, in his capacity as the Shareholders
Representative (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Compa@urrent Report on Form 8-K filed November 9, @01
and incorporated herein by reference).

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of tr@pany, as amended (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the @omg’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed May 2328nd incorporated herein by reference).

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certtoaf Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exh&P to
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed Me2¢ 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Compaled(és Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Repart
Form 8-K filed December 12, 2008 and incorporatexkim by reference).

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (filed akiBik4.1 to the Company’s Registration StatemenForm
S-1 filed May 27, 1994 and incorporated hereindfgnence).

Certificate of Designation, Preference anchRi@f Series A Preferred Stock (filed as Exhib2 # the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filey 23, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

Indenture, dated as of December 17, 2010ntdyaenong Darling International Inc., Darling NatdhL C,
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trusteedfds Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report o
Form 8-K filed December 20, 2010 and incorporatexkim by reference).

Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 10,2y and among Griffin Industries, Inc., Craigtem
Division, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Associatias,trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Companyisrént
Report on Form 8-K filed December 20, 2010 andiipomted herein by reference).

Form of Senior Indenture for Debt SecuritieBarling International Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4t8 the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 fledember 17, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Subordinated Indenture for Debt Sei@srof Darling International Inc. (filed as ExHili.4 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 fledember 17, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Form of Indemnification Agreement (filed Bshibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statetws Form
S-1 filed on May 27, 1994, and incorporated hebgimeference).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Decerhbe2010, by and among Darling International Itite
guarantors listed in Schedule 1 thereto, and JdPgdh Securities LLC,, as representative of thersdv
initial purchasers named therein (filed as ExHil6it4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8kdfi
December 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by nedeje

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as akebDwer 17, 2010, by and among Darling Internatiomaland
each of the stockholders named therein (filed dsti#x10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on F8HIR
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirelisrence).

Rollover Agreement, dated as of Novembe0202by and among Darling International Inc., darta
investors named therein and Robert A. Griffin, is ¢apacity as the Investors’ Representative (filed
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report onrk &K filed November 9, 2010 and incorporated trerei
by reference).
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10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16 *

10.17 *

10.18 *

10.19*

10.20 *

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 110,20y and among, Darling International Inc., teders
party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Adstrative Agent, Bank of Montreal, as Syndication
Agent, and PNC Bank, N.A. and Goldman Sachs Barnk, &S Documentation Agents (filed as Exhibit 1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filegicBmber 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference).

First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dlateof March 25, 2011, among Darling Internatidnel, as
borrower, the subsidiaries of the borrower pargreio, the lending institutions party thereto aRtldrgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (filedaghibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report omio
8-K filed March 28, 2011 and incorporated hereirréfgrence).

Security Agreement, dated as of Decembe2@10), by and among Darling International Inc., its
subsidiaries signatory thereto and any other sidsgisvho may become a party thereto and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (filedeadibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report onnfro
8-K filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hebgineference).

Guaranty Agreement, dated as of Decembe2A), by Griffin Industries, Inc., Darling NationalC and
Craig Protein Division, Inc (filed as Exhibit 1&@the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
December 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by nedeje

Limited Liability Company Agreement, datedohganuary 21, 2011, by and among Diamond GreerdDi
Holdings LLC, Darling Green Energy LLC and Diamoilternative Energy, LLC. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed dam21, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of Mag@®L1, by and between Darling International IBéagmond
Green Diesel LLC and Diamond Alternative Energy(L{filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed June 1, 2011 and incorfeatdnerein by reference).

Raw Material Supply Agreement, dated as ay B, 2011, by and between Diamond Green Dies€l LL
and Darling International Inc. (filed as Exhibit idthe Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-€xfil
August 11, 2011 and incorporated herein by refeenc

Leases, dated July 1, 1996, between the @wyrgnd the City and County of San Francisco (flecsuant
to temporary hardship exemption under cover of FSE)

Lease, dated November 24, 2003, betweetinQdnternational Inc. and the Port of Tacoma fibes
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on FA®rK filed March 29, 2004, and incorporated herein
by reference).

Ground Lease, dated as of December 17, D@ldhd between Martom Properties, LLC and Griffin
Industries, Inc. (Butler, Kentucky) (filed as Exhib0.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8léd
December 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by nedede

Ground Lease, dated as of December 17, D@ldnd between Martom Properties, LLC and Griffin
Industries, Inc. (Henderson, Kentucky) (filed asibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on F8rK
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirelisrence).

1994 Employee Flexible Stock Option Pléled as Exhibit 2 to the Company’s Revised Defu@tProxy
Statement filed on April 20, 2001, and incorpordtedein by reference).

Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plaleqd as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registnat&tatement
on Form S-1/A filed on June 5, 2002, and incorpatdterein by reference).

Darling International Inc. 2004 Omnibuséntive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compangurrent
Report on Form 8-K filed May 11, 2005, and incogied herein by reference).

Amendment to Darling International Inc. Z00mnibus Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1he
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Janu22y2007 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Statement on Form S-8 filed May 31, 2012 andriperated herein by reference).

Page 110




10.21 *

10.22*

10.23*

10.24 *

10.25*

10.26 *

10.27 *

10.28 *

10.29*

10.30 *

10.31*

10.32*

10.33*

10.34 *

10.35*

10.36 *

10.37 *

Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee Long-Term Incentive Program Policy Staten{éied
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current ReporForm 8-K filed June 22, 2005, and incorporated inere
by reference).

Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee Executive Compensation Program Policy Btate
adopted January 15, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.81&0Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Jagu
21, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee Amended and Restated Executive Compensation
Program Policy Statement adopted January 8, 2@&@ €s Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Répor
on Form 8-K filed January 14, 2010 and incorpordtectin by reference).

Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee 2011 Amended and Restated Executive Coratiens
Program Policy Statement adopted February 3, 2lgdl &s Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Répo
on Form 8-K filed February 9, 2011 and incorpordietkin by reference).

Integration Success Incentive Award Pfdaed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Répo Form
8-K filed March 15, 2006 and incorporated hereirréfgrence).

2010 Special Incentive Program (filed akiBit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on F& filed
November 17, 2010 and incorporated herein by retee

Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock AavRlan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s @at
Report on Form 8-K filed March 15, 2006 and incogted herein by reference).

Amendment No. 1 to Non-Employee DirectesRicted Stock Award Plan, effective as of Jand#ry2009
(filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Bepn Form & filed January 21, 2009 and incorpora
herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Non-Employee DireRtstricted Stock Award Plan, (filed as Exhibitllth the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Februa8y 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

Notice of Amendment to Grants and Awariged as of October 10, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 168.the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Octob@r 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreendeed as of January 1, 2009, between Darlingriateamal
Inc. and Randall C. Stuewe (filed as Exhibit 1@.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 21, 2009, and incorporated herein by netede

Employment Agreement, dated as of Deceribe2010, by and among Darling International I@riffin
Industries, Inc. and Robert A. Griffin (filed asHilit 10.9 to the Company’s Current Report on F8rK
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirefgrence).

Employment Agreement, dated as of DeceribeR010, by and among Darling International I@riffin
Industries, Inc. and Martin W. Griffin (filed as kikit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on F8r
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirefgrence).

Form of Senior Executive Termination BetseAgreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compar@urrent
Report on Form 8-K filed November 29, 2007 and ipooated herein by reference).

Form of Addendum to Senior Executive Teraion Benefits Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2He
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Decemtizr2008 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Senior Executive ifation Benefits Agreement dated, as of Januar289,
between Darling International Inc. and John O. M(ised as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s CurrenpBe:
on Form 8-K filed January 21, 2009 and incorpordttectin by reference).

First Addendum to Amended and RestatedoB&xecutive Termination Benefits Agreement deasaf
December 8, 2009 by and between Darling Internatibre. and John O. Muse (filed as Exhibit 10.4h®
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed December 14. 2009 and incorporated hergingfierence)
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10.38 *

10.39*

10.40*

10.41*

10.42 *

10.43

14

21

23

31.1

31.2

32

101

Second Addendum to Amended and RestateibiIexecutive Termination Benefits Agreement daiewf
December 8, 2010 by and between Darling Internatibre. and John O. Muse (filed as Exhibit 10.5h®
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Deceniti&r2010 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Addendum to Senior Executive Teraion Benefits Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.4he
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Decembi®r2010 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Senior Executive Termination BetsefA\greement between Darling International Inal &olin
Stevenson (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companyisrént Report on Form 8-K filed July 6, 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Separation and Consulting Agreement d&etber 26, 2009, between Darling International &amd Mark
A. Myers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’sramt Report on Form 8-K filed October 29, 2009 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Indemnification Agreement betwdarling International Inc. and its directors aneéextive
officers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’sr&mt Report on Form 8-K filed February 25, 2008] a
incorporated herein by reference).

Underwriting Agreement, dated as of Jan@@n2011, by and among Darling International Ittee, selling
stockholders signatory thereto and Goldman, SacB® &as representative of the several underwriters
named in Schedule 1 thereto (filed as Exhibit 16.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 28, 2011 and incorporated herein by refejen

Darling International Inc. Code of Business Quut applicable to all employees, including seeigcutive
officers (filed as Exhibit 14 to the Company’s Gant Report on Form 8-K filed February 25, 2008, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed hetbyvi
Consent of KPMG LLP (filed herewith).

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) ateRL5d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41 28
Randall C. Stuewe, the Chief Executive Officertef Company (filed herewith).

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) ateRL5d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of4,@8 John
O. Muse, the Chief Financial Officer of the Compdfiled herewith).

Written Statement of Chief Executive Officeda@hief Financial Officer furnished pursuant to 88t 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Sectig50) (filed herewith).

Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 40Redulation S-T: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheetsf as
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011; (ii) Auleted Statements of Operations for the yearsende
December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and Janu@611; (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the years ended Decen$h@022, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011,
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Bgidt the years ended December 29, 2012, Decerniher 3
2011 and January 1, 2011; (v) Consolidated StatenmérCash Flows for the years ended December 29,
2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011; @@dNto the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Exhibits are available upon request from the Cmpany.

Management contract or compensatory plar@angement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Act of 1934, the Registrant thaly caused this report to be signec
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly aiigkd.

DARLING INTERNATIONAL INC.

By: /sl Randall C. Stuewe
Randall C. Stuewe
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 27, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on bel
of the registrant and in the capacities and orddtes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Randall C. Stuewe Chairman of the Boaxtl an February 27, 2013
Randall C. Stuewe Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Colin Stevenson Executive Vice President — February 27, 2013
Colin Stevenson Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/sl O. Thomas Albrecht Director February 27, 2013
O. Thomas Albrecht

/s/ D. Eugene Ewing Director February 27, 2013
D. Eugene Ewing

/sl Charles Macaluso Director February 27, 2013
Charles Macaluso

/s/ John D. March Director February 27, 2013
John D. March

/sl Michael Rescoe Director February 27, 2013
Michael Rescoe

/sl Michael Urbut Director February 27, 2013
Michael Urbut
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS



2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Mz 9, 2010, by and among Darling International,IDG
Acquisition Corp., Griffin Industries, Inc. and RabA. Griffin, in his capacity as the Shareholders
Representative (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Compa@urrent Report on Form 8-K filed November 9, @01
and incorporated herein by reference).

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of tr@pany, as amended (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the @omg’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed May 2328nd incorporated herein by reference).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certtoaf Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exh&P to
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed Me2¢ 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Compatad(éis Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Repart
Form 8-K filed December 12, 2008 and incorporatexkim by reference).

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (filed akiBix 4.1 to the Company’s Registration StatemenEForm
S-1 filed May 27, 1994 and incorporated hereindfgnence).

4.2 Certificate of Designation, Preference anchRi@f Series A Preferred Stock (filed as Exhib2 # the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filey 23, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).

4.3 Indenture, dated as of December 17, 2010ntdyaenong Darling International Inc., Darling NatdhL C,
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trusteedfds Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report o
Form 8-K filed December 20, 2010 and incorporatexkim by reference).

4.4 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 110, 2§ and among Griffin Industries, Inc., Craigtem
Division, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Associatias,trustee (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Companyisrént
Report on Form 8-K filed December 20, 2010 andiipomated herein by reference).

4.5 Form of Senior Indenture for Debt SecuritieBarling International Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4t8 the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 flegtember 17, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference).

4.6 Form of Subordinated Indenture for Debt Sei@srof Darling International Inc. (filed as ExHili.4 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 fledember 17, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.1 * Form of Indemnification Agreement (filed Bshibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statetws Form
S-1 filed on May 27, 1994, and incorporated hebgimeference).

10.2 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Decerhbe2010, by and among Darling International Itite
guarantors listed in Schedule 1 thereto, and JdPgdh Securities LLC,, as representative of thersdv
initial purchasers named therein (filed as ExHiloi4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8l&dfi
December 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by nedeje

10.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as aebwer 17, 2010, by and among Darling Internatitmaland
each of the stockholders named therein (filed dsti#x10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on F8HIN
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirefgrence).

10.4 Rollover Agreement, dated as of Novembe0202by and among Darling International Inc., darta
investors named therein and Robert A. Griffin, is ¢apacity as the Investors’ Representative (filed
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report onfk &K filed November 9, 2010 and incorporated trerei
by reference).

10.5 Credit Agreement, dated as of December 110,20y and among, Darling International Inc., teders
party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Adstrative Agent, Bank of Montreal, as Syndication
Agent, and PNC Bank, N.A. and Goldman Sachs Bank, &S Documentation Agents (filed as Exhibit 1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K fileecBmber 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by
reference).
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First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dlateof March 25, 2011, among Darling Internatidnel, as
borrower, the subsidiaries of the borrower pargreio, the lending institutions party thereto aRifdrgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (filedaghibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report omio
8-K filed March 28, 2011 and incorporated hereirréfgrence).

Security Agreement, dated as of Decembe210), by and among Darling International Inc., its
subsidiaries signatory thereto and any other sidygidvho may become a party thereto and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (filedeaghibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report onnfro
8-K filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated helpgineference).

Guaranty Agreement, dated as of Decembe21A, by Griffin Industries, Inc., Darling NationalC and
Craig Protein Division, Inc (filed as Exhibit 1a@the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
December 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by nedede

Limited Liability Company Agreement, datedofidanuary 21, 2011, by and among Diamond GreeseDi
Holdings LLC, Darling Green Energy LLC and Diamohiternative Energy, LLC. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed &ag21, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of Mag@®L1, by and between Darling International IB¢éamond
Green Diesel LLC and Diamond Alternative Energy(L{filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed June 1, 2011 and incorfsatdonerein by reference).

Raw Material Supply Agreement, dated as ay 8L, 2011, by and between Diamond Green Dies€l LL
and Darling International Inc. (filed as Exhibit tthe Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-€xfil
August 11, 2011 and incorporated herein by refexenc

Leases, dated July 1, 1996, between the @ayrgnd the City and County of San Francisco (fledsuant
to temporary hardship exemption under cover of FSE)

Lease, dated November 24, 2003, betweeimBdnternational Inc. and the Port of Tacoma (fites
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on FA®AK filed March 29, 2004, and incorporated herein
by reference).

Ground Lease, dated as of December 17, 291dhd between Martom Properties, LLC and Griffin
Industries, Inc. (Butler, Kentucky) (filed as Exhib0.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8léd
December 20, 2010 and incorporated herein by nedede

Ground Lease, dated as of December 17, 291dhd between Martom Properties, LLC and Griffin
Industries, Inc. (Henderson, Kentucky) (filed asibi 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on F8riK
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirefgrence).

1994 Employee Flexible Stock Option Pliled as Exhibit 2 to the Company’s Revised Defu@tProxy
Statement filed on April 20, 2001, and incorpordtedein by reference).

Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plfileqd as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registnat&tatement
on Form S-1/A filed on June 5, 2002, and incorpaatdterein by reference).

Darling International Inc. 2004 Omnibuséntive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compangurrent
Report on Form 8-K filed May 11, 2005, and incogied herein by reference).

Amendment to Darling International Inc. Z00mnibus Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1he
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Janu22y2007 and incorporated herein by reference).

Darling International Inc. 2012 Omnibuséntive Plan (filed as Exhibit 99 to the Company&gRtration
Statement on Form S-8 filed May 31, 2012 and inoaged herein by reference).

Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee Long-Term Incentive Program Policy Statentied
as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current ReporForm 8-K filed June 22, 2005, and incorporated inere
by reference).
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10.22 * Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee Executive Compensation Program Policy State
adopted January 15, 2009 (filed as Exhibit 10.81&0Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Jagyu
21, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.23 * Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee Amended and Restated Executive Compensation
Program Policy Statement adopted January 8, 2@&d és Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Répor
on Form 8-K filed January 14, 2010 and incorpordtectin by reference).

10.24 * Darling International Inc. Compensatiom@nittee 2011 Amended and Restated Executive Coratiens
Program Policy Statement adopted February 3, 228l &s Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Répo
on Form 8-K filed February 9, 2011 and incorpordietkin by reference).

10.25* Integration Success Incentive Award Pfdad as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Répo Form
8-K filed March 15, 2006 and incorporated hereirréfgrence).

10.26 * 2010 Special Incentive Program (filed akikit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on F&kK filed
November 17, 2010 and incorporated herein by retee

10.27 * Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock AgvRlan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s @uat
Report on Form 8-K filed March 15, 2006 and incogted herein by reference).

10.28 * Amendment No. 1 to Non-Employee DirectesRicted Stock Award Plan, effective as of Jand#ry2009
(filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Bepn Form & filed January 21, 2009 and incorpora
herein by reference).

10.29 * Amended and Restated Non-Employee DirdRemtricted Stock Award Plan, (filed as Exhibitllt the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Februa8y 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.30 * Notice of Amendment to Grants and Awadiged as of October 10, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 16.the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Octob@r 2006 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.31* Amended and Restated Employment Agreendamed as of January 1, 2009, between Darlingriatemal
Inc. and Randall C. Stuewe (filed as Exhibit 1@.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 21, 2009, and incorporated herein by neéeje

10.32 * Employment Agreement, dated as of Deceribe2010, by and among Darling International I@riffin
Industries, Inc. and Robert A. Griffin (filed asHilit 10.9 to the Company’s Current Report on F8rK
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirefgrence).

10.33 * Employment Agreement, dated as of Deceribe2010, by and among Darling International I@riffin
Industries, Inc. and Martin W. Griffin (filed as Bikit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on F8rK
filed December 20, 2010 and incorporated hereirefgrence).

10.34 * Form of Senior Executive Termination BetseAgreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Compar@urrent
Report on Form 8-K filed November 29, 2007 and ipooated herein by reference).

10.35* Form of Addendum to Senior Executive Teraion Benefits Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.2tHe
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Decemtizr2008 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.36 * Amended and Restated Senior Executive ifation Benefits Agreement dated, as of Januar289,
between Darling International Inc. and John O. M(ised as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s CurrenpBe:
on Form 8-K filed January 21, 2009 and incorpordtectin by reference).

10.37 * First Addendum to Amended and RestatedoB&xecutive Termination Benefits Agreement deasf
December 8, 2009 by and between Darling Internatibre. and John O. Muse (filed as Exhibit 10.4h®
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Decenib&r2009 and incorporated herein by reference).

10.38 * Second Addendum to Amended and RestateibiIexecutive Termination Benefits Agreement daewf
December 8, 2010 by and between Darling Internatibre. and John O. Muse (filed as Exhibit 10.5h®
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K filed December 13. 2010 and incorporated hergineference)
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Form of Addendum to Senior Executive Teraion Benefits Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.4the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed Decembi®r2010 and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Senior Executive Termination BetseAgreement between Darling International Ina &olin
Stevenson (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companyisrént Report on Form 8-K filed July 6, 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Separation and Consulting Agreement d&etber 26, 2009, between Darling International &amd Mark
A. Myers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srat Report on Form 8-K filed October 29, 2009 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Indemnification Agreement betwd&arling International Inc. and its directors aneéextive
officers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’srfemt Report on Form 8-K filed February 25, 2008] a
incorporated herein by reference).

Underwriting Agreement, dated as of Jan@ar2011, by and among Darling International Ittee, selling
stockholders signatory thereto and Goldman, SacB® &as representative of the several underwriters
named in Schedule 1 thereto (filed as Exhibit 16.the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 28, 2011 and incorporated herein by refejen

Darling International Inc. Code of Business @uaut applicable to all employees, including seeixecutive
officers (filed as Exhibit 14 to the Company’s Gant Report on Form 8-K filed February 25, 2008, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed hetbyvi
Consent of KPMG LLP (filed herewith).

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) ateRL5d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41 @3
Randall C. Stuewe, the Chief Executive Officertef Company (filed herewith).

Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) ateRL5d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of4198 John
O. Muse, the Chief Financial Officer of the Compdfiled herewith).

Written Statement of Chief Executive Officedahief Financial Officer furnished pursuant to t8at 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. Sectig50) (filed herewith).

Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 40Redulation S-T: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheetsf as
December 29, 2012 and December 31, 2011; (ii) Auleted Statements of Operations for the yearsende
December 29, 2012, December 31, 2011 and Janu@611; (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the years ended Decenth@022, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011;
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Bgidt the years ended December 29, 2012, Deceriher 3
2011 and January 1, 2011; (v) Consolidated StatenwérCash Flows for the years ended December 29,
2012, December 31, 2011 and January 1, 2011; @@dNto the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Exhibits are available upon request from the Cmpany.

Management contract or compensatory plar@angement.
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EXHIBIT 21

Darling International Inc.

List of Significant Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The following are the significant subsidiaries adrling International Inc. and the states in whicéytare
organized.

Name Where Organized
Griffin Industries LLC Kentucky

Craig Protein Division, Inc. Georgia

Darling National LLC Delaware

Darling Green Energy LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Darling International Inc.

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrélggstration statements on Form S-3 (No.-388668), Form S-4 (No. 33831484), and For
S-8 (Nos. 333-125875, 333-181786, 33-9986898366) of Darling International Inc. of our repodated February 27, 2013 with respect tc
consolidated balance sheets of Darling Internatibma as of December 29, 2012 and December 31,281d the related consolidated staternr
of operations, comprehensive income, stockhol@epsity, and cash flows, for each of the years énttineeyear period ended December 29, 2
and the effectiveness of internal control overiiitial reporting as of December 29, 2012, which repappear in the December 29, 2012 ar
report on Form 16K of Darling International Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 27, 2013



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Randall C. Stuewe, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornKil@f Darling International Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact orténstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuncgtainder which such statements were made, naandisig with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtifie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintaginiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéiav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preggh

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control ovearitial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanre with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and presénthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controtsprocedures, as of the end of the period covsrékis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repo& fas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportingdan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent e@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of directanspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize a&pait financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisattifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2013

/s/ Randall C. Stuewe

Randall C. Stuewe
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Colin Stevenson, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornK1@k Darling International Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact orténgtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtainder which such statements were made, naandisig with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemamd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, angtifie periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrare responsible for establishing and maintainiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@))%nd internal control over financial reportirg @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant anddiav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proesgdar caused such disclosure controls and proegdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregah

(b) Designed such internal control over finanoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveariirial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanore with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsatisclosure controls and procedures and presénthis report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conttotsprocedures, as of the end of the period covsréhis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt's internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisital quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportingdan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(spdrhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@uaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetanminmittee of the registrant's board of direct@nrspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal oboirer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the tegig's ability to record, process, summarize a&mwrt financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inve$ management or other employees who have aisattifole in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2013

/s/ Colin Stevenson

Colin Stevenson
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Iy International Inc. (the “Company”) on Form KOfor the period ending December 29, 2012
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), the undergigfandall C. Stuewe, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and Colin Stevenson, ChiafRcial Officer of the Company, each hereby desifpursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350, as
adopted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-Oxlep#2002 (the “Act”), that:

1. The Report fully congdiwith the requirements of Section 13(a) or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contdnin the Report fairly presents, in all materedpects, the financial condition and results ofafpens
of the Company.

This certification is being furnished sglébr purposes of compliance with the Act.

/s/ Randall C. Stuewe /s/ Colin Stevenson
Randall C. Stuewe Colin Stevenson
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial QGiféir

Date: February 27, 2013 Date: February 132




